THESIS

Paleozoic palynostratigraphy and vegetational changes in the South Kitakami Belt of Northeast Japan

Ahmed Maher

Graduate School of Science and Technology, Education Division Department of Environment and Energy System Shizuoka University, Japan March 2024

Abstract

The study of Paleozoic (538.8–251.9 Ma; Ma: million years ago) microfloras in Eastern Asia is uncomplete and it only restricted to some definite regions. In Japan, only a very few attempts were done to study its Paleozoic micro- and macrofloras. This is mainly due to the complexity of the Paleozoic geology in Japan and the unresolved problematic origin of its terranes. Palynology is considered as a valuable tool to investigate Paleozoic sediments and rocks, especially in areas which have been subjected to high tectonic activity, making it hard to find and study plant macrofossils. As a result, there is an obvious lack of understanding about the Paleozoic terrestrial floras of Japan. This thesis aims to introduce the first comprehensive paleopalynological study on Paleozoic sediments and rocks from various regions of Japan, corresponding to the period of establishment of the oldest terrestrial ecosystems on Earth. The results are based on the study on four areas in Japan, from which were collected more than one hundred rock samples distributed in different tectonic belts. In particular, I focused on Silurian (443.8–419.2 Ma) to Permian (298.9–251.9 Ma) rocks of the South Kitakami Belt in Northeast Japan, where a variety of fossils are reported, together with unstudied Paleozoic plant materials. Part of the material obtained was unfortunately of high thermal maturity and highly coalfield (black and opaque) because of the highly tectonic activity, making very difficult to study, thus identification was chiefly based on SEM imaging. I will present here my results based on the obtained from best-preserved material, and propose a first outline for Paleozoic palynostratigraphy of Japan.

In the South Kitakami Belt, I obtained tabular remains and sporomorph types from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation, providing the first discovery of terrestrialization in Japan. The Devonian (419.2–358.9 Ma) Nakazato Formation yielded some cryptospores and diverse spores, tabular remains, and fragments of vascular tissues indicating the expansion into the hinterland of herbaceous plants including rhyniophytes, zosterophyllophytes, and lycophytes. The first representatives of pteridosperms and progymnosperms were obtained from the Carboniferous (358.9–298.9 Ma) Hikoroichi Formation. Monilophyte spores and pteridosperm pollen then dominate assemblages from the Permian Kanokura Formation, along with occasional conifer pollen, aligning with microfloras reported from the Cathaysian realm. This dictates that studied formations of the South Kitakami Belt, which were inferred from marine invertebrate fossils, developed near the South China block (Northeast Gondwana) during the Paleozoic.

Aim of the thesis

The current study aims at understanding the status and nature of Paleozoic micro- and macrofloras in Japan, focusing in the three areas, i.e., the South Kitakami Terrane in Northeast Honshu, the Hida-Gaien Terrane in central Honshu, and the Kurosegawa Terrane in Kyushu and western Shikoku, where are reported Paleozoic fossil-bearing sediments. I discuss the past location of Japan during the Paleozoic and propose a reconstruction of its paleovegetation and paleoecosystems.

The general concluding points and remarks of this thesis are as follows:

- I obtained the oldest plant microremains of Japan from the Silurian sediments of the Kawauchi Formation of the South Kitakami Belt, most probably belonging to algal parent plants.
- 2. The first reliable terrestrial plant fossils were obtained from the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the South Kitakami Belt, represented by rich assemblages of miospores, associated with abundant plant fragments including masses of conducting cells, tabular remains and cuticles. The palynological assemblage consists of two species of cryptospores and 14 species of trilete spores, suggesting an Early Devonian (Pragian-Emsian) age, confirming it represents the oldest terrestrial flora recorded from Japan. Miospores permit to propose for the first time a reconstruction of a paleovegetation dominated by rhyniophytes and zosterophyllophytes, along with trimerophytes. Furthermore, the composition of the miospore assemblage indicates proximity of the South Kitakami sediments with the South China block during the Early Devonian.
- Studied samples from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation and Permian Kanokura Formation of the South Kitakami Belt revealed some sporomorphs and probable plant fragments, including pteridosperm and conifer pollen.
- 4. Samples from the Hida-Gaien Belt of central Honshu were carbonized but moderately well preserved. However they were very poor in both number and diversity.
- 5. I could not obtain reliable palynomorph from samples from the Kurosegawa Belt in southwest Japan.
- 6. This first attempt of Paleozoic palynological study on various areas of Japan revealed plant microfossils from two of the three studied areas (i.e., the South Kitakami and

Hida-Gaien belts). Microfossils were mostly highly coalified; however, SEM imaging permitted their identification. These results are very promising for further palynological studies on Paleozoic sediments of Japan.

Contents

Abstract
Aim of the thesis4
General introduction: Geography, climate, and floras during the Paleozoic period
Chapter I: Paleozoic geological and paleobotanical context11
I.1. Formation of Japan11
I.2. Evolution of Japan during the Paleozoic12
I.3. Previous Paleozoic paleobotanical studies in Japan13
Chapter II: Geology of outcrops studied15
II.1. South Kitakami Belt15
II.1.1. Kawauchi Formation
II.1.2. Nakazato Formation
II.1.3. Hikoroichi Formation
II.1.4. Kanokura Formation
II.2. Hida Gaien Belt19
II.2.1. Fukuji Formation
II.3. Kurosegawa Belt20
II.3.1. Okanaru Group
II.3.2. Naidaijin Formation
II.4. Methods for the palynological analysis
Chapter III: Results
III.1. South Kitakami Belt23
III.1.1. Kawauchi Formation
III.1.2. Nakazato Formation
III.1.3. Hikoroichi Formation
III.1.4. Kanokura Formation
III.2. Hida Gaien Belt

III.2.1. Fukuji Formation
III.3. Description of palynomorphs
Chapter IV: Discussion40
IV.1. Paleozoic palynostratigraphy40
IV.1.1. Silurian: Kawauchi Formation
IV.1.2. Lower Devonian: Nakazato Formation
IV.1.3. Lower Devonian: Fukuji Formation
IV.1.4. Carboniferous: Hikoroichi Formation
IV.1.5. Permian: Kanokura Formation
IV.2. Paleovegetational changes during the Mesozoic47
IV. 3. Paleophytogeographic significance of the results for the past location of
Japan47
Conclusions
Acknowledgements
References
List of Figures
List of Tables
List of Plates
List of Appendix

General introduction:

Geography, climate and floral evolution during the Paleozoic period

Ecophysiological strategies indicating the early terrestrialization process occurred during the Middle Ordovician (470.0-458.4 Ma; Figure 1), based on evidence from cryptospores, i.e., miospore obligated tetrads, with supposed affinities to the hepatics and mosses, reflecting nonvascular vegetation. The Silurian period (443.8–419.2 Ma; Figure 1) witnessed the early stages for the colonization of land (Melchin et al., 2020). The first trilete spores appear during the early Silurian (Gray, 1985; Strother and Foster, 2021). Then, late Silurian to Early Devonian (419.2–393.3 Ma; Figure 1) is considered to be a key-period for understanding the process of terrestrialization and early diversification of embryophytes, and one of the most exciting periods in land plant history (Richardson, 1996; Fürst-Jansen et al., 2020) (Figure 2). Four major phases in the evolution of land plant have been recognized during the Paleozoic (Figure 1): an Eotracheophytic flora was dominated by basal eutracheophytes and rhyniophytoids from the Silurian to Early Devonian (Lochkovian), followed by an early Eophytic Flora dominated by zosterophylls in the Early Devonian, a transitional late Eophytic Flora dominated by lycopsids and cladoxylopsids from the Middle Devonian (393.3-382.7 Ma; Figure 1) to earliest Carboniferous, and a Palaeophytic Flora dominated by the first seed plants in the Late Devonian (382.7–372.2 Ma; Figure 1) to earliest Carboniferous (Capel et al., 2021).

Plants rapidly adapted to terrestrial conditions, and the Early Devonian in particular witnessed major innovations in plants with the birth of the first terrestrial ecosystems (Kenrick and Crane, 1997; Edwards and Richardson, 2004). The Lochkovian was characterized by an extinction of primitive rhyniophytes towards a proliferation and diversification of ecologically and physiologically better adapted forms of the zosterophylls and lycophytes, with in particular an increase in plant size and complexity of branching (e.g., Lang, 1937; Fanning *et al.*, 1992; Edwards *et al.*, 2014), and a diversification and increased production of spores (e.g., Traverse, 2007; Morris and Edwards, 2014). They will permit the formation of soil and later appearance of the first trees, noted from the late Emsian (Cladoxylopsida) to early Givetian (progymnosperms) in the Spitzbergen, Norway (Schweitzer, 1999), resulting in the rise and expansion of forests from the Middle Devonian, with a worldwide distribution (Gensel, 2021; Capel *et al.*, 2022).

Then, the Carboniferous (coal age) (358.9–298.9 Ma; Figure 1) is marked by cold temperate and humid climatic conditions, leading to a wide development of coal swamps related to

lycopods, ferns, pteridosperms, *Cordaites*, and sphenopsids (Phillips *et al.*, 1974; Césari and Gutiérrez, 2000). This period is particularly characterized by the appearance of the tree habit of lycopsids, bearing secondary xylem and phloem, and periderm as a major support tissue; lycopsids also developed differentiated gas-diffusion system associated with appendages and lateral branches as well as leaf cushions, and megaspore-sporangial dispersal units (Phillips and DiMichele, 1992). Lycopsids plants might have reached a peak during the Carboniferous because their habit changed from herbaceous to arborescent (Thomas, 1978; Balme, 1995). Then, conifer *Cordaites* became dominant by the late Pennsylvanian (Late Carboniferous) (Jasper *et al.*, 2010).

During the Permian (298.9–251.9 Ma; Figure 1), the supercontinent Pangea completed its assembly and moved northwards (Figure 3). Climate became warmer with seasonally dry to probable xeric conditions in tropical Pangaea during early Permian (van Hoof et al., 2013; Agnihotri et al., 2017; Wagner et al., 2019). The Permian period is marked by a distinctive level of floral differentiation, caused by the separation of the Laurasia, Gondwana and other continents (Utting and Piasecki, 1995). An "Angara Flora" containing herbaceous sphenophytes and conifer *Cordaites* is distributed from the Urals to Siberia and the Pacific; an "Euramerica flora" dominated by lycopsids extends from the U.S.A and eastern Canada to western Europe; a "Cathaysia flora" characterized by arborescent lycopods, sphenophytes, and Gigantopteris is recognized in China, Korea, Japan, Vietnam, Laos, Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia, and northern Saudi Arabia; a "Gondwana flora", dominated by Glossopteris, is reported from South America, Africa, Madagascar, southern Tibet, New Guinea, Australia, and Antarctica (Ziegler, 1990; Utting and Piasecki, 1995; Bernardi et al., 2017) (Figure 4). At this period, Asia is considered as a composite continent formed by accretion of crustal blocks; contemporaneous Japan was supposed to be located near the Equator and then separated from the Asian continent (McElhinny et al., 1981) (Figure 3). Permian was marked by a great ice age and ended with the Earth's greatest extinction (Henderson et al., 2020).

Mudrock was preserved in alluvium and increased during the Paleozoic, incorporating these land plants (McMahon *et al.*, 2023). Despite several previous palynological studies dealt on Paleozoic material worldwide, some regions and periods were more extensively studied than others, and recent works pointed out that there existed a bias of sampling in the palaeobotanical record (Capel *et al.*, 2021), as is the case for Japan, and Southeast Asia as recently shown in Vietnam (Legrand *et al.*, 2021).

Focusing on the critical period of the early stages when plants colonized emerged continents, this thesis aims to contribute to fill this gap by studying unexplored areas for palynological studies of Japan. In the following chapters, I propose a reconstruction of the first terrestrial ecosystems which appeared on the lands of Proto Japan. The microfossil assemblages are also compared to those reported from Laurussia, Gondwana, and the South and North China blocks to infer the origin of their parent plants and get new elements to discuss about the location of Proto Japan during the Paleozoic.

Chapter 1: Paleozoic geological and palaeobotanical context of Japan

The oldest shallow marine sediments known in Japan are from the Ordovician (Isozaki, 2011). Proto-Japan was grown from Paleozoic orogenic components to form a mature arc-trench system. It is hypothesized that regional rifting occurred near the Paleo-Tethys along the eastern margin of Eurasia to form present-day Japanese islands (Isozaki, 2023). The pre-Cenozoic rocks of the Japanese islands, i.e. rocks from Paleozoic to Cretaceous ages, were formed by accretionary complex (Ehiro *et al.*, 2016) (Figure 5). Six major periods clearly represent the geologic setting of Japan, i.e. (1) the Cambrian to Middle Devonian, (2) Late Devonian to Carboniferous, (3) Permian to Middle Triassic, (4) Late Triassic to Early Cretaceous, (5) Late Cretaceous to Paleogene, and (6) Neogene to Quaternary (Wakita *et al.*, 2018).

Thus, the geologic setting of Japan for pre-Mesozoic ages is very complex due to the extensive tectonic activities (Wakita *et al.*, 2018) (Figure 3), as we will see in this chapter.

I.1. Formation of Japan

The accretionary history of Japan is uncertain until the Middle Devonian (Wakita *et al.*, 2018), and older paleogeographic configurations of Japan and eastern Asia have been intensively studied, in continuous works (e.g. Isozaki, 1996, 2019; Maruyama *et al.*, 1997; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Isozaki *et al.*, 2010, 2011; Kasahara *et al.*, 2010; Uno *et al.*, 2011; Cocks and Torsvik, 2013; Wakita, 2013; Wakita *et al.*, 2018; Tanaka *et al.*, 2018), the general view of the position change of Japan during the Paleozoic ages is illustrated in Figure 3.

The geological history of Japan started with the breakup of the Rodinia super continent, at about 750 Ma, and the Paleo-Pacific oceanic plate began to be subducted beneath the continental margin of the South China Block (Wakita, 2013). The previous trails to the understanding of Japan have some conflict and the most accepted scenario was covered by Isozaki *et al.* (2010) and accepted in the paleogeographic work by Cocks and Torsvik (2013) that the Paleozoic rocks of Japan were deposited as accretionary prisms and island arcs of the Cathaysian margin of South China, the complexity of theses accretionary is illustrated in Figure 5. Williams *et al.* (2014) proposed a configuration based on the fossil results that Japan was formed under the marine settings during the Silurian-Devonian ages (Figures 6, 7).

It is hypothesized that the birth of Japan resulted from rifted continental margin of the Yangtze craton (South China) around 750-700 Ma (Maruyama *et al.*, 1997). Japan is thought

to have formed along the eastern continental margin of Asia, in remarkable orogenic belts (Taira, 2001). However, origin of Japan is not clear, and other studies suggested that Japanese Islands might have formed as part of the oceanic plate subduction since about 500 Ma, accelerated when the North and South China blocks separated from Gondwana during the Devonian (Wakita, 2019). The first bed rocks of Japan would have formed as terranes near the margin of Gondwana during the Paleozoic. Consequently, all the Paleozoic rocks of Japan would have deposited as accretionary prisms and island arcs off the Cathaysian margin of South China (Cocks and Trovisk, 2013).

The position of Japan during the early Paleozoic ages was reconstructed based on a tectonic setting (Miller, 1970; Uyeda and Kanamori, 1979; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Isozaki *et al.*, 2010; Yamamoto, 2010; Cocks and Torsvik, 2013; Isozaki, 2019) (Figure 3). The linking between Japan and adjacent Asian mainland was then proposed on the extending process of the Paleozoic belts (Maruyama *et al.*, 1997). Ishikawa *et al.* (2011) proposed a configuration in which the land of Japan was formed as small sills to form an oceanic basin. A marked change occurred when Japan began to be subjected to the subduction of oceanic plates from the paleo-Pacific side of Gondwana (Maruyama *et al.*, 1997). Kasahara *et al.* (2010) proposed that orogenic belts of Japan were born near the South China craton after breakup of the Proterozoic supercontinents Rodinia and Laurentia to represent that Japan was linked to the North and South Chinas before the tectonic separation. Proto-Japan was changed from a passive margin to represent an active Pacific-type margin around 500 Ma and has grown oceanward for *ca.* 500 km with the successive oceanic subduction from the Pacific side (Kasahara *et al.*, 2010).

I.2. Evolution of Japan during the Paleozoic

The Kurosegawa Belt in southwest Japan (Figure 5) is considered as a southern extension of the South Kitakami Belt, forming the South Kitakami – Kurosegawa Arc (Umeda 1996a; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Ehiro, 2000). Cocks and Torsvik (2013) reconstructed an origin of this island arc within the southern hemisphere, with its drifting to northern tropics by the late Ordovician. Palaeomagnetic data obtained from the Kurosegawa Belt indicate paleolatitudes of 5–15° North during the Silurian and Early Devonian (Shibuya *et al.*, 1983). The Silurian–Devonian coral, brachiopod, gastropod and trilobite faunas reported from the South Kitakami Belt show similarities to those from eastern Australia, South China and Central Asia (Hamada, 1959; Minato and Kato, 1977; Kaneko, 1990; Kato, 1990; Zhou & Campbell, 1990; Tazawa and Chen, 2001; Tazawa, 2002; Hua-Zhang and Cook, 2003; De Jong *et al.*, 2006; Williams *et*

al., 2014), which were amalgated in northeastern Gondwana before the opening of the Palaeo-Tethys ocean (Duan *et al.*, 2012). Ages of detrital zircons from the South Kitakami Belt further suggest close relationships with the South China Block until the Middle Devonian (Wakita *et al.*, 2018). The South Kitakami Belt would have formed and developed along the continental margin of northeastern Gondwana (Figure 3), then in an island arc setting nearby the north of the South China block after its break-up from Gondwana and opening of the Palaeo-Tethys Ocean from the Late Devonian (Kawamura and Kawamura, 1989; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Duan *et al.*, 2012; Cocks and Torsvik 2013; Ozawa *et al.*, 2015). Post-Devonian palaeobiogeographic, faunal and floral data still suggest a location of the South Kitakami Belt at or near the eastern margin of South China until the Early Cretaceous (Kimura, 1987, 2000; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Ehiro, 2001).

The continental crust of the Northern part of Japan was proposed to have been subjected to highly thermal tectonism especially for the rocks from the Ordovician to the Devonian ages (Ozawa *et al.*, 2015).

Recently, Suzuki *et al.* (2023) studied detrital zircon U–Pb of the Devonian–Carboniferous strata in the Hida Gaien belt, Southwest Japan, and suggested that these sediments were supplied from NE Gondwana along the western margin of the Paleo-Pacific Ocean.

I.3. Previous Paleozoic palaeobotanical studies in Japan

In Japan, Silurian to Devonian fossil-bearing sediments is mainly distributed in three areas (Figures 5–7): the Hikoroichi and Arisu areas of South Kitakami Terrane in Northeast Japan, the Fukuji area of the Hida Gaien Terrane in central Japan, and the Yokokurayama area of Shikoku and Gionyama area of the Kurosegawa Terrane of Kyushu in Southwest Japan (Kato *et al.*, 1980; Williams *et al.*, 2014; Isozaki, 2019). They yield a rich fauna dominated by corals but also including sponges, stromatoporoids, echinoderms, bryozoans, brachiopods, cephalopods, tentaculitids, bivalves, gastropods, trilobites, ostracods, conodonts, dendroid graptolites and radiolarians (e.g., Kato *et al.*, 1980; Williams *et al.*, 2014).

However, there exists only a few reports on terrestrial plant remains from the Paleozoic of Japan, pioneered by the description by Yabe and Endo (1920) of stems of *Calamites* from Yamaguchi Prefecture in Southwest Japan (Table 1). Oldest plant fossils are represented by macrofossils of *Cyclostigma*, *Leptophloeum* (Protolepidodendrales, Lycophyta) and *Aphyllopteris* (unclassified) from the Upper Devonian Tobigamori (Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan; Tachibana, 1950, 1959) and Naidaijin (Kumamoto Prefecture, Southwest

Japan; Kimura *et al.*, 1986) formations. Carboniferous plant fossils are represented by macrofossils (Asama, 1989) and earliest microfossils (Yang and Tazawa, 2000a) reported only from the Lower Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation, and *Calamites* stems from the Onimaru Series (Endo and Mori, 1969), both outcropping in Iwate Prefecture. Assemblages become more diversified from the Permian, with a series of studies on macrofossils from the lower Permian Rodai (The "Maiya Flora" described from the Miyagi Prefecture; Endo, 1955; Asama, 1956, 1967, 1970, 1981; Ueda, 1963) and Sakamotozawa (The "Setamai Flora" described from the Iwate Prefecture; Asama and Murata, 1974) formations, and the upper Permian Kashiwadaira Formation (The "Takakurayama Flora" described from the Fukushima Prefecture; Yanagisawa, 1967; Asama, 1974) of Northeast Japan; microfossils were further reported from the Permian Tanba Belt (Kyoto Prefecture, central Japan; Takahashi and Yao, 1969) and the middle Permian Kanokura Formation (Iwate Prefecture; Yang and Tazawa, 2000b).

Algal macrofossils were also reported from the Carboniferous of Southwest and central Japan (Konishi, 1956; Endo and Horiguchi, 1957), and from the Permian of Southwest, central, and Northeast Japan (e.g., Konishi, 1952; Horiguchi, 1961; Ueda, 1963; Endo, 1966).

Chapter II: Geological setting and methods

This chapter covers geological setting of areas where I collected samples (Figures 8–12). Areas were selected from their fossiliferous content previously reported in Chapter I. In particular, I focused my study on the South Kitakami Belt as it represents one of the major Paleozoic deposits known in Japan. There, I collected samples from the Silurian into the Permian.

II.1. South Kitakami Belt

The South Kitakami Belt in Northeast Japan (Figures 5, 8) consists of early Paleozoic igneous and metamorphic basement rocks covered by shallow-marine sediments deposited from the late Ordovician to Lower Cretaceous (Umemura and Hara, 1985; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Isozaki *et al.*, 2011; Ehiro *et al.*, 2016). It was originally defined by Shimazu *et al.* (1970) and later by Ehiro and Suzuki (2003) and Ehiro *et al.* (2005). The South Kitakami Belt represents the southern half of the Kitakami Massif and the eastern marginal part of the Abukuma Massif, and it is composed of older basement rocks which are covered with shallow marine from Ordovician to the Lower Cretaceous strata (Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Isozaki *et al.* 2011; Ehiro *et al.*, 2016). The South Kitakami Belt is characterized by Ordovician ultramafic to mafic rocks and shallow marine continental shelf deposits. Silurian and Devonian sediments are mainly outcropping in the Hikoroichi and Arisu areas of Iwate Prefecture. In the Hikoroichi area, they are represented by the Kawauchi, Ohno and Nakazato formations in ascending order.

II.1.1. Kawauchi Formation

In the Hikoroichi region, the Kawauchi Formation (Figure 13) is composed of up to 300 m of limestone and mudstone with basal arkose bed (Suzuki and Minato, 1958). It is regarded to unconformably overlie the Hikami Granite (Murata *et al.*, 1974; Tachibana, 1976), and is unconformably overlain by radiolarian mudstone of the Takainari Formation (Suzuki and Minato, 1958; Tachibana, 1976). The upper Silurian Kawauchi Formation was subjected to several paleontological works on trilobites (Sugiyama, 1941; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1974; Tachibana, 1981), corals, stromatoporoids and brachiopods (Sugiyama, 1940; Kato, 1982), bryozoans (Sakagami, 1970), conodonts (Männik *et al.*, 2018) which permitted to assign the

formation a Wenlock (Sheinwoodian) to mid-Ludlow age (Kobayashi and Hamada, 1976; Männik *et al.*, 2018).

I collected eleven samples for palynological analysis from limestones and dark colored shale of the Kawauchi Formation, at the Kusayamizawa locality (GPS coordinates: 39°06'47"N, 141°40'26"E) assigned to the Wenlock (Sheinwoodian) from its trilobite fauna (Sugiyama, 1941; Tachibana, 1981; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1974) (Figures 11, 13).

II.1.2. Nakazato Formation

The Nakazato Formation (first named "Nakazato Group" by Yabe and Sugiyama, 1937) conformably overlies the Ohno Formation and is probably unconformably overlain by the Tobigamori Formation (Suzuki and Minato, 1958; Kato et al., 1980) (Figure 14). It is estimated to be more than 750 m in thickness, consisting predominantly of volcaniclastic rocks (Minato et al., 1974). The Nakazato Formation yields a rich shallow marine fauna: trilobites (Yabe and Sugiyama, 1937; Sugiyama and Okano, 1941; Sugiyama, 1944; Okubo, 1950, 1951, 1956; Kobayashi, 1957, 1977; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1974, 1977; Minato et al., 1979; Kaneko, 1984, 1985, 1990), corals (Murata, 1972; Minato et al., 1979; Kato et al., 1980; Niko, 2019), brachiopods (Minato and Kato, 1977; Minato et al., 1979; Copper et al., 1982; Tazawa, 1988, 2002; Tazawa and Chen, 2001; Chen and Tazawa, 2003), cephalopods (Niko, 1989), and gastropods (Kase and Nishida, 1986; Hua-Zhang and Cook, 2003). A placoderm fish was also reported by Okura and Masuda (2002). The formation has been divided into four members, i.e., the N1 to N4 members in ascending order (Minato et al., 1979) (Figure 14). The N3 Member, from which samples of the present study were collected, consists of an alternance of sandstone and mudstone. It is the member bearing the richest fossil assemblage, and it is assigned to the Emsian to Givetian (Figure 1) from trilobites (Kobayashi, 1977; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1977; Minato et al. 1979) and radiolarians (Umeda, 1996b), and from correlation by trilobites (Kaneko, 1990; Zhou and Campbell, 1990), gastropods (Pan and Cook, 2003) and brachiopods (Tazawa and Chen, 2001; Tazawa, 2002) with the Emsian Zhusileng and the Eifelian Yikewusu formations of Inner Mongolia, North China. Kaneko (2007) furthermore constrained the trilobite-bearing strata of the N3 Member to the latest Emsian (Lower Devonian) to earliest Eifelian (Middle Devonian).

I collected 22 samples from the Devonian Nakazato Formation (Figures 14, 15) in the Hikoroichi area of the South Kitakami Belt, outcropping along the upper stream of the Higuchizawa river, around 5 km northwest of Ofunato City, Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan

(Higuchizawa locality, GPS coordinates: 39°06'59"N, 141°40'20"E). Pictures to the field trip are illustrated in Figure 16, and detailed position of the collected samples in Figure 15. Brachiopods, corals and bryozoans were observed on the field in many horizons when collecting the samples along with trilobites including *Rhinophacops* suggesting age of the Emsian/Eifelian boundary (Kaneko, 2007).

I also took samples from the Kuronborozawa locality (Figure 11) (GPS coordinates: 39°06'16"N, 141°39'46"E), where trilobite fauna has been described (e.g., Kaneko, 2007), but could not obtain any palynomorph from there. It will thus not be detailed in this thesis.

II.1.3. Hikoroichi Formation

The Hikoroichi Formation was first introduced by Minato and Okubo (1948) as the "Hikoroichi Series". The Hikoroichi Formation is distributed western part of the southern Kitakami Mounains, near the vicinity of Hikoroichi, Ofunato City, Northeast Japan (Okubo, 1951; Sakagami, 1962; Minato *et al.*, 1979). The lithostratigraphy of the Hikoroichi Formation was described by Onuki (1956), and its stratigraphic setting established by Minato (1950). In the Hikoroichi area, the Hikorochi Formation overlies with angular unconformity the Nakazato Formation and is conformably overlain by the Onimaru Formation (Tazawa, 1984) (Figure 17). The Hikoroichi Formation is composed of sandstones with a basal conglomerate and intercalations of shale, acidic to intermediate tuffs and limestone. It is about 560 m in total thickness. A rather thick (40-90 m), greyish green, dacitic to andesitic tuff is developed at the middle horizon, about 250 to 300 m above the base of the formation. A rich fossiliferous content of corals, bryozoans, brachiopods, pelecypods, trilobites, crinoids (e.g., Minato and Kato, 1977; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1980; Tazawa, 1984).

The area studied was greatly covered by vegetation (Figure 18A, B). The Hikoroichi locality (GPS coordinates: 39°06'44"N, 141°39'34"E) where the samples were collected was very consolidated, with rocks very hard (Figure 11). Sampled horizons were rich in corals, brachiopods, bryozoans, with rare trilobites (Figure 18C, D).

II.1.4. Kanokura Formation

The Southern Kitakami Mountains represents the type areas for the Japanese Permian (Choi, 1970). Stratigraphy and fossils of the Kamiyasse area have been widely studied (Tazawa, 1976),

and Permian shallow marine sediments of this area were divided into the Sakamotozawa, Kanokura, and Toyoma formations in ascending order (Tazawa, 1976; Ehiro and Misaki, 2004). The Kanokura Formation rests conformably on the Sakamotozawa Formation.

The Kanokura Formation is about 1,100 m in thickness and divided into four members, i.e., the KN1 Member consisting of shales with layers of sandstone and conglomerate, the KN2 Member consisting of sandstones and limestones, the KN3 Member consisting of limestones with layers of conglomerate, sandstone, and shale, and the KN4 Member consisting of shales with layers of sandstone and limestone, in ascending order (Figure 19). Fusulinoideans, corals, molluscs brachiopods, as well as a microflora have been reported from the Kanokura Formation (e.g., Minato *et al.*, 1978). In particular, the brachiopods (Tazawa and Takaizumi, 1987) and microflora (Yang and Tazawa, 2000b) reported from the KN1 Member of the formation suggest a middle Permian age.

I collected fifteen mudstone samples from the Imo locality (GPS coordinates: 38°59'54"N, 141°31'17"E) of the Kanokura Formation (Figure 11), corresponding to the creek #43 of Misaki and Ehiro (2004). I could observe fusulinid foraminifers including middle Permian index fossil *Monodiexodina matsubaishi*, brachiopods including *Leptodus* sp., trilobites, corals, bryozoans, bivalves, and crinoids from the sampled horizons. Limestones of the outcrop were rich in marine fossils including brachiopods, fusulinid foraminifers and trilobites. I collected samples in the fusulinids-bearing limestone and black mudstone (Figure 20C).

II.1.5. Nishikori Formation

The Nishikori formation, outcropping in the Maiya area of Miyagi Prefecture, Northeast Japan, is regarded to be the equivalent of the fossiliferous Kanokura Formation developed around Kesennuma, Miyagi Prefecture (Ueda, 1963). The Nishikori Formation consists of bedded limestone with intercalations of sandstone and black shale. It is conformably overlain by the Higashifukakaya Formation. The Nishikori Formation yields fusulinaceans, corals, bryozoans, brachiopods and trilobites, and abundant plant fossils belonging to the Cathaysian flora such as *Cathaysiopteris*, *Sphenopteris*, *Odontopteris*, *Pecopteris*, *Taeniopteris* and *Cordaites* (Asama, 1956, 1967). U–Pb dating for detrital zircon of tuffaceous sandstone from the Nishikori Formation indicated 287 and 301 Ma (lower Permian) (Okawa *et al.*, 2013; Li and Takeuchi, 2021).

II.2. Hida Gaien Belt

The Paleozoic-Mesozoic Hida Gaien Belt, which belongs to the Inner Zone of SW Japan (Figure 9), was described by Tsukada *et al.* (2004). It represents one of the three oldest exposure rocks in Japan and is also considered as one of the most structurally complex areas in Japan (Kurihara and Sashida, 2000). It is regarded as a suture zone between the continental mass of the Hida Belt and the middle Paleozoic (Silurian to Carboniferous) oceanic crust of the Mino Belt (Horikoshi, 1972). The Hida Gaien Belt contains moderately metamorphosed Paleozoic and Mesozoic strata consisting of Ordovician mafic to ultramafic rocks, Ordovician to Permian clastic, volcaniclastic and carbonate rocks, 300-400 Ma metamorphic rocks with blueschists, serpentinites and the Mesozoic to Cenozoic covers (Komatsu, 1990; Tazawa, 2004). The continental orogenic recorded in the Hida Gaien Belt was proposed to be of landwards erosion during Pacific (Cordilleran) -type orogenesis (Ehiro *et al.*, 2016).

II.2.1. Fukuji Formation

The Fukuji Formation consists of 75-250 m of limestones with thin beds of dark mudstone (Figure 21), sandstones, and felsic tuff (Adachi and Ezaki, 2007). It unconformably overlies the Yoshiki Formation (Manchuk *et al.*, 2013). Kuwano (1987) divided the Fukuji Formation into five lithological members, i.e., the Lower Shaly Member, Lower Carbonate Member, Middle Shaly Member, Upper Carbonate Member, and Upper Shaly Member. The Middle Shale Member of the formation was suggested to have been deposited in a shallow marine lagoonal setting (Tanaka *et al.*, 2018). The Fukuji Formation is fossiliferous and contains brachiopods, conodonts (Kuwano, 1987), corals (Kamei, 1955; Niko, 2003, 2005, 2006; Tsukada, 2005), gastropods (Kase *et al.*, 1985), cephalopods (Niko, 1990, 1991, 1993, 1996) tentaculids, trilobites (Kobayashi, 1988), ostracods (Kuwano, 1987; Tanaka *et al.*, 2018), leperditicopids (Hamada, 1959; Tanaka *et al.*, 2012), scolecodonts (Vandenbroucke *et al.*, 2019) and a bivalved arthropod (Tanaka *et al.*, 2013). Conodont and ostracod assemblages suggested an Early Devonian (Lochkovian to Emsian) age to the Fukuji Formation (Kuwano, 1987).

Fifteen samples were collected for palynological analysis from the Fukuji Formation, at three localities (Figure 12): the Fukuji Onsen locality (Fossil boardwalk outcrop, GPS coordinates: 36°13'25"N, 137°31'45"E; Mountain trail entrance outcrop, GPS coordinates:

36°13'21"N, 137°31'42"E), the Ichinotani locality (GPS coordinates: 36°13'12"N, 137°31'18"E), and the Hitoegane locality (GPS coordinates: 36°14'27"N, 137°32'14"E). I observed brachiopods, trilobites, corals, and rare plant fragments in collected horizons (Figure 22).

II.3. Kurosegawa Belt

The Kurosegawa Belt expands for over 600 km through southwestern Japan (Figure 10), in southwest Honshu, Shikoku and Kyushu islands. It is distributed in a SW-NE oriented narrow belt extending from the Chichibu Terrane to the north, and the Sanbosan to the South (Hada *et al.*, 1979). It predominantly consists of a serpentinite-matrix mélange, with lesser amounts of mud-matrix mélange (Aitchison *et al.*, 1991). The Middle Paleozoic strata in central Shikoku are represented by the Siluro-Devonian Yokokurayama Group, divided into the Gomi, Fukata, Ichiyama, Joryu, Nakahata and Ochi formations in ascending order (Umeda, 1998). The Kurosegawa Belt in southwest Japan is considered as a southern extension of the South Kitakami Belt, forming the South Kitakami – Kurosegawa Arc (Umeda 1996a; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Ehiro, 2000).

II.3.1. Joryu Formation

The Joryu Formation outcrops at Okanaru, Seiyo City, Ehime Prefecture. It is divided into a lower conglomerate member and upper more heterogeneous member comprising acidic tuff, mudstone, sandstone, and conglomerate (Umeda, 1998). Corals, radiolarians (Kurihara *et al.*, 2009), and trilobite (Kobayashi and Hamada, 1974) are reported. A late Silurian (Přídolí) age was suggested from the radiolarian assemblage (Kurihara *et al.*, 2009).

I made palynological analysis from two samples of the Joryu Formation from the trilobitebearing shale bed, and coral-rich limestone of the Okanaru locality, which were shared by Dr. Rie Hori, Ehime University.

II.3.2. Naidaijin Formation

The Naidaijin Formation was described for its lithological description by Kimura *et al.* (1986). Its type locality is located along the pass of Tenshu Mountain near Tomochi Town, Shimomashiki District, Kumamoto Prefecture, central Kyushu (Saito *et al.*, 2005). The formation is up to 290 m in thickness, and is composed of mudstone, sandstone, conglomerate, and welded tuffs (Miyamoto and Tanimoto, 1993). It conformably overlies the Gionyama Formation (Saito *et al.*, 2005; Ehiro *et al.*, 2016).

The Lower Member of the Naidaijin Formation yields a rich trilobite assemblage (Murata *et al.*, 1997; Kaneko, 2007) which, combined with a radiometric age from detrital zircons (Stocker *et al.*, 2018), indicate a Middle Devonian (Emsian to Givetian) age. The Upper Member of the Naidaijin Formation has been assigned to the Famennian (Late Devonian) by Miyamoto and Tanimoto (1993) for yielding brachiopods (Yanagida *et al.*, 1987) and plant fossil *Leptophloem rhombicum* (Hirata, 1966), and correlation with the Tobigamori Formation of the South Kitakami Belt (Tachibana, 1952), and Rosse Formation of the Hida-Gaien Belt (Tazawa *et al.*, 2000).

Five samples from the brachiopods and *Leptophloem rhombicum*-bearing beds of the Upper Member of the Naidaijin Formation were shared by Dr. Toshifumi Komatsu, Kumamoto University, to check their palynological content.

II.4. Methods for the palynological analysis

Microfossils were extracted following the methods of Legrand et al. (2021). Samples were crushed into small pieces (Figure 23), then immersed in cold 50% hydrofluoric acid for 24 hours, followed by a treatment in hot 36% hydrochloric acid until reaching the boiling point. After sieving, the fraction with a diameter between 10 and 125 μ m was oxidized with 69% nitric acid in a boiling water bath (Figure 23). The organic residue was concentrated by centrifugation and mounted on slides with Canada balsam. Palynomorphs were observed under a differential interference contrast microscope (DM 2500, Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). The position of palynomorphs on the slide was recorded using an England Finder graticule (Pyser Optics, Edenbridge, England). Microfossils for scanning electron microscope (SEM) observation were mounted on aluminum stubs, coated with platinum using a magnetron sputter (JUC-5000, JEOL, Tokyo, Japan), and observed under a SEM (JSM-IT100, JEOL, Tokyo, Japan). Classification of miospores follows the scheme of Sporae dispersae defined by Pflug (1953), Potoni and Kremp (1954, 1955), Potoni (1956, 1958, 1960, 1966, 1970a, b, 1975), and Dettmann (1963). Classification of tubular remains follows the artificial classification proposed by Burgess and Edwards (1991). Samples and residues are housed in the Palynological collections of the Department of Geosciences, Faculty of Science, Shizuoka University, Japan.

Chapter III: Results

Most samples from the South Kitakami Belt were productive and contained spores and plant fragments, excepting the Nishikori Formation, although these were carbonized and often fragmented or deformed due to a low-grade metamorphism. The palynological content obtained from each formation will be explained in this chapter. The palynofacies of the studied rocks from the South Kitakami Belt are illustrated in Figure 24 and Plates I and II..

III.1. South Kitakami Belt

III.1.1. Kawauchi Formation

Microfossils obtained from the Kawauchi Formation were very few and highly coalfield (black and opaque) (Plate I D, F). I could observe some grains with a miospore-like shape under light microscopy (Plates I A, F, II D), but I could not confirm identifications as no grain could be observed under the SEM. These miospore-like grains are triangular with rounded corners, apparently smooth, 42 μ m in diameter, and look like primitive trilete spores.

Rounded palynomorphs without ornamentation appear larger and brown color, 40 μ m in diameter, probably corresponding to acritarchs, were also observed (Plates I C, II A, B). There are numerous rounded palynomorphs with opaque color, 18-20 μ m in diameter were observed in numerous counting (Plate I D).

Several tissues of unknown origin and some tubular remains were obtained, observed with both LM and SEM (Plate I J; Plate II E). The tabular remains are all characterized by a smooth wall without any apparent structure, around 40 to 70 μ m in diameter, some showing a slight curvature some observed with opaque conditions and other single record of brown color.

Singles crystals and framboids of pyrite (Plate II F), as well as small spherules of unknown origin (Plate II C), were also observed. The results of the Silurian are presented in Plates I and II.

III.1.2. Nakazato Formation

All samples from the Nakazato Formation contained spores and plant fragments, although these were carbonized and often fragmented or deformed due to a low-grade metamorphism (Plate III). The dispersed spore assemblages were all very similar in composition among observed

samples. Palynomorphs appeared dark gray to opaque under the light microscope and all species-level identifications were confirmed with SEM observations. Most abundant and wellpreserved palynomorphs were obtained from horizons 2021.12.10–20 and -21 (Table 3). The microfossil assemblage is composed of two marker species of cryptospores and distinctive of 15 species represent trilete spores, associated with abundant plant fragments including mass of conducting cells, tabular remains and cuticles (Plates III, IV). Cryptospores are represented by monads or loosely attached dyads of Laevolancis sp. (Plate IV) and fused permanent dyads (pseudodyads) of Pseudodyadospora petasus Wellman and Richardson (Plate IV). The trilete spore assemblage is dominated in number and diversity by retusoid laevigate spores of cf. Retusotriletes (Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus (Streel) Streel [Plate IV], cf. Retusotriletes spp. [Plate III]), crassitate spores of Ambitisporites (Ambitisporites avitus Hoffmeister [Plates III, IV], Ambitisporites. sp. [Plate IV]), and trilete laevigate spores of Calamospora atava (Plate IV), Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) priddyi (Plate IV). While ornamented spores are not commonly found, they nonetheless display a striking range of diversity. These include apiculate spores of Aneurospora xujiachongensis (Plate III) and Apiculiretusispora plicata (Plates III, IV), granulate spores of *Granulatisporites muninensis* Allen (Plate IV), vertucate spores of Verrucosisporites polygonalis Lanninger (Plate IV), reticulate spores of Dictyotriletes emsiensis (Allen) McGregor (Plate III) and Brochotriletes foveolatus Naumova (Plate IV), conate-baculate spores of Apiculiretusispora sp. (Vigran) Allen (Plate IV), and spores of Dibolisporites showing characteristic compound sculptural projections consisting of baculae, coni and spinae (Dibolisporites cf. echinaceus (Lanninger) McGregor [Plate IV], Dibolisporites sp. [Plate III]).

I counted 158 spores on one slide from horizon 2021.12.10-21 (Figure 15), although the opaque nature of the spores does not permit precise identifications. The count reveals a composition of approximately 63% laevigate spores (possibly assigned to *Retusotriletes*, *Ambitisporites*, *Deltoidospora*, or *Calamospora*), 11% verrucate spores (*Verrucosisporites*), 9% granulate or apiculate spores (*Apiculiretusispora* or *Granulatisporites*), 15% conate/baculate/foveolate spores (*Aneurospora*, *Dictyotriletes*, *Brochotriletes*, *Dibolisporites*, or *Geminospora*), and 2% dyads (*Pseudodyadospora* or *Laevolancis*). Among the numerous plant fragments observed in preparations, we could recognize smooth aseptate tubes of *Laevitubulus tenuis* Burgess and Edwards (Plate III) and a variety of water-conducting cells (Plate III). Wall fragments with numerous minute rounded perforations of various size are widely observed in pro-tracheophytes (Ligrone *et al.*, 2000). On the other hand, tracheids

characterize vascular plants. Tracheids with annular thickenings (Plate V), classified as "Gtype tracheids" (Kenrick and Crane, 1991), are commonly observed in basal tracheophytes such as zosterophyllophytes and lycophytes (Kenrick and Crane, 1991), and known no later than the Lochkovian (Edwards, 2003). Tracheid elements with uniseriate bordered pits (Plates III, V) are observed in some late Early Devonian trimerophytes like *Psilophyton* (Hartman and Banks, 1980). Besides, the investigated samples also yield numerous opaque plant fragments and cuticles of unknown origin. No aquatic palynomorphs were observed. They were possibly destroyed during the fossilization process because of their generally less resistant structure, especially by the low-grade metamorphism as noted above. However, I could observe several scolecodonts (Plate III).

III.1.3. Hikoroichi Formation

Microfossils obtained from the Hikoroichi Formation were few in number and coalfield (dark brown to black colored) but in moderately good preservation state with some grains non fragmented. They were observed using both LM and SEM (Plates VI and VII). The microfossil assemblage, of insecure identification, is composed of trilete spores which may correspond to ?Calamospora sp., Deltoidospora sp., Densosporites sp., *Punctatisporites* sp., ?Verrucosisporites sp., pseudosaccate trilete spore ?Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii, and monolete spore ?Monoletes cf. ellipsoides. Some cuticle fragments of unknown origin, and smooth tubular remains were also observed.

III.1.4. Kanokura Formation

The assemblage is composed of trilete spores poor in number and diversity, but with a good state of preservation, dark brown in color (Plate VIII). I could identify some small rounded punctate spores of *Punctatisporites* sp., triangular granulate spores of *Granulatisporites* sp., rounded triangular vertucate spores of *Vertucosisporites* sp., baculate spores of *Baculatisporites* sp. The pseudosaccate trilete spore *Spelaeotriletes* cf. *owensii* was also observed under the SEM. Some plant fragments were also present and picked for SEM observation.

III.2. Hida Gaien Belt

III.2.1. Fukuji Formation

Microfossils obtained from the Fukuji Formation were few in number and coalfield (dark brown to black colored) but in moderately good preservation state with many grains non fragmented. They were observed using both LM and SEM (Plates XI, XII).

The microfossil assemblage, of insecure identification, is composed of trilete spores of probable *Deltoidospora* sp., *Retusotriletes* cf. *triangulatus* and *Retusotriletes* sp., along with some acritarchs.

Many cristals and framboids of pyrite were observed together with miospores.

III.3. Kurosegawa Belt

I could not obtain any reliable miospore from the Kurosegawa Belt (Joryu and Naidajin formations), but only some wood fragments with tracheids, possibly belonging to *Leptophloem rhombicum* yielded in the same bed, were observed in the palynological preparations. These two formations will not be detailed in the results.

III.4. Description of palynomorphs

Anteturma Cryptosporites (Richardson *et al.*, 1984) Richardson, 1988 emend. Steemans, 2000 Naked cryptospore unfused dyads (true dyads) Genus *Laevolancis* Burgess and Richardson, 1991 *Type species.— Laevolancis divellomedia* (Chibrikova) Burgess and Richardson, 1991

Laevolancis sp.

Plate IV B

Description.— Hilate cryptospore, in monads or loosely attached dyads. Amb circular to subcircular, $21-24 \mu m$ in diameter. An equatorial crassitude $3-4 \mu m$ wide delimits a circular hilum collapsed. Exine laevigate, unfolded.

Occurrence.- Nakazato Formation.

Remarks. —*Laevolancis* and other hilate laevigate cryptospores are reported *in situ* from the latest Silurian and Early Devonian rhyniophytoids sporangia (e.g., Lang, 1937; Fanning *et al.*,

1991; Edwards *et al.*, 1994; Wellman *et al.*, 1998a), as summarized in Steemans and Wellman (2018).

Naked fused cryptospore dyads (pseudodyads) Genus *Pseudodyadospora* Johnson, 1985 *Type species.— Pseudodyadospora laevigata* Johnson, 1985

Pseudodyadospora petasus Wellman and Richardson, 1993 Plate IV A

1993 Pseudodyadospora petasus Wellman and Richardson, p. 168, 169, pl. 2, figs. 1-7.

Occurrence.- Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—This species has worldwide distribution, reported from the Middle Ordovician to Lower Devonian (Abuhmida and Wellman, 2017). Its dyads were reported *in situ* from *Fusitheca fanningiae* Wellman *et al* (1998) for which they proposed rhyniophytoid affinities (Wellman *et al.*, 1998b).

Anteturma Proximegerminantes Potonié, 1970a Turma Triletes Reinsch emend. Dettmann, 1963 Suprasubturma Acavatitriletes Dettmann, 1963 Subturma Azonotriletes Lüber emend. Dettmann, 1963 Infraturma Laevigati (Bennie and Kidston, 1886) Potonié, 1956

Genus *Calamospora* Schopf *et al.*, 1944 *Type species.—Calamospora hartungiana* Schopf *et al.*, 1944

Calamospora atava (Naumova, 1953) McGregor, 1964 Plate IV E

1953 Leiotriletes atavus Naumova, p. 22, 103, pl. 1, fig. 8; pl. 16, fig. 3.
1964 Calamospora atava (Naumova, 1953) McGregor, p. 6, 7, pl. 2, fig. 17.
1964 Phyllothecotriletes microgranulatus Vigran, p. 8, pl. 1, figs. 7, 8.
1971 Leiotriletes insuetus Umnova, p. 135, pl. 2, figs. 1, 2.

Occurrence.— Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—This species is reported worldwide from the Emsian to Frasnian. Spores similar to this species were isolated from Early Devonian specimens of the rhyniophyte *Hostimella globosa* Lang (Lang, 1926), the trymerophytes *Psilophyton princeps* Lang (Lang, 1931; Hueber and Banks, 1967) and *Trimerophyton robustius* Hopping (Hopping, 1956), and the zosterophyllophytes *Sawdonia acanthotheca* P. G. Gensel, H. N. Andrew and W. H. Forbes (Gensel *et al.*, 1975; Gensel, 1980) and *S. ornata* Hueber (McGregor, 1973; Allen, 1980).

?Calamospora sp.

Plate VI C, F

Description.—Amb circular, around 45 μ m in diameter, with small laesurae.

Occurrence.- Hikoroichi Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Calamospora* ranges from the Paleozoic to Cretaceous (Archangelsky and Villar de Seoane, 1994).

Remark.—Calamospora is usually associated with Equisetales (including calamitaceans, Sphenophyllales and Noeggerathiales), and is similar with *in situ* spores observed in Carboniferous *Calamites* and *Sphenophyllum* (Good, 1977).

Genus Deltoidospora Miner, 1935

Type species.— Deltoidospora hallii Miner, 1935

Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) priddyi (Berry, 1937) McGregor, 1973 Plate IV F

1937 Zonales-sporites priddyi Berry, p. 156, fig. 2

1955 Leiotriletes priddyi (Berry, 1937) Potonié and Kremp, p. 38.

1973 Deltoidospora priddyi (Berry, 1937) McGregor, p. 16, pl.1, figs. 6, 7.

Occurrence.- Nakazato Formation.

Remark.—It is distributed widely and ranges from the upper Silurian to Mesozoic (McGregor, 1973). A number of species assigned to *Leiotriletes* are similar to *D. priddyi* (McGregor, 1964,

1973), but they are often distinguished according to their stratigraphic range, i.e., Paleozoic (*Leiotriletes*) or Mesozoic (*Deltoidospora*). We combine them here as suggested by McGregor (1973). Devonian spores of *Leiotriletes* were observed in *Zosterophyllum llanoveranum* Croft and Lang, and are associated with zosterophyllopsids or rhyniopsids (Gensel, 1980; Balme, 1995).

Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) sp. Plate XI A, B

Description.—Trilete spore, triangular, laesurae distinct.

Occurrence.— Fukuji Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Deltoidospora* is distributed widely and ranges from the upper Silurian to Mesozoic (McGregor, 1973).

Remark.—Devonian spores of *Leiotriletes* are associated with zosterophyllopsids or rhyniopsids (Balme, 1995).

?Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) sp.

Plate VI I

Description.— Trilete spore, triangular, laevigate, opaque.

Occurrence.- Hikoroichi Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Deltoidospora* is widely distributed and ranges from the upper Silurian to Mesozoic (McGregor, 1973).

Remark.—Carboniferous Deltoidospora was produced by Filicophytes.

Genus *Punctatisporites* Ibrahim 1933

Type species.— Punctatisporites punctatus Ibrahim 1933

Punctatisporites sp.

Plate VIII A-D

Description.—Spore, amb circular, trilete indistinct.

Occurrence.— Kanokura Formation.

Distribution.—Genus Punctatisporites ranges from the Paleozoic to Neogene.

Remark.—Punctatosporites is associated to Filicophytes, possibly Sphenophyllales (Libertín *et al.*, 2008).

?Punctatisporites sp.

Plate VI G, J

Description.— Spore, triangular, trilete distinct, laesurae not reaching the equator.

Occurrence.— Hikoroichi Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Punctatisporites* ranges from the Silurian to Cenozoic (Menendez and Azcuy, 1969).

Remark.—Punctatosporites is associated to Filicophytes, possibly Sphenophyllales (Libertín *et al.*, 2008).

Infraturma Retusotrileti Streel, 1964 Genus *Retusotriletes* Naumova, 1953 emend. Streel, 1964 *Type species.— Retusotriletes simplex* Naumova, 1953

Retusotriletes cf. *triangulatus* (Streel, 1964) Streel, 1967 Plates IV J, XI H-J

1964 Phyllothecotriletes triangulatus Streel, p. 5, pl. 1, figs. 3–5.
1967 Retusotriletes triangulatus (Streel, 1964) Streel, p. 24.
2006 Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus (Streel, 1964) Streel, 1967, in Wellman, p. 175, pl. 10, figs. i–k.

Occurrence.- Nakazato Formation, Fukuji Formation.

Remarks.—It is widely reported in the Devonian, particularly the Lower-Middle Devonian strata (Breuer and Steemans, 2013). Morphological characteristics of specimens are consistent with those of *Retusotriletes triangulatus*, however their opacity prevents any observation of the typical triangular thickening needed to confirm species. *Retusotriletes triangulatus* is known from the trimerophyte *Psilophyton dawsonii* Banks *et al.* (Banks *et al.*, 1975).

cf. Retusotriletes spp.

Plates III A, B, XI D-F,L

Description.—Trilete microspore. Amb subtriangular to subcircular, 22–39 μ m in diameter. Laesurae straight, extending from 4/5 to full distance to the equator. Exine laevigate, about 1 μ m thick.

Occurrence.- Nakazato Formation, Fukuji Formation.

Remarks.—Most common taxa in the assemblage. cf. *Retusotriletes* spp. show a trilete mark reaching to the equator, longer than that observed in *R*. cf. *triangulatus*.

Infraturma Apiculati (Bennie and Kidston, 1886) Potonié, 1956 Genus *Apiculiretusispora* (Streel, 1964) Streel, 1967 Type species.— *Apiculiretusispora brandtii* Streel, 1964

Apiculiretusispora sp.

Plates III F, IV G

Description.—Microspore with an amb rounded subtriangular, $38-42 \mu m$ in diameter. The laesurae are not observed. Exine densively covered with grana and small coni and spinae, less than 1 μm high.

Remarks.—Spores almost identical to *A. plicata* were found from the rhyniophytes *Cooksonia crassiparietilis* Yurina (McGregor, 1973), *Rhynia gwynne-vaughanii* Kidston and Lang (Bhutta, 1987), the trymerophytes *Pertica dalhousii* Doran *et al.* (Doran *et al.*, 1978), *P. varia* Granoff *et al.* (Granoff *et al.*, 1976), *Psilophyton crenulatum* Doran (Doran, 1980).

Genus Dibolisporites Richardson, 1965

Type species.— Dibolisporites echinaceus (Eisenack, 1944) Richardson, 1965

Dibolisporites cf. *echinaceus* (Eisenack, 1944) Richardson, 1965 Plate IV O, P

1944 Trilites echinaceus Eisenack, p. 113, pl. 2, fig. 5.
1965 Dibolisporites echinaceus (Eisenack) Richardson, p. 568, pl. 89, figs. 5, 6.
1965 Dibolisporites cf. (al. Retusotriletes) gibberosus (Naumova) var. major (Kedo) Richardson, p. 569, pl. 89, figs. 4.
1965 Bullatsporites bullatus Allen, p. 703, pl. 96, figs. 5–7.

Occurrence.— Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—The specimens observed correspond in their morphological characteristics to *Dibolisporites echinaceus*, but are smaller than usually noted for this species; spores with a similar size were reported by Wellman *et al.* (2012) from the Pragian–lower Emsian Xujiachong Formation in South China. This species is reported from the Pragian to Givetian. This genus could be related to Cladoxylopsida (Balme, 1995). *Dibolisporites echinaceus* is also recorded from the Middle Devonian *Calamophyton bicephalum* Leclercq and Andrews (Bonamo and Banks, 1966).

Dibolisporites sp.

Plate III D

Description.—Amb rounded subtriangular to subcircular, 30 µm in diameter. Laesurae are not observed. Surface densely ornamented with compound projections 1 to 2 µm high, consisting in baculae, coni and spinae surmounted by small spinae or pilae.

Occurrence.— Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—*Dibolisporites* sp. shows typical ornamentation of this genus, and is distinct from *D*. cf. *echinaceus* by its smaller size. However, it is left in open nomenclature from the opacity of specimens.

Genus *Granulatisporites* Ibrahim, 1933 emend. Potonié and Kremp, 1954 *Type species.— Granulatisporites granulatus* Ibrahim, 1933

Granulatisporites cf. muninensis Allen, 1965 Plate IV H

1965 Granulatisporites muninensis Allen, p. 693, 694, pl. 94, figs. 3-5.

Occurrence.— Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—It has a worldwide distribution, widely reported from the upper Silurian to middle Tournaisian (Lower Carboniferous) (Askew and Wellman, 2019). This spore has been reported from the rhyniophyte *Rhynia gwynnevaughanii* (Bhutta, 1987).

Granulatisporites sp.

Plate VIII G, L

Description.-Spore, amb triangular, granulate ornamentation.

Occurrence.— Kanokura Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Granulatisporites* ranges from the Silurian to early Eocene *Remark.*—*Granulatisporites* is associated to Filicophytes (Balme, 1995).

Subinfraturma Verrucati Dybová and Jachowicz, 1957 Genus *Verrucosisporites* Ibrahim, 1933 emend. Smith, 1971 *Type species.— Verrucosisporites verrucosus* (Ibrahim, 1932) Ibrahim, 1933

Verrucosisporites cf. polygonalis Lanninger, 1968 Plate IV I

1954 Spore type H6' in Radforth and McGregor, p. 613, pl. 2, fig. 51.

1954 Spore type H7' in Radforth and McGregor, p. 613, pl. 2, fig. 52.

1966 Verrucosisporites sp., McGregor and Owens, pl. 1, fig. 34, pl. 2, figs. 20, 22, 34.

1968 Verrucosisporites polygonalis Lanninger, p. 128, pl. 22, fig. 19.

1973 *Verrucosisporites ?polygonalis* Lanninger, 1968, in McGregor, p. 37, 38, pl. 4, figs. 16, 17, 19, 25, 26.

1976 Verrucosisporites platyverruca Lu and Ouyang, p. 30, 31, pl. 3, figs. 1, 2.

Occurrence.- Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—It is mostly reported worldwidely from the Pragian–Emsian, while there are a few records from the Eifelian in the Middle East (e.g., Breuer and Steemans, 2013). This genus is possibly born by Lycopsida (Balme, 1995).

Verrucosisporites sp.

Plate VIII E, F, I

Description.—Spore triangular, ornamented with verrucae/grana. Trilete mark indistinct. *Occurrence*.— Kanokura Formation. *Distribution.*—Genus *Verrucosisporites* ranges from the Devonian to Miocene (Barreda and Palamarczuk, 2000).

Remark.—Verrucosisporites is associated to Filicophytes (Balme, 1995).

?Verrucosisporites sp.

Plate VI H

Description.— Spore triangular, opaque.

Occurrence.- Hikoroichi Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Verrucosisporites* ranges from the Devonian to Miocene (Barreda and Palamarczuk, 2000).

Remark.—Carboniferous *Verrucosisporites* was possibly produced by Lycopsida (Balme, 1995).

Subinfraturma Baculati Dybová and Jachowics, 1957

Genus Baculatisporites Pflug and Thomson in Thomson and Pflug, 1953

Type species.—Baculatisporites primarius (Wolff, 1934) Pflug and Thomson in Thomson and Pflug, 1953

Baculatisporites sp.

Plate VIII H, J-K

Description.—Trilete spore triangular, baculate.

Occurrence.— Kanokura Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Baculatisporites* ranges from the Paleozoic to Pleistocene (Mautino and Anzótegui, 2000).

Remark.—Baculatisporites is associated to Filicophytes (Balme, 1995)

Infraturma Murornati Potonié and Kremp, 1954 Genus *Brochotriletes* Naumova, 1939 ex Ishchenko, 1952 *Type species.—Brochotriletes magnus* Ishchenko, 1952

Brochotriletes cf. foveolatus Naumova, 1953

Plate IV M

1953 Brochotriletes foveolatus var. minor Naumova, p. 58, pl. 7, fig. 23.

1953 Brochotriletes foveolatus var. major Naumova, p. 59, pl. 7, fig. 24.

1961 Perforosporites robustus Scott and Rouse (pars), p. 978.

1963 Brochotriletes perforatus (Luber) Naumova, in Shepeleva, fig. 9.

1967 Brochotriletes sp. in McGregor, pl. 1, fig. 3.

1967 Perforosporites robustus Scott and Rouse, in Beju, pl. 1, figs. 23, 24.

1967 Perforosporites sp. 1 in Beju, pl. 1, figs. 25, 26.

1973 Brochotriletes? foveolatus Naumova, in McGregor, p. 39, pl. 4, figs. 20, 23.

Occurrence.- Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—It is reported worldwidely from the Lower to Upper Devonian (McGregor, 1973).

Genus *Dictyotriletes* Naumova, 1953 ex Ishchenko, 1952

Type species. — Dictyotriletes bireticulatus (Ibrahim, 1933) Potonié and Kremp, 1955

Dictyotriletes sp.

Plate III E

1965 Reticulatisporites emsiensis Allen, p. 705, pl. 97, figs. 9–11.
1967 ?Dictyotriletes sp. in Richardson, pl. 4, fig. c.
1973 Dictyotriletes emsiensis (Allen, 1965) McGregor, p. 42, 43, pl. 5, fig. 15.
1976 Dictyotriletes cf. D. emsiensis (Allen, 1965) McGregor, 1973, in McGregor and Camfield, p. 21, pl. 3, figs. 5, 6.

Description.—Microspore with an amb rounded, 45 μ m in diameter. Exine doubly reticulate, with large polygonal lumina 8–12 μ m, each again finely reticulate with lumina 1 μ m. Muri slightly projecting at the amb, appearing as coni around 1.5 μ m high.

Occurrence.— Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—The genus may be related to Cladoxylopsida plants (Balme, 1995).

Subturma Zonotriletes Waltz, 1935 (in Luber and Waltz, 1938) Infraturma Crassiti Bhardwaj and Venkatachala, 1961 Genus *Ambitisporites* Hoffmeister, 1959

Type species.—Ambitisporites avitus Hoffmeister, 1959

Ambitisporites avitus Hoffmeister, 1959 Plate III C

1959 Ambitisporites avitus Hoffmeister, p. 332, pl. 1, figs. 1-8.

1969 *Ambitisporites* cf. *avitus* Hoffmeister, 1959, in Richardson and Lister, p. 228, pl. 40, fig.2.

Occurrence.— Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—It has a worldwide distribution and is widely reported from the lower Silurian to Lower Devonian (Emsian) (Breuer and Steemans, 2013). The genus is suggested to have an affinity to Rhyniales (Balme, 1995). *Ambitisporites* spores have been observed *in situ* from sporangia of *Cooksonia pertoni* Lang (Fanning *et al.*, 1988).

Genus *Aneurospora* (Streel, 1964) Streel, 1967 *Type species.—Aneurospora goensis* Streel, 1964

Aneurospora spp.

Plates III G, IV C, K, L, N

Occurrence.— Nakazato Formation.

Description.—Small trilete microspore. Amb rounded triangular, 20 to 40 μ m in diameter. The laesurae are straight, narrow, extending to an equatorial crassitude around 1 μ m wide. Exine smooth to finely punctate on the proximal face, and densely ornamented with grana and coni 1.5–2 μ m high on the distal face.

Remarks.—The genus could be shed by plants of Rhyniopsida (Rhyniales), Lycopsida (Protolepidodendrales) or Progymnospermopsida (Aneurophytales) (Balme, 1995). Spores of *Asteroxylon mackiei* Kidston and Lang (Drepanophycales, Lycopsida) were compared to *Aneurospora goensis* (Allen, 1980). *Aneurospora goensis* is identical with spores recovered in large numbers from *Aneurophyton germanicum* Kräusel and Weyland of the Aneurophytales (Streel, 1964).

Genus Densosporites Berry emend. Butterworth et al. in Staplin and Jansonius, 1964

Type species.—Densosporites covensis Berry 1937

?Densosporites sp. Plate VI D

Description.—Spore triangular, apparently thickly zonate.

Occurrence.- Hikoroichi Formation.

Distribution.—Genus Densosporites ranges from the Paleozoic to Pleistocene.

Remark.—Densosporites is associated with herbaceous lycopods (Chaloner, 1958).

Genus *Spelaeotriletes* Neves and Owens 1966 *Type species.—Spelaeotriletes triangulus* Neves and Owens 1966

Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii Loboziak and Alpern, 1978 Plate VI B

cf. Spelaeotriletes owensi Loboziak and Alpern 1978, pp. 60-61, pl. 2, figs. 15-17.

Description.—Spore circular, pseudosaccate.

Occurrence.— Hikoroichi Formation, Kanokura Formation.

Distribution.—Genus *Spelaeotriletes* is reported from the Visean-Serpukhovian of Northern Gondwanan (Playford *et al.*, 2008). *Spelaeotriletes owensii* ranges from the early to late Carboniferous (Clayton, 1995).

Remark.—Spelaeotriletes is of exclusively Gondwanan occurrence (Playford *et al.*, 2001). The lack of *in situ* material prevents sure parent plant affiliation, but Playford *et al.* (2001) suggested affiliation to the true ferns (Pterophyta) and/or the lycopods (Lycopodophyta).

Anteturma Variegerminantes Pot a Turma Plicates (Naumova, 1937, 1939) Potoni , 1960 Subturma Monocolpates (Monosulcites) et Zonocolpates Potoni , 1970b Genus *Monoletes* (Ibrahim, 1933) Schopf *et al.*, 1944 *Type species.—Monoletes ovatus* Schopf, 1935

?Monoletes cf. ellipsoides (Ibrahim, 1933) Schopf, 1938

Plates VI E, VII A, B

1932 Sporonites ellipsoides Ibrahim in R. Potoni , p. 449, pl. 17, fig. 29.

1932 Sporonites ellipsoides Ibrahim, Neues Jahrbuch f. Min. etc. Beil. Bd. 67, p. 449, pi. 17, fig. 29.

1933 Monoletes, Laevgatosporites ellipsoides Ibrahim, Diss. Tech. Hochschule I Berlin, p. 40, pi. 4, fig. 29.

1934 *Monoletes, Punctatosporites ellipsoides* Ibrahim, Loose Arbeiten aus dem Inst. f. Palaobot. etc., Bd. 4, p. 158, pi. 7, fig. 35.

1934 *Monoletes Laevigatosporites*; *Sporites ellipsoides* Ibrahim, Wicher Arbeiten aus dem Inst. f. Palaobot. etc., Bd. 4, p. 185.

1938 Monoletes ellipsoides (Ibrahim 1932) Schopf, p. 45, pl. 1, fig. 14, pl. 6, figs. 5, 6.

1954 Schopfipollenites ellipsoides (Ibrahim 1932) R. Potoni and Kremp, p. 180.

Description.—Monolete spore with an amb elongate.

Occurrence.- Hikoroichi Formation.

Distribution.—Genus Monoletes is worldwidely distributed from the Upper Mississippian to Pennsylvanian (Playford *et al.*, 2008). *Monoletes ellipsoides* is restricted to the Pennsylvanian (Millay *et al.*, 1978).

Remark.—Monoletes is associated to Pteridospermales. Taylor (1978) suggested this pollen grains may represent a type transitional between wind and insect pollination.

Anteturma Trichomiformis Burgess and Edwards, 1991 Turma Tubiformis Burgess and Edwards, 1991 Infraturma Laevimurali Burgess and Edwards, 1991 Genus *Laevitubulus* Burgess and Edwards, 1991

Type species.—Laevitubulus tenuis Burgess and Edwards, 1991

Laevitubulus tenuis Burgess and Edwards, 1991

Plates I G-I, III I

1978 "unbranched tubular elements", Pratt et al., p. 131, pl. 2, figs 5-8.

1982 "black tube" in Edwards, p. 242, fig. 78.

1983 "larger smooth tubes" in Edwards et al., p. 30.
1984 "tube type 4" in Al-Ameri, p. 384, pl. 2, fig. 7.

1991 Laevitubulus tenuis Burgess and Edwards, p. 47, figs. 1-4.

Occurrence.— Kawauchi Formation, Nakazato Formation.

Remarks.—It is worldwidely reported, generally abundant throughout the Silurian and Devonian (Burgess and Edwards, 1991; Edwards and Wellman, 1996). Its affinity is unknown.

Chapter IV: Discussion

IV.1. Paleozoic palynostratigraphy

The study of the Paleozoic palynology is considered the most effective tool for the rocks remarked with complex lithology. The studied outcrops of the Paleozoic rocks of Northeast Japan bear promising taxa to construct a palynostratigraphy for the Paleozoic (Figure 27). In this study, the results from the Silurian are represented by rare record of triangular palynomorphs associated with tabular remains. The results from the Devonian to Permian contain palynomorphs and some plant fragments. In particular, the studied samples from the Devonian outcrops are promising because I collected theses samples from rocks rich in marine fossils, permitting to construct a detailed palynostratigraphy for the Devonian of the Nakazato Formation.

IV.1.1. Silurian: Kawauchi Formation

The outcrop studied at the Kusayamizawa locality of the Kawauchi Formation, was assigned to the Wenlock (Sheinwoodian) from its trilobite fauna (Sugiyama, 1941; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1974; Tachibana, 1981).

Composition

The Kawauchi Formation contains a rich fossil fauna comprising trilobites, corals, stromatoporoids, brachiopods, bryozoans, conodonts (Sugiyama, 1940, 1941; Tachibana, 1967, 1981; Sakagami, 1970; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1974; Kato, 1982; Männik *et al.*, 2018). However, no plant report exists.

Paleovegetation

Laevigate trilete miospore-like grains were observed. Trilete spores appear from the Middle Ordovician as the product of dissociation of tetrads, first confined to southern Gondwana (Steemans *et al.*, 2009) before spreading worldwide. By the Late Silurian (Wenlock), trilete spores proliferate in terms of abundance, taxonomic diversity, and morphological disparity, presumably as the vascular plants underwent an adaptive radiation (e.g., Gray, 1985, 1991; Richardson, 1996).

Among microfossils, I also obtained acritarchs and tubular remains of *Laevitubulus tenuis* (Plate III). Acritarchs represent the resting cysts of phytoplanktonic algal protists. They are the dominant component of marine organic-walled microfossils in the Palaeozoic (Vecoli and Le Hérissé, 2004). Oldest *Laevitubulus* in uppermost Ordovician sedimentary deposits of the Anglo-Welsh Basin and is generally abundant in Silurian to Devonian deposits (Burgess and Edwards, 1991).

The presence of some framboid pyrite crystals is most probably representative of anoxic conditions during the sedimentation.

IV.1.2. Lower Devonian: Nakazato Formation

Samples were collected at the Higuchizawa locality outcropping along the upper stream of the Higuchizawa river in the Hikoroichi area, from the N3 Member of the Nakazato Formation. The outcrop yielded rich trilobite fauna including *Rhinophacops* suggesting latest Emsian to earliest Eifelian age (Kaneko, 2007).

The Nakazato Formation yields a rich shallow marine fauna, but no plant report exists so far. The palynoassemblage in this study thus represents the oldest terrestrial flora in Japan.

Age

I attempted an age confirmation from the palynoassemblage recovered. Lower to Middle Devonian dispersed spore assemblages are mostly documented from Laurussia and Gondwana. For Laurussia, standard miospore biozonations were first established by Richardson and McGregor (1986) for the Silurian and Devonian (Lochkovian) of the Old Red Sandstone deposits of the Welsh Borderland, UK, and adjacent basins. Then, the standard was emended and completed by Burgess and Richardson (1991) and Richardson (1992, 1996). Streel *et al.* (1987) and Steemans (1989) also modified Richardson and McGregor's (1986) biozones for the Devonian of the Ardenne-Rhenish regions and Western Europe. For northwestern Gondwana, standard miospore biozonations were established by Breuer and Steemans (2013) in Saudi Arabia and Libya.

The palynomorph assemblage from the N3 Member of the Nakazato Formation is characterized by the presence of biform sculpture (*Dibolisporites*) and abundance of *Apiculiretusispora*, *Dictyotriletes emsiensis* and *Verrucosisporites polygonalis*. Therefore, it is most similar to the *V. polygonalis-D. emsiensis* Assemblage Zone (*sensu* Richardson and McGregor, 1986) or PoW Oppel Zone (*sensu* Streel *et al.*, 1987 and Steemans, 1989) which

correspond to the Pragian to early Emsian (Figure 25). Consistent with this comparison, I could not obtain *Emphanisporites*, *Camarazonosporites* and *Acinosporites* from the N3 Member, which characterize younger zones. In the scheme of Breuer and Steemans (2013), the Nakazato assemblage could be compared to the upper Pragian *Synorisporites papillensis-Cymbohilates baqaensis* assemblage zone in the dominance of simple laevigate spores, presence of cryptospores, and absence of any monolete spores which are characteristic of the younger zone (Figure 25).

In Asia, Gao (1981) and Tian et al. (2011) proposed spore assemblage zones based on palynofloras reported in South China (Figure 25). However, it should be noted that ages of these zones were determined by palynostratigraphical comparisons to the Laurussian and Gondwanan standards because other biostratigraphically informative fossils are absent in these regions. Gao (1981) defined eight Devonian spore assemblage zones for South China. Among them, the Nakazato assemblage could be compared to the Assemblage zone IV mainly known from Longhuashan (= Xujiachong) Formation of Yunnan for which the late Pragian to early Emsian age was inferred, because our assemblage contains Retusotriletes triangulatus, Ap. plicata, V. sp., and D. cf. emsiensis. Tian et al. (2011) further defined spore assemblage zones for the upper Silurian to Lower Devonian of southwest China from the first appearance datum (FAD) of characteristic species in this region, such as Ambitisporites dilutus, Synorisporites verrucatus and Verrucosisporites polygonalis. The Nakazato assemblage closely resembles the youngest assemblage in this scheme, i.e., the V. polygonalis-Dibolisporites wetteldorfensis assemblage zone. This zone was recognized within a horizon of the Xujiachong Formation, which is assigned to the Pragian stage. It is most characterized by the first appearance datums (FADs) of *Dib. eifeliensis* and *V. polygonalis*.

Cryptospores appeared in the Ordovician-Silurian and have a long stratigraphic range (Steemans *et al.*, 2009). Cryptospore dyads, loose dyads and hilate monads nearly vanished in the upper Lochkovian, although there are a few reports from the Middle and Upper Devonian strata (Richardson, 2007). The two species (*Pseudodyadospora petasus* and *Laevolancis* sp.) yielded in the Nakazato Formation are recorded in the Silurian to Lower Devonian deposits of many regions over Laurussia and Gondwana. In post-Lochkovian strata, *P. petasus* is reported from the Pragian-early Emsian of South China (Wellman *et al.*, 2012), while *Laevolancis* species from the Emsian of Laurussia (Russia: Chibrikova, 1959; England: Molyneux, 2006), northwestern Gondwana (Saudi Arabia: Molyneux and Al-Hajiri, 2000; Spain: Wellman *et al.*, 2023), and early Frasnian of northeastern Gondwana (Australia: Balme, 1988). These data imply that the Nakazato assemblage is not younger than the early Frasnian. The trilete spores

obtained from the Nakazato Formartion (*Leiotriletes*), *Apiculiretusispora, Granulatisporites* were reported worldwide from the upper Silurian and Lower Devonian (McGregor, 1973; Breuer and Steemans, 2013). Besides, ornamented species greatly diversified during the Devonian, in particular, a proliferation of foveolate (*Brochotriletes*) and regularly verrucate (*Verrucosisporites*) species (Richardson and McGregor, 1986; Richardson, 1996). The appearance of species characterized by biform elements (*Dibolisporites*) happened no later than the late Lochkovian, as well expressed in the fact that following species are used as stratigraphic markers of the post-Lochkovian age: *D. emsiensis* (Lochkovian to Eifelian), *V. polygonalis* (Pragian to Eifelian), *B. foveolatus* (Lochkovian to Frasnian) and *Calamospora atava* (Emsian to Frasnian) (Richardson and McGregor, 1986; Streel *et al.*, 1987; Breuer and Steemans, 2013).

In summary, spore zonations established in Gondwana and Laurussia indicate a late Pragian age for the Nakazato assemblage, while those in Laurussia suggest a Pragian–early Emsian age. The Nakazato assemblage shares similarities with assemblages in China, which are considered to be Pragian in age (Tian *et al.*, 2011) or late Pragian-Emsian in age (Gao, 1981) (indicated by grey lines in Figure 25). On the other hand, based on trilobite and radiolarian assemblages, the N3 Member of the Nakazato Formation has been assigned an Emsian to Givetian age (Kobayashi, 1977; Kobayashi and Hamada, 1977; Minato *et al.*, 1979; Umeda, 1996b). Trilobite biostratigraphy further narrows down the age of the N3 Member to the latest Emsian–earliest Eifelian (Kaneko, 2007). Therefore, my palynostratigraphic results suggest a slightly older age than those based on marine index fossils. This may imply that relict vegetations from older Laurussia and Gondwana thrived in the Nakazato Formation area. It is also possible to hypothesize that there was a time lag in the appearance and disappearance of indices between the Nakazato area and other regions, although exact position is not clarified where the Nakazato Formation was deposited (Figure 25).

Vegetation

The assemblage recovered from the Nakazato Formation is dominated by cryptospores (*Laevolancis* sp., *Pseudodyadospora petasus*) and spores (*Ambitisporites avitus*, *Granulatisporites* cf. *muninensis*) with possible affinities to the rhyniophytes (Bhutta, 1987; Fanning *et al.*, 1991; Balme, 1995; Wellman *et al.*, 1998a, b). Although exact affinity should be clarified in future, there are many palynomorphs which could be shed from either of the rhyniophytes, zosterophyllophytes, trimerophytes (*Calamospora atava, Deltoidospora*)

(*Leiotriletes*) priddyi, R. cf. triangulatus, cf. R. spp., Apiculiretusispora cf. plicata) (McGregor, 1973; Allen, 1980; Gensel, 1980; Bhutta, 1987; Balme, 1995). Verrucosisporites cf. polygonalis and Aneurospora spp. may have been produced by lycopsids (Allen, 1980; Balme, 1995). Cladoxylopsida are also represented by Dibolisporites cf. echinaceus, D. sp. and Dictyotriletes sp. (Balme, 1995). Water-conducting structures recovered from the Nakazato Formation probably belonged to rhyniophytes and/or zosterophyllophytes, lycophytes, trimerophytes.

These data reflect a vegetation consisting of only herbaceous plants which possibly lived in proximity to freshwater areas. The abundance of laevigate spores represented by *Retusotriletes* suggests that the zosterophyllophytes constituted major vegetation in the backland of the Nakazato Formation because *Zosterophyllum yunnanicum* Hsü (1966) and *Huia gracilis* Wang and Hao (2001) bear *R*. sp. and *R*. cf. *triangulatus* (Hsü, 1966; Cai and Schweitzer, 1983; Hao, 1985; Wang and Hao, 2001; Wang *et al.*, 2002; Wang, 2007), respectively. Their spores should have been easily transported by the rivers towards the Palaeo-Tethys Ocean and trapped in shallow marine sediments of the South Kitakami Belt. The abundance of spores and plant fragments found in the Nakazato assemblage could suggest that the entrapment site was located near the living habitats of these plants (Figure 26).

IV.1.3. Lower Devonian: Fukuji Formation

The Fukuji Formation is considered Lower Devonian (Lochkovian to Emsian) from its conodont and ostracod assemblages (Kuwano, 1987).

Composition and age

Only a poor assemblage could obtain from preparations, composed of miospores tentatively identified as *Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes)* sp., *Retusotriletes* cf. *triangulatus* and *Retusotriletes* sp. All taxa were also observed in the Nakazato Formation, that we assigned to a similar Pragian to Emsian age.

The frequent presence of the pyrite crystals with high number of framboid pyrite may indicate natural combustion before sedimentation.

Vegetation

Genera *Deltoidospora* (*Leiotriletes*) and *Retusotriletes* are usually associated with rhyniophytes, zosterophyllophytes or trimerophytes during the Devonian. They reflect a vegetation consisting of herbaceous plants distributed along freshwater areas.

IV.1.4. Lower Carboniferous: Hikoroichi Formation

Fossil fauna suggested a late Visean (early Carboniferous) age for the formation (Tazawa, 1984).

Composition

The palynological study of samples from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation revealed an assemblage composed by six spore and one pollen taxa. No aquatic element was observed.

A comparison with the microflora previously reported by Yang and Tazawa (2000a) from the HK2 Member of the formation confirms close similarities with our assemblage. All genera identified in this work were reported by Yang and Tazawa (2000a), excepting pollen genus *Monoletes*.

Age

Retusotriletes cf. *crassus* ranges from the Carboniferous (Clayton and Lobozial, 1985). *Spelaeotriletes owensii* range is restricted to the Carboniferous (Clayton, 1995). *Calamospora* ranges from the Devonian to Triassic. *Monoletes* cf. *ellipsoides* range is restricted to the Carboniferous (Millay *et al.*, 1978). *Punctatisporites* ranges from Paleozoic to Neogene. The common occurrence of taxa composing the assemblage is consistent with an early Carboniferous age.

The Carboniferous assemblage obtained in this study is bearing some Cathyasian elements according to Utting and Piasecki (1995). However, the opacity of sporomorphs did not permit species identification, preventing any further discussion. Genera obtained are widely reported from the early Carboniferous (e.g., Clayton and Lobozial, 1985).

Vegetation

Among spores obtained, *Calamospora* is usually associated with Equisetales (including calamitaceans, Sphenophyllales and Noeggerathiales), and is similar with *in situ* spores observed in Carboniferous *Calamites* and *Sphenophyllum* (Good, 1977). *Verrucosisporites* was

possibly produced by Lycopsida (Balme, 1995), and *Densosporites* by herbaceous lycopods (Chaloner, 1958). According to distribution of world palynofloras by Utting and Piasecki (1995), the Permo-Carboniferous Caythasian palynofloral province was characterized by the presence of genera *Laevigatosporites*, *Limitisporites*, and *Densosporites*. In particular, Gao (1985) defined Cathaysian Carboniferous and Lower Permian assemblages in North China from the presence of genera *Laevigatosporites*, *Punctatosporites*, *Florinites*, *Limitisporites*, *Alisporites*, *Lycospora* and *Densosporites*.

Spelaeotriletes is of exclusively Gondwanan occurrence (Playford *et al.*, 2001). The lack of *in situ* material prevents sure parent plant affiliation, but Playford *et al.* (2001) suggested affiliation to the true ferns (Pterophyta) and/or the lycopods (Lycopodophyta).

Deltoidospora was produced by herbaceous fern spores. *Punctatosporites* is also associated to Filicophytes, possibly Sphenophyllales (Libertin *et al.*, 2008).

The only pollen genus observed, *Monoletes*, is associated to pteridosperms. Taylor (1978) suggested this pollen grains may represent a type transitional between wind and insect pollination.

I summarized my results and previous works, with botanical affinities of taxa, in Tables 5 and 6. The micro- and macrofloral assemblages recovered from the Hikoroichi Formation are coherent, the microflora being richer in the number of taxa. The paleoflora is dominated by taxa with affinities to the Lycopodiales, Equisetales and Filicales. Pteridosperms and Progymnosperms appear for the first time in Japanese sediments, each represented by one to two taxa.

IV.1.5. Permian: Kanokura Formation

A middle Permian age has been suggested for the Kanokura Formation inferred from its brachiopod fauna (Tazawa and Takaizumi,1987) and microflora (Yang and Tazawa, 2000b).

Composition

The palynological assemblage from the middle Permian Kanokura Formation is composed of five spore taxa. No aquatic element was observed.

Punctatisporites ranges from the Paleozoic to Neogene; *Granulatisporites* ranges from the Silurian to Early Eocene; *Verrucosisporites* ranges from the Devonian to Carboniferous; *Baculatisporites* ranges from the Middle Devonian to Neogene. The range of taxa composing

the assemblage is consistent with a middle Permian age. The assemblage is not diversified but adds significant new data to the previously described palynoflora by Yang and Tazawa (2000b).

Vegetation

All taxa obtained are associated with ferns (four taxa) or maybe lycopsids (one taxon). No pollen grain was observed in this study, while pollen is represented by three species of pteridosperms and gymnosperms in the microflora reported by Yang and Tazawa (2000b). My results are coherent to previous works and add new taxa to the microflora. I summarized my results and previous works, with botanical affinities of taxa, in Tables 7 and 8.

IV.2. Paleovegetational changes during the Paleozoic

My palynological study records for the first-time possible apparition of terrestrial plants, which are characterized by trilete spores, from the late Silurian (Wenlock). The first reliable spore record is from the Early Devonian, reflecting a vegetation consisting of herbaceous plants distributed along freshwater areas. Assemblages are dominated by rhyniophytes, zosterophyllophytes, and trimerophytes, with a few lycophytes and cladoxylophytes.

Carboniferous vegetation radically changes, becoming dominated by the newly appeared Equisetales and Filicales. Lycophytes and cladoxylophytes diversify, while rhyniophytes, zosterophyllophytes and trimerophytes are not present anymore. Pollen is observed for the first time, represented by a few species with affinities to the pteridosperms and progymnosperms. Permian is marked by the diversification of Filicales and pollen-producing plants, represented by pteridosperms and conifers. The botanical affinities are illustrated in Tables 4, 6, 8, and 10.

IV. 3. Paleophytogeographic significance of the results for the past location of Japan

The paleogeographic configurations of Japan and eastern Asia have been intensively studied (e.g., Isozaki, 1996, 2019; Maruyama *et al.*, 1997; Ehiro and Kanisawa, 1999; Isozaki *et al.*, 2010, 2011; Kasahara *et al.*, 2010; Uno *et al.*, 2011; Cocks and Torsvik, 2013; Wakita, 2013; Wakita *et al.*, 2018; Tanaka *et al.*, 2018). Despite these efforts, the accretionary history of Japan is not still clearly understood for Middle Devonian and older times (Wakita *et al.*, 2018).

The Kurosegawa Belt in southwest Japan is considered as a southern extension of the South Kitakami Belt, which constituted the South Kitakami – Kurosegawa Arc (Umeda 1996a; Ehiro and Kanisawa. 1999; Ehiro, 2000). Cocks and Torsvik (2013) hypothesized that this island arc

originated in the Southern Hemisphere, and that it drifted to northern tropics by the Late Ordovician to accommodate paleomagnetic and paleontological observations. Palaeomagnetic data obtained from the Kurosegawa Belt indicate paleolatitudes of $5-15^{\circ}$ N during the Silurian and Early Devonian (Shibuya *et al.*, 1983). The Silurian–Devonian coral, brachiopod, gastropod and trilobite faunas reported from the South Kitakami Belt show similarities to those from eastern Australia, South China and Central Asia (Hamada, 1959; Minato and Kato, 1977; Kaneko, 1990; Kato, 1990; Zhou and Campbell, 1990; Tazawa and Chen, 2001; Tazawa, 2002; Hua-Zhang and Cook, 2003; De Jong *et al.*, 2006; Williams *et al.*, 2014). These lands were amalgamated to form the northeastern part of Gondwana before the opening of the Palaeo-Tethys Ocean (Duan *et al.*, 2012). Hinterland analysis based on ages of detrital zircons suggests that the South Kitakami Belt was close to the South China Block before the Middle Devonian (Wakita *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, the South Kitakami Belt is considered to be developed as an island arc near the north of the South China block which was located in the northeastern Gondwana (Figure 26).

It has already been pointed out that the Silurian to Devonian fauna and flora of the South Kitakami Belt have affinities with those of coeval northern East Gondwana (Figure 26). For example, tabulate coral taxa yielded from the Kawauchi Formation are abundant in coeval strata of Australia and South China (e.g., Hamada, 1960; Kato, 1990)

The Nakazato palynoflora predominantly consists of cosmopolitan taxa but demonstrates the closest similarities to those of South China (Figure 26), in alignment with the paleogeographic history stated above. In particular, the palynoflora reported from the Xujiachong Formation (Lu and Ouyang, 1976; Gao, 1981 as the Longhuashan Formation; Tian *et al.*, 2011; Wellman *et al.*, 2012) shows strong similarities in its composition: eight of the 14 identified species, and all spore genera obtained of the Nakazato assemblage excepting *Laevolancis* and *Granulatisporites*, are reported from the Xujiachong Formation. In addition, *Laevolancis* is reported from Lochkovian strata of the Cuifengshan Group in which the Xujiachong Formation is included (Tian *et al.*, 2011). The dominance of laevigate spores in the Nakazato palynoassemblage (63%) is also true for those of the Xujiachong Formation in which *Retusotriletes* represents 28–78.5% (Tian *et al.*, 2011) or 49.5–80% (Wellman *et al.*, 2012). Abundance of granulate or apiculate spores is also shared between the Nakazato palynoassemblage (9%) and those in the Xujiachong Formation: 14.5–20.5% (Tian *et al.*, 2011) or 12.5–38% (Wellman *et al.*, 2012) of *Apiculiretusispora*. Gao (1981) also noted that *Retusotriletes* and *Apiculiretusispora* account for 40–60% of the assemblage in the

Longhuashan Formation (*syn.* Xujiachong Formation), while these spores occupy about 70% in the Nakazato palynoassemblage.

The microfloral results obtained from the Fukuji, Hikoroichi and Kanokura formations do not permit reliable comparisons to discuss about relations with adjacent regions. However, the Hikoroichi Formation yields various corals and brachiopods showing affinities with those of northeastern Gondwana (Okawa *et al.*, 2013). Asama (1985) further noted that the Early Permian Maiya Flora described from Nishikori (or Rodai) Formation belonged to the Cathaysian Floristic Province, distributed in China and Korea. Those previous works together with my new data support the paleogeographic inference that Japan was formed and developed near the northeastern margin of Gondwana during the Paleozoic (Figure 26).

Conclusions

This thesis proposed the first comprehensive study on Paleozoic microfloras of Japan, at the period when plants colonized the land and first terrestrial ecosystems developed. The results were based on materials collected from the Silurian to Permian strata of the three major areas with fossil-bearing sediments in Japan, i.e., the South Kitakami Belt in Northeast Japan, Hida-Gaien Belt in central Japan, and the Kurosegawa Belt in southwest Japan. The Hida-Gaien Belt only provided poor assemblages, and I could not obtain any reliable palynomorph from the Kurosegawa Belt. However, the South Kitakami Belt revealed for the first time microfloral assemblages. The late Silurian Kawauchi Formation yields probable trilete spores of terrestrial plants along with rare tubular remains; the Lower Devonian Nakazato Formation yielded a rich assemblage, representing the oldest vegetation of Japan. The microflora is dominated by rhyniophytes, zosterophyllophytes, and/or trymerophytes, with some lycopsids and cladoxylopsids. The common range of taxa suggests a Pragian to Emsian age. The microflora has furthermore great similarities to those of the South China agreeing with the hypothesis that Proto Japan was formed and developed near the northeastern margin of Gondwana. The Hikoroichi Formation revealed an assemblage composed by six spore with affinities to the Lycophytes and Filicophytes, and one pteridosperm pollen taxa, consistent with an early Carboniferous age. The middle Permian Kanokura Formation yielded five spore taxa, which were not reported in previous palynological studies. All taxa obtained are associated with ferns (four taxa) or maybe lycopsids (one taxa).

I trace for the first time the evolution of vegetations in Japan from the late Silurian to Permian and propose a first outline for Paleozoic palynostratigraphy.

Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to Professor Akihisa Kitamura for his outstanding guidance and his critical guiding during this study besides his great help to me to start my research studies in Shizuoka University after my contract was ended at the Botanical Gardens of Osaka City University. I deeply thank Dr. Julien Legrand for his help and support for each single step of this study and for several and multiple discussions. I seriously thank Professor Toshihiro Yamada for his valuable discussion on the early land plants and his understanding of the linking between the living and fossilized lycopsids plants and for his help in the field trip and for his experience in the study of the Paleozoic of Japan, beside the discussion to study the Devonian of Japan, and many discussions at the Laboratory in Shizuoka University. Further, I strongly appreciate the great role done by Professor Yamada and Professor Kitamura with help from Dr. Legrand to help me to transfer from Osaka City University to Shizuoka University, and also the fourteen month I studied with Professor Yamada at the Botanical Gardens. It was a great time for me as a training to understand the plant science as living and fossilized.

I appreciate and thank all the members of the Museum of Natural and Environmental History, Shizuoka, Japan, for permitting the SEM observation. I thank Ofunato City and Takayama City for permitting the field research. I would like to offer my sincerest gratitude to Shizuoka University for the financial support which covered all my research activities including the field trips and attendance at the international conferences in Tokyo during the study of the PhD.

References

- Abuhmida, F. H. and Wellman, C. H., 2017: Palynology of the Middle Ordovician Hawaz Formation in the Murzuq Basin, south-west Libya. *Palynology*, vol. 41, p. 31-56.
- Adachi, N. and Ezaki, Y., 2007: Microscopic microbialite textures and their components in a Lower Devonian lagoonal facies of the Fukuji Formation, Gifu Prefecture, central Japan. *In*, Hubman, B and Piller, W. E. (Eds.): *Fossil Corals and Sponges*. Proceedings of the 9th International Symposium on Fossil Cnidaria and Poriifera. *Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Schriftenreihe der Erdwissenschaftlichen Kommissionen*, 17: 215-229, 2 Figs., 2 pls., Wien.
- Agnihotri, D., Pandita, S. K., Tewari, R., Ram-Awatar, Linnemann, U., Pillai, S. S. K., Joshi, A., Gautam, S. and Kumar, K., 2017: Palynology and detrital zircon geochronology of the Carboniferous Fenestella Shale Formation of the Tethyan realm in Kashmir Himalaya: Implications for global correlation and floristic evolution. *Journal of Asian Earth Sciences*, vol. 157, p. 348-359.
- Aitchison, J. C., Hada, S. and Yoshikura, S., 1991: Kurosegawa terrane: disrupted remnants of a low latitude Paleozoic terrane accreted to SW Japan. *Journal of Southeast Asian Earth Sciences*, vol. 6, p. 83-92.
- Al-Ameri, T. K., 1984: Microstructures of possible early land plants from Tripolitania, North Africa. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 40, p. 375-386.
- Allen, K. C., 1965: Lower and Middle Devonian spores of north and central Vestspitsbergen. *Palaeontology*, vol. 8, p. 687-748.
- Allen, K. C., 1980: A review of in situ late Silurian and Devonian spores. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 29, p. 253-269.
- Archangelsky, S. and Villar de Seoane, L., 1994: Estudio palinológico de la Formación Baqueró (Cretácico), Provincia de Santa Cruz, Argentina. VI. Ameghiniana, vol. 31, p. 41-53.
- Aria-Nasab, M., Spina, A., Cirilli, S. and Daneshian, J., 2016: The palynostratigraphy of the Lower Carboniferous (middle Tournaisian–upper Viséan) Shishtu Formation from the Howz-e-Dorah section, southeast Tabas, central Iranian Basin. *Palynology*, vol. 40, p. 247-263.
- Asama, K., 1956: Permian plants from Maiya in northern Honshu, Japan (Preliminary note). *Proceedings of Japan Academy*, vol. 32, p. 469-471.

- Asama, K., 1967: Permian plants from Maiya, Japan 1, *Cathaysiopteris* and *Psygmophyllum*. Bulletin of the National Science Museum, Tokyo, Ser. C, vol. 13, p. 291-317.
- Asama, K., 1970: Evolution and classification of Sphenophyllales in Cathaysia Land. *Bulletin* of the National Science Museum, Tokyo, Ser. C, vol. 13, p. 291-317.
- Asama, K., 1974: Permian plants from Takakurayama, Japan. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum, Tokyo, Ser. C*, no. 3, p. 239-250.
- Asama, K., 1981: Triphyletic evolution of vascular plants. *The Paleobotanist*, vol. 28-29, p. 413-422.
- Asama, K., 1985: Permian to Triassic floral change and some problems of the paleobiogeography, parallelism. *In*, Nakazawa, K. and Dickins, J. M. (eds.), *The Tethys, her paleogeography and paleobiogeography from Paleozoic to Mesozoic*, 199-218. Tokai University Press, Tokyo.
- Asama, K., 1989: Permian plants from Maiya, Japan, 3. Pteriodophylls. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum, Tokyo, Ser. C*, 15, p. 39-51.
- Asama, K. and Murata, M., 1974: Permian plants from Setamai, Japan. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum*, vol. 17, p. 251-256.
- Askew, A. J. and Wellman, C. H., 2019: An endemic flora of dispersed spores from the Middle Devonian of Iberia. *Papers in Palaeontology*, vol, 5, p. 415-459.
- Atta-Peters, D. and Anan-Yorke, R., 2003: Latest Devonian and Early Carboniferous pteridophytic spores from the Sekondi group of Ghana. *Revista Española de Micropaleontología*, vol. 35, p. 9-27.
- Azcuy, C. L., di Pasquo, M. and Ampuero, H. V., 2002: Late carboniferous miospores from the Tarma Formation, Pongo de Mainique, Peru. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 118, p. 1-28.
- Balme, B. E., 1962: Upper Devonian (Frasnian) spores from the Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia. *The Palaeobotanist*, vol. 9, p. 1-10.
- Balme, B. E., 1988: Miospores from Late Devonian (Early Frasnian) strata, Carnarvon Basin,Western Australia. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 209, p. 109-166.
- Balme, B. E., 1995: Fossil in situ spores and pollen grains: an annotated catalogue. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 87, p. 81-323.
- Banks, H. P., Leclercq, S. and Hueber, F. M., 1975: Anatomy and morphology of *Psilophyton dawsonii*, sp. n., from the late Lower Devonian of Quebec (Gaspe), and Ontario, Canada. *Paleontographica Americana*, vol. 8, p. 77-127.

- Barreda, V. and Palamarczuk, S., 2000: Palinoestratigrafía de depósitos del Oligoceno tardío-Mioceno en el área sur del Golfo San Jorge, provincia de Santa Cruz, Argentina. *Ameghiniana*, vol. 37, p. 103-117.
- Beju, D., 1967: Quelques spores, acritarches et chitinozoaires d'âge Dévonien inférieur de la plate-forme moesienne (Roumanie). *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 5, p. 39-49.
- Bek, J., 2021: Palynological grouping of Paleozoic marattialean miospores. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 284, p. 104341.
- Bennie, J. and Kidston, R., 1886: On the occurence of spores in the carboniferous formation of Scotland. *Proceedings of the Royal Physical Society of Edinburgh*, vol. 9, p. 82-117.
- Bernardi, M., Petti, F. M, Kustatscher, E., Franz, M., Hartkopf-Fröder, C., Labandeira, C. C., Wappler, T., Van Konijnenburg-van Cittert, J. H. A., Peecook, B. R. and Angielczyk, K. D., 2017: Late Permian (Lopingian) terrestrial ecosystems: a global comparison with new data from the low latitude Bletterbach Biota. *Earth Science Review*, vol. 175, p. 18-43.
- Berry, W., 1937: Spores from the Pennington coal, Rhea County, Tennessee. American Midland Naturalist, vol. 18, p. 155-160.
- Bharadwaj, D. C. and Venkatachala, B. S., 1961: Spore assemblage out of a Lower Carboniferous shale from Spitzbergen. *Journal of Palaeosciences*, vol. 10, p. 18-47.
- Bhutta, A. A., 1987: Observations on Rhynia Gwynne-vaughanii Kidston and Lang. *Bulletin* of the Palaeobotany and Palynology. *Club of Pakistan*, vol. 1, p. 1-15.
- Bonamo, P. M. and Banks, H. P., 1966: Calamophyton in the Middle Devonian of New York State. *American Journal of Botany*, vol. 53, p. 778-791.
- Boumendjel, K., Loboziak, S., Paris, F., Steemans, P. and Streel, M., 1988: Biostratigraphie des Miospores etdes Chitinozoaires du Silurien supérieur et du Dévonien dans le bassin d'Illizi (S.E. du Sahara algérien). *Geobios*, vol. 21, p. 329-357.
- Breuer, P., Al-Ghazi, A., Al-Ruwaili, M., Higgs, K. T., Steemans, P. and Wellman, C. H., 2007: Early to Middle Devonian miospores from northern Saudi Arabia. *Revue de micropaléontologie*, vol. 50, p. 27-57.
- Breuer, P. and Steemans, P., 2013: Devonian miospores from northwestern Gondwana. *Special Papers in Palaeontology*, vol. 89, p. 5-163.
- Burgess, N. D. and Edwards, D., 1991: Classification of uppermost Ordovician to Lower Devonian tubular and filamentous macerals from the Anglo-Welsh Basin. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, vol. 106, p. 41-66.

- Burgess, N. D. and Richardson, J. B., 1991: Silurian cryptospores and miospores from the type Wenlock area, Shropshire, England. *Palaeontology*, vol. 34, p. 601-628.
- Cai, C. and Schweitzer, H. J., 1983: Über Zosterophylum yunnanicum Hsü aus dem Unterdevon Südchinas. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 185, p. 1-10.
- Capel, E., Cleal, C. J., Xue, J., Monnet, C., Servais, T. and Cascales-Miñana, B., 2021: The Silurian–Devonian terrestrial revolution: diversity patterns and sampling bias of the vascular plant macrofossil record. *Earth-Science Reviews*, vol. 231, 104085.
- Césari, S. N. and Gutiérrez, P. R., 2000: Palynostratigraphy of upper Paleozoic sequences in central-western Argentina. *Palynology*, vol. 24, p. 113-146.
- Chaloner, W. G., 1958: The Carboniferous upland flora. *Geological Magazine*, vol. 95, p. 261-262.
- Chen, X. Q. and Tazawa, J., 2003: Middle Devonian (Eifelian) brachiopods from the southern Kitakami Mountains, northeast Japan. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 77, p. 1040-1052.
- Chibrikova, E. V., 1959: Spory iz Devonskikh; Boleye Drevnikh otlozheni Bashkirii. Bashkirskii Filnal, Institut Geologii, *Akademiya Nauk SSR*, p. 3-116.
- Chibrikova, E. V. and Nadler, Yu. S., 1971: Correlation and age of the lower horizons of the Devonian of the western slope of the southern Urals, Priuralia and Kuznetsk Coal Basin according to plant microfossils. *Bulletin of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR*, *Geological Series*, vol. 1, p. 101-109. (in Russian).
- Choi, D. R., 1970: Permian fusulinids from Imo, southern Kitakami Mountains, NE Japan. Journal of the Faculty of Science, Hokkaido University. Series 4, vol. 14, p. 327-354.
- Clayton, G., 1995: Carboniferous miospore and pollen assemblages from the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 89, p. 115-123.
- Clayton, G., Coquel, R., Doubinger, J., Gueinn, K. J., Loboziak, S., Owens, B. and Streel, M.,
 1977: Carboniferous miospores of Western Europe: illustration and zonation.
 Mededelingen Rijks Geologische Dienst, vol. 29, p. 1-72.
- Clayton, G. and Loboziak, S., 1985: Early Carboniferous (early Viséan–Serpukhovian) palynomorphs. *Journal of Micropalaeontolgy*, vol. 4, p. 83-91.
- Cocks, L. R. M. and Torsvik, T. H., 2013: The dynamic evolution of the Paleozoic geography of eastern Asia. *Earth-Science Reviews*, vol. 117, p. 40-79.
- Copper, P., Tazawa, J., Mori, K., and Kato, M., 1982: Atrypa (Devonian Brachiopoda) from Japan. Transactions and Proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan. New series, vol. 127, p. 368-374.

- de Jersey, N. J., 1966: Carboniferous spores from southern Queensland. In; Symposium on floristics and stratigraphy of Gondwanaland. *Birbal Sahni Institute of Palaeosciences*, *Lucknow*, p. 26-43.
- De Jong, K., Xiao, W., Windley, B. F., Masago, H. and Lo, C. H., 2006: Ordovician ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar phengite ages from the blueschist-facies Ondor Sum subduction-accretion complex (Inner Mongolia) and implications for the Early Paleozoic history of continental blocks in China and adjacent areas. *American Journal of Science*, vol. 306, p. 799-845.
- Dettmann, M. E., 1963: Upper Mesozoic microfloras from south-eastern Australia. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria*, vol. 77, p. 1-148.
- Doran, J. B., 1980: A new species of Psilophyton from the Lower Devonian of northern New Brunswick, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, vol. 58, p. 2241-2262.
- Doran, J. B., Gensel, P. G. and Andrews, H. N., 1978: New occurrences of trimerophytes from the Devonian of eastern Canada. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, vol. 56, p. 3052-3068.
- Duan, L., Meng, M, Q-R., Wu, G-L., Ma, S-X. and Li, L., 2012: Detrital zircon evidence for the linkage of the South China block with Gondwanaland in early Paleozoic time. *Geological Magazine*, vol. 14, p. 1124-1131.
- Dybová, S. and Jachowicz, A., 1957: Strefy mikrosporowe w górnośląskim karbonie produktywnym. *Geological Quarterly*, vol. 1, p. 192-212.
- Edwards, D., 1982: Fragmentary non-vascular plant microfossils from the late Silurian of Wales. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, vol. 84, p. 223-256.
- Edwards, D., 2003: Xylem in early tracheophytes. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, vol. 26, p. 57-72.
- Edwards, D., Fanning, U. and Richardson, J. B., 1994: Lower Devonian coalified sporangia from Shropshire: Salopella Edwards and Richardson and Tortilicaulis Edwards. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, vol. 116, p. 89-110.
- Edwards, D., Feehan, J. and Smith, D. G., 1983: A late Wenlock flora from Co. Tipperary, Ireland. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, vol. 86, p. 19-36.
- Edwards, D., Morris, J. L., Richardson, J. B. and Kenrick, P., 2014: Cryptospores and cryptophytes reveal hidden diversity in early land floras. *New Phytologist*, vol. 202, p. 50-78.
- Edwards, D. and Richardson, J. B., 1996: Review of in situ spores in early land plants; In, Jansonius, J. and McGregor, D. C. eds., *Palynology: Principles and applications, Volume 1*. Publishers Press, American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists Foundation, Salt Lake City, Utah, p. 391-407.

- Edwards, D. and Richardson, J. B., 2004: Silurian and Lower Devonian plant assemblages from the Anglo-Welsh Basin: a palaeobotanical and palynological synthesis. *Geological Journal*, vol. 39, p. 375-402.
- Edwards, D. and Wellman, C. H., 1996: Older plant macerals (excluding spores). In: Jansonius,
 J. and McGregor, D.C. eds., *Palynology: Principles and applications, Volume 1*.
 Publishers Press, American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists Foundation, Salt Lake City, Utah, p. 383-387.
- Ehiro, M., 2000: Relationships in tectonic framework among the South Kitakami and Hayachine Tectonic Belts, Kurosegawa Belt, and 'Paleo- Ryoke Belt'. *Memoirs of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 56, p. 53-64. (in Japanese with English abstract).
- Ehiro, M., 2001: Origins and drift histories of some microcontinents distributed in the eastern margin of Asian Continent (Special issue). Geotectonic framework of eastern Asia before the opening of the Japan Sea. *Earth Science* (Chikyu Kagaku), vol. 55, p. 71-81.
- Ehiro, M., Hasegawa, H. and Misaki, A., 2005: Permian ammonoids Prostacheocers and Perrinites from the Southern Kitakami Massif, Northeast Japan. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 79, p. 1222-1228.
- Ehiro, M. and Kanisawa, S., 1999: Origin and evolution of the South Kitakami Microcontinent during the Early-Middle Paleozoic. In, Metcalfe, I. ed., *Gondwana dispersion and Asian accretion*: IGCP321 *Final results volume*, p. 283-295.
- Ehiro, M. and Misaki, A., 2004; Stratigraphic range of the genus Monodiexodina (Permian Fusulinoidea): additional data from the southern Kitakami Massif, Northeast Japan. *Journal of Asian Earth Sciences*, vol. 23, p. 483-490.
- Ehiro, M. and Suzuki, N., 2003: Re-definition of the Hayachine Tectonic Belt of Northeast Japan and a proposal of a new tectonic unit, the Nedamo Belt. *Journal of Structural Geology*, vol. 47, p. 13-21.
- Ehiro, M., Tsujimori, T., Tsukada, K. and Nuramkhaan, M., 2016: Paleozoic basement and associated cover. *In*, Moreno, T., Wallis, S. R., Kojima, T. and Gibbons, W. eds., *The* geology of Japan, p. 25-60. Geological Society, London.
- Eisenack, A., 1944: Über einige pflanzliche Funde in Geschieben, nebstBemerkungen zum Hystrichosphaerideen–Problem. Zeitschrift Geschiebeforsch, vol. 19, p. 103-124.
- Endo, R., 1966: Atlas of Plant Fossils. Asakura Publishing Co., Ltd., 313 p. (in Japanese)
- Endo, R. and Horiguchi, M., 1957: Stratigraphical and paleontological studies of the Later Paleozoic calcareous algae in Japan, XII. Fossil algae from the Fukuji District in the Hida Massif. *Japanese Journal of Geology and Geography*, *Tokyo*, vol. 28, p. 169-177.

- Endo, R., and Mori, R., 1969: Two Interesting Fossil Specimens from the upper Paleozoic system in Japan. *Transactions and proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan*. *New series*, vol. 74, pp.112-114-1.
- Endo, S. 1955. *Icones of Fossil Plants from Japanese Islands*. Sangyo Tosho Co., Tokyo. (in Japanese)
- Erdtman, G., 1947: Suggestions for the classification of fossil and recent pollen grains and spores. *Svensk botanisk tidskrift*, vol. 41, p. 104-114.
- Fanning, U., Edwards, D. and Richardson, J. B., 1991: A new rhyniophytoid from the Late Silurian of the Welsh Borderland. *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie*, Abhandlungen 183, p. 37-47.
- Fanning, U., Edwards, D. and Richardson, J. B., 1992: A diverse assemblage of early land plants from the Lower Devonian of the Welsh Borderland. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, vol. 109, p. 161-188.
- Fanning, U., Richardson, J. B. and Edwards, D., 1988: Cryptic evolution in an early land plant. Evolutionary Trends in Plants (ETP), vol. 2, p. 13-24.
- Fanning, U., Richardson, J. B. and Edwards, D., 1991: A review of in situ spores in Silurian land plants. In, Blackmore, S. and Barnes, S. H. eds., Pollen and Spores: Patterns of Diversification. *The Systematics Association, Clarendon Press, Oxford*, vol. 44, p. 25-47.
- Fürst-Jansen, J. M. R., de Vries, S. and de Vries, J., 2020: Evo-physio: on stress responses and the earliest land plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 71, p. 3254-3269.
- Gao, L., 1981: Devonian spore assemblages of China. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 34, p. 11-23.
- Gao, L., 1985: Carboniferous and Early Permian of North China region and the boundary of Carboniferous and Permian. Dixième Congrès Intenational de Stratigraphie et de Géologie du Carbonifère. Madrid, vol. 2, p. 409-424.
- Gensel, P. G., 1980: Devonian in situ spores: a survey and discussion. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 30, p. 101-132.
- Gensel, P. G., 2021: When did terrestrial plants arise? Science, vol. 373 (6556), p. 736-737.
- Gensel, P. G., Andrews, H. N. and Forbes, W. H., 1975: A new species of Sawdonia with notes on the origin of microphylls and lateral sporangia. *Botanical Gazette*, vol. 136, p. 50-62.
- Good, C. W., 1977: Taxonomic and Stratigraphic Significance of the Dispersed Spore Genus *Calamospora*. *In*, Romans, R. C. (eds.) *Geobotany*. Springer, Boston, p. 43-64.
- Granoff, J. A., Gensel, P. G. and Andrews, H. N., 1976: A new species of Pertica from the Devonian of eastern Canada. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 155, p. 119-128.

- Gray, J., 1985: The microfossil record of early land plants: advances in understanding of early terrestrialization, 1970-1984. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *B*, *Biological Sciences*, vol. 309, p. 167-195.
- Gray, J., 1991: *Tetrahedraletes*, *Nodospora*, and the 'cross' tetrad: an accretion of myth. *In*,
 Blackmore, S. and Barnes, S. H. (eds.), *Pollen and spores, patterns of diversification*, p.
 49-87. The Systematics Association Special Volume, No. 44. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Hada, S., Suzuki, T. and Yoshikura, S., 1979: The Kurosegawa Tectonic Zone in Shikoku and tectonic environment of the Outer Zone of Southwest Japan. *The Basement of the Japanese Islands Professor Hiroshi Kano Memorial Volume, Akita University*, p. 341-368. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Hamada, T., 1959: Discovery of a Devonian ostracod in the Fukuji district, Gifu Prefecture, west Japan. *Japanese Journal of Geology and Geography*, vol. 30, p. 39-51.
- Hamada, T., 1960: The Middle Paleozoic formations in China and Korea. *Japan Journal of Geology and Geography*, vol. 31, p. 2-4.
- Hao, S. G., 1985: Further observations on *Zosterophyllum yunnanicum* Hsü. *Acta Botanica Sinica*, vol. 27, p. 545-549. (in Chinese with English abstract)
- Hartman, C. N. and Banks, H. P., 1980: Pitting in *Psilophyton dawsonii*, an Early Devonian Trimerophyte. *American Journal of Botany*, vol. 67, p. 400-412.
- Hashemi, H. and Playford, G., 2005: Devonian spore assemblages of the Adavale Basin, Queensland (Australia): descriptive systematics and stratigraphic significance. *Revista Española de Micropaleontología*, vol. 37, p. 317.
- Henderson, C. M., Shen, S. Z., Gradstein, F. M. and Agterberg, F. P., 2020: The permian period. In Geologic Time Scale. p. 875-902. Elsevier.
- Hirata, S., 1966: Mt. Yokokurayama in Kochi Prefecture, Japan. *Chigaku Kenkyu*, vol. 17, p. 258-273. (in Japanese)
- Hoffmeister, W. S., 1959: Lower Silurian plant spores from Libya. *Micropaleontology*, vol. 5, p. 331-334.
- Hopping, C. A., 1956: II. On a specimen of *Psilophyton robustius* Dawson, from the Lower Devonian of Canada. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, Section B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 66, p. 10-28.
- Horiguchi, M., 1961: A new algal fossil "Velomorpha". Science reports of the Saitama University, Series B: Biology and Earth Sciences, vol. 4, p. 93-99.
- Horikoshi, E., 1972: Orogenic belts and plates in Japanese Islands. *Kagaku (Science)*, vol. 42, p. 665-673. (in Japanese)

- Hsü, J., 1966: On plant remains from the Devonian of Yunnan and their significance in the identification of the stratigraphical sequence of this region. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, vol. 14, p. 51-69.
- Hua-Zhang, P. and Cook, A. G., 2003: Early Devonian gastropods from Zhusilenghaierhan region, western Inner Mongolia, China. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 77, p. 31-43.
- Hueber, F. M. and Banks, H. P., 1967: *Psilophyton princeps*: the search for organic connection. *Taxon*, vol. 16, p. 81-85.
- Ibrahim, A. C., 1932: Beschreibung von Sporenformen aus Flöz Ägir. In, Potonié, R., Ibrahim, A. C. and Loose, F. (eds.), Sporenformen aus den Flözen Ägir und Bismarck des Ruhrgebietes. Neues Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, Geologie und Paläontologie, Beilage-Band, vol. 67, p. 447-449.
- Ibrahim, A. C., 1933: Sporenformen des Aegirhorizontes des Ruhrreviers. *Dissertation der Technnischen Hochschule zu Berlin*, 594 p.
- Ishchenko, A. M., 1952: Atlas of the microspores and pollen of the Middle Carboniferous of the western part of the Donetz Basin. Akademiia Nauk Ukrainskoi SSR, *Instituta Geologicheskikh Nauk Seriia Stratigrafii i Paleontologii*, 83 p. (in Russian)
- Ishikawa, A., Kaneko, Y., Ota, T. and Isozaki, Y., 2011: Ophiolites in the non-volcanic banda outer arc of East Indonesia: Field occurrence and petrological variety of the world's youngest ophiolite. *Earth Science Magazine*, vol. 120, p. 52-64.
- Isozaki, Y., 1996: Anatomy and genesis of a subduction-related orogen: A new view of geotectonic subdivision and evolution of the Japanese Islands. *Island Arc*, vol. 5, p. 289-320.
- Isozaki, Y., 2011: Ordovician rocks in Japan. *In*, Gutierrez-Marco, J. C., Robano, I., Garia-Bellido, D. (eds.), *Ordovician of the World*, p. 251-252. Mem. Publication Instit. Geol. Miner. Espana, ser. Cuadernos Museo Geominero, vol. 14.
- Isozaki, Y., 2019: A visage of early Paleozoic Japan: Geotectonic and paleobiogeographical significance of Greater South China. *Island Arc*, vol. 28, e12296.
- Isozaki, Y., 2023: Ordovician Japan: geotectonic setting and palaeogeography. In: Servais, T., Harper, D. A. T., Lefebvre, B. and Percival, I. G. (eds.), A Global Synthesis of the Ordovician System: Part 2. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, vol. 533, p. 505–517.
- Isozaki, Y., Aljinović, D. and Kawahata, H., 2011: The Guadalupian (Permian) Kamura event in European Tethys. *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeoecology*, vol. 308, p. 12-21.

- Isozaki, Y., Aoki, K., Nakama, T. and Yanai, S., 2010: New insight into a subduction-related orogen: A reappraisal of the geotectonic framework and evolution of the Japanese Islands. *Gondwana Research*, vol. 18, p. 82-105.
- Jasper, K., Hartkopf-Fröder, C., Flajs, G. and Littke, R., 2010: Evolution of Pennsylvanian (Late Carboniferous) peat swamps of the Ruhr Basin, Germany: comparison of palynological, coal petrographical and organic geochemical data. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, vol. 83, p. 346-365.
- Johnson, N. G., 1985: Early Silurian palynomorphs from the Tuscarora Formation in central Pennsylvania and their paleobotanical and geological significance. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 45, p. 307-359.
- Kamei, T., 1955: Classification of the Fukuji Formation (Silurian) on the basis of Favosites with description of some Favosites (Study on Paleozoic rocks of Hida 2). *Journal of the Shinshu University*, vol. 5, p. 39-67.
- Kaneko, A., 1984: A middle Devonian Trilobite Fauna from the Kitakami Mountains. Northeast Japan: I. The Lichidae. *Transactions and Proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan. New series*, vol. 136, p. 474-491.
- Kaneko, A., 1985: A middle Devonian Trilobite Fauna from the Kitakami Mountains, Northeast Japan: II. the Calymenidae. *Transactions and Proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan. New series*, vol. 138, p. 94-110.
- Kaneko, A., 1990: A new Trilobite genus Rhinophacops. *Transactions and Proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan, New series*, vol. 157, p. 360-365.
- Kaneko, A., 2007: Nakazato Trilobite Fauna (Early to Middle Devonian). Jubilee Publication in Commemoration of Professor Tadao Kamei's 80th birthday, Commemorative Association of Professor Kamei Tadao's 80th birthday, Tokyo, p. 231-250. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Kasahara, J., Sano, O., Geshi, N., Isozaki, Y., Maruyama, S. and Yanai, S., 2010: Overview of a special issue on "Geotectonic evolution of the Japanese Islands under new paradigms of the next generation (parts I-III)". *Journal of Geography* (Chigaku Zasshi), vol. 119, p. 947-958.
- Kase, T. and Nishida, T., 1986: A Middle Devonian gastropod faunule from the Nakazato Formation of Kitakami, northeast Japan. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum. Series C*, vol. 12, p. 73-89.

- Kase, T., Nishida, T. and Niko, S., 1985: *Boiotremus fukujiensis* n. sp. from Fukuji, Gifu Prefecture: first recorded Devonian gastropod from Japan. *Memoirs of the National Science Museum Tokyo*, vol. 18, p. 29-34.
- Kato, M., 1982: *Mazaphyllum* (Rugosa) from the Silurian of Japan. *Transactions and proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan. New series*, vol. 127, p. 386-392.
- Kato, M., 1990: Palaeozoic corals. *In*, Ichikawa, K., Mizutani, S., Hara, I., Hada, S. and Yao,
 A. (eds.), *Pre-Cretaceous terranes of Japan*, p. 307-312. Publication of IGCP Project
 No. 224, Nippon Insatsu Shuppan, Osaka.
- Kato, M., Minato, M., Niikawa, I., Kawamura, M., Nakai, H. and Haga, S., 1980: Silurian and Devonian corals of Japan. *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*, vol. 25, p. 558-566.
- Kawamura, T. and Kawamura, M., 1989: The Carboniferous System of the South Kitakami Terrane, northeast Japan (Part 2) —Sedimentary and tectonic environment—. *Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku)*, p. 157-167.
- Kedo, G. I., 1955: Spores of the Middle Devonian of the northeastern Byelorussian SSR. Academy of Sciences of BSSR, *Institute of Geological Sciences*, *Palaeontology and Stratigraphy of BSSR*, *Sbornik*, vol. 1, p. 5-59.
- Kemp, E. M., 1972: Lower Devonian palynomorphs from the Horlick Formation, Ohio range, Antarctica. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 139, p. 105-124.
- Kenrick, P. and Crane, P. R., 1991: Water-conducting cells in early fossil land plants: implications for the early evolution of tracheophytes. *Botanical Gazette*, vol. 152, p. 335-356.
- Kenrick, P. and Crane, P. R., 1997: The origin and early evolution of plants on land. *Nature*, vol. 389, p. 33-39.
- Kimura, T., 1987: The Geohastory of Japan from Latest Cretaceous to Paleogene The Developments of the Japanese Islands IV. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy, Series B*, vol. 63, p. 67-70.
- Kimura, T., 2000: Early Cretaceous climatic provinces in Japan and adjacent regions on the basis of fossil land plants. *In*, Okada, H. and Mateer, N. J. (eds), *Cretaceous Environments* of Asia, p. 155-161. Elsevier Science BV, Amsterdam.
- Kimura, T., Tanimoto, Y. and Miyamoto, T., 1986: Discovery of Late Devonian plants from the "Yuzuruha" Formation, Kyushu, Southwest Japan. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 92, p. 813-816.
- Kobayashi, T., 1957: Notes on two Devonian trilobites from the Kitakami Mountains in Japan. Journal of the Faculty of Science University of Tokyo, Section 2, vol. 11, p. 1-10.

- Kobayashi, T., 1977: Devonian trilobites of Japan in comparison with Asian, Pacific and other faunas. *Palaeontological Society of Japan, special paper*, vol. 20, p. 1-202.
- Kobayashi, T. 1988. New trilobites of the Devonian Fukuji Fauna. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy, Series* B, vol. 64, p. 106-108.
- Kobayashi, T. and Hamada, T., 1974: On the geological age of the Fukuji formation in the Hida plateau. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy*, vol. 50, p. 760-763.
- Kobayashi, T. and Hamada, T., 1976: Occurrences of the *Machaeridia* in Japan and Malaysia. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy*, vol. 52, p. 371-374.
- Kobayashi, T. and Hamada, T., 1977: Outline of Devonian trilobites in Japan. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy*, vol. 53, p. 147-150.
- Kobayashi, T. and Hamada, T., 1980: Carboniferous trilobites of Japan etc. *Paleontological Society of Japan, Special Papers*, vol. 23, p. 1-132.
- Komatsu, M., 1990: Hida "Gain" Belt and Joetsu Belt. *In*, Ichikawa, K. *et al.* (eds.), *Pre-Cretaceous Terranes of Japan*, p. 25-40. IGCP 224 Publication.
- Konishi, K., 1952: Permian microfossils in the Dodo conglomerate of the Yasuba-type. In Transactions and proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan. New series, vol. 5, p. 155-165.
- Konishi, K., 1956: *Anatolipora*, a new Dasycladacean Genus, and its Algal Association from the Lower Carboniferous of Japan. *Quart. Colorado School of Mines*, vol. 51, p. 109-127.
- Kurihara, T. and Sashida, K., 2000: Early Silurian (Llandoverian) radiolarians from the Ise area of the Hida" Gaien" Belt, central Japan. *Paleontological Research*, vol. 4, p. 147-162.
- Kurihara, T., Tsukada, K., Otoh, S., Kashiwagi, K., Chuluun, M., Byambadash, D., Boijr, B., Gonchigdorj, S., Nuramkhan, N., Niwa, M., Tokiwa, T., Hikichi, G. and Kozuka, T., 2009: Upper Silurian and Devonian pelagic deep-water radiolarian chert from the Khangai–Khentei belt of Central Mongolia: evidence for Middle Paleozoic subduction–accretion activity in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt. *Journal of Asian Earth Sciences*, vol. 34, p. 209-225.
- Kuwano, Y., 1987: Early Devonian conodonts and ostracodes from central Japan. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum. Series C*, vol. 13, p. 77-105.
- Lang, W. H., 1926: II. Contributions to the study of the Old Red Sandstone Flora of Scotland.
 I. On Plant Remains from the Fish-Beds of Cromarty. II. On a Sporangium-bearing Branch-System from the Stromness Beds. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Edinburgh*, *Earth and Environmental Science*, vol. 54, p. 253-279.

- Lang, W. H., 1931: On the spines, sporangia, and spores of *Psilophyton princeps*, Dawson, shown in specimens from Gaspé. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B*, vol. 219, p. 421-442.
- Lang, W. H., 1937: On the plant-remains from the Downtonian of England and Wales. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series* B, vol. 227, p. 245-291.
- Lanninger, E. P., 1968: Sporengesellschaften aus dem Ems der SW-Eifel (Rheinisches Schiefergebirge). Verlag nicht ermittelbar, 67 p.
- Legrand, J., Yamada, T., Komatsu, T., Williams, M., Harvey, T., De Backer, T., Vandenbroucke, T. R., Nguyen, P. D., Doan, H. D. and Nguyen, H. B., 2021: Implications of an early land plant spore assemblage for the late Silurian age of the Si Ka Formation, northern Vietnam. *Annales de Paléontologie*, vol. 107, 102486.
- Li, Y. and Takeuchi, M., 2021: U–Pb dating of detrital zircon from Permian successions of the South Kitakami Belt, Northeast Japan: Clues to the paleogeography of the belt. *Island Arc*, vol. 31, e12435.
- Libertín, M., Bek, J. and Drábková, J., 2008: Two new Carboniferous fertile sphenophylls and their spores from the Czech Republic. *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*, vol. 53, p. 723-732.
- Ligrone, R., Duckett, J. G. and Renzaglia. K. S., 2000: Conducting tissues and phyletic relationships of bryophytes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, vol. 355, p. 795-813.
- Loboziak, S. and Alpern, B., 1978: Le bassin houiller Viséen d'Agadés (Niger). III. Les microspores. *Palinologia, Número Extraordinario*, vol. 1, p. 55-67.
- Lu, L. and Ouyang, S., 1976: The Early Devonian spore assemblage from the Xujiachong Formation at Cuifengshan, in Qujing of Yunnan. *Acta Palaeontologica Sinica*, vol. 15, p. 21-40. (in Chinese)
- Luber, A. A. and Waltz, I. E., 1938: Classification and stratigraphic value of some Carboniferous coal deposits in the U.S.S.R. *Trudy Vsesoyznogo Geologo-Razvedochnogo Ob'edineniya NKTP*, SSSR, vol. 105, p. 1-45.
- Manchuk, N., Horie, K. and Tsukada, K., 2013: Shrimp U–Pb age of the radiolarian-bearing Yoshiki Formation in Japan. *Bulletin of Geosciences*, vol. 88, p. 223-240.
- Männik, P., Maekawa, T., Tanaka, G., Komatsu, T., Siveter, D., Williams, M., Hints, O. and Vandenbroucke, T. R. A., 2018: The Ordovician and Silurian conodonts of Japan: Their biostratigraphical and paleobiogeographical significance. *Island Arc*, vol. 27, e12269.

- Marshall, J. E. A., 1996: *Rhabdosporites langii*, *Geminospora lemurata* and *Contagisporites optivus*: an origin for heterospory within the Progymnosperms. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 93, p.159-189.
- Maruyama, S., Isozaki, Y., Kimura, G. and Terabayashi, M., 1997: Paleogeographic maps of the Japanese Islands: Plate tectonic synthesis from 750 Ma to the present. *Island arc*, vol. 6, p. 121-142.
- Mautino, L. R. and Anzótegui, L. M., 2000: Esporas del Mioceno y retrabajadas del Mesozoico en la Formación Chiquimil, Vallecito, provincia de Catamarca. *Ameghiniana*, vol. 37, p. 13-22.
- McElhinny, M. W., Embleton, B. J. J., Ma, X. H. and Zhang, Z. K., 1981: Fragmentation of Asia in the Permian. *Nature*, vol. 293, p. 212-216.
- McGregor, D. C., 1964: *Devonian miospores from the Ghost River Formation, Alberta*. Department of Mines and Technical Surveys, Canada, 31 p.
- McGregor, D. C., 1967: Composition and range of some Devonian spore assemblages of Canada. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 1, p. 173-183.
- McGregor, D. C., 1973: Lower and Middle Devonian spores of eastern Gaspé, Canada. I. Systematics. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 142, p. 1-77.
- McGregor, D. C., 1974: Early Devonian spores from central Ellesmere Island, Canadian Artic. *Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences*, vol. 11, p. 70-78.
- McGregor, D. C., 1984: *Late Silurian and Devonian spores from Bolivia*. Academia Nacional de Ciencias, 43 p.
- McGregor, D. C. and Camfield, M., 1976: Upper Silurian? to Middle Devonian spores of the Moose River Basin, Ontario. *Bulletin of the Geological Survey of Canada*, vol. 263, p. 1-63.
- McGregor, D. C. and Owens, B., 1966: *Illustrations of Canadian fossils: Devonian spores of eastern and northern Canada*. Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 66-30, 66 p.
- McMahon, W. J., Davies, N. S., Kleinhans, M. G. and Mitchell, R. L., 2023: Paleozoic vegetation increased fine sediment in fluvial and tidal channels: Evidence from secular changes to the mudrock content of ancient point bars. *Geology*, vol. 51, p. 136-140.
- Melchin, M. J., Sadler, P. M. and Cramer, B. D., 2020: The Silurian period. *In Geologic time scale*. (p. 695-732). Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Menendez, C. A. and Azcuy, C. L., 1969: Microflora carbónica de la ciudad de Paganzo, Provincia de La Rioja. Parte I. *Ameghiniana*, vol, 6, p. 77-97.

- Millay, M. A., Eggert, D. A. and Dennis, R. L., 1978: Morphology and ultrastructure of four Pennsylvanian prepollen types. *Micropaleontology*, vol. 24, p. 303-315.
- Miller, H., 1970: Das Problem des hypothetischen, Pazifischen Kontinentes "gesehen von der chilenischen Pazifikküste. *Geologische Rundschau*, vol. 59, p. 927-938.
- Minato, M. 1950: Toyoma-Sea, the Late Permian Inland-Sea in the Kitakami Mountainland, NE. Honsyû, Japan. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy*, vol. 26, p. 80-86.
- Minato, M., Choi, D. R., Kumano, S., Ito, K. and Tabuchi, M., 1974: Stratigraphy and radioactivity of the rocks in the Setamai-Sakari district, Kitakami Mountains, Northeast Honshu, Japan. *Journal of the Faculty of Science, Hokkaido University, Series 4, Geology and mineralogy*, vol. 16, p. 11-42.
- Minato, M., Hunahashi, M., Watanabe, J. and Kato, M., 1979: Variscan Geohistory of northern Japan: The Abean Orogeny. Tokai University Press, Tokyo, 427 p.
- Minato, M. and Kato, M., 1977: A reticulate spiriferid from the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the Kitakami Mountains, Japan. *Journal of the Faculty of Science, Hokkaido University, Series 4, Geology and mineralogy,* vol. 17, p. 619-627.
- Minato, M., Kato, M., Nakamura, K., Hasegawa, Y., Choi, D. R. and Tazawa, J., 1978: Biostratigraphy and correlation of the Permian of Japan. *Journal of the Faculty of Science, Hokkaido University. Series 4, Geology and mineralogy,* vol. 18, p. 11-47.
- Minato, M. and Okubo, M. 1948: Correlation of the Lower Carboniferous System of Japan. *The Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 54, p. 167-168.
- Miner, E. L., 1935: Paleobotanical examinations of Cretaceous and Tertiary coals: 1. Cretaceous coals from Greenland. 2. Cretaceous of Tertiary coals from Montana. *American Midland Naturalist*, vol. 6, p. 585-625.
- Misaki, A. and Ehiro, M., 2004: Stratigraphy and geologic age of the Middle Permian in the Kamiyasse-Imo district, Southern Kitakami Massif, Northeast Japan. *Journal of Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 110, p. 129-145. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Miyamoto, T. and Tanimoto, Y., 1993: Late Permian olistostrome, Kamoshishigawa Formation in the Chichibu Belt of South Kyushu, Southwest Japan. *News of Osaka Micropaleontologists, Special Volume*, p. 19-33.
- Molyneux, S. G., 2006: A palynological investigation of samples from the Devonian of SW England. British Geological Survey Internal Report, IR/06/107, 21p.
- Molyneux, S. G. and Al-Hajiri, S., 2000: Palynology of a problematic Lower Paleozoic lithofacies in central Saudi Arabia. In, Al-Hajri, S. and Owens, B. (eds.), *Stratigraphic*

Palynology of the Palaeozoic of Saudi Arabia, p. 18-41. Special GeoArabia Publication 1, Manama, BH, Gulf Petrolink.

- Morris, J. L. and Edwards, D., 2014: An analysis of vegetational change in the Lower Devonian: new data from the Lochkovian of the Welsh Borderland, UK. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 211, p. 28-54.
- Murata, M., 1972: Some Devonian corals from the Takamoriyama area, Kitakami Massif, northeast Honshu, Japan. *Saito Ho-on Kai Mus. Res. Bull.*, no. 41, p. 17-41.
- Murata, M., Kanisawa, S., Ueda, Y. and Takeda, N., 1974: Base of the Silurian System and pre-Silurian granite in the Kitakami Massif, Northeast Japan. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 80, p. 475-86.
- Murata, M., Tomooka, M. and Kaneko, A., 1997: Early- Middle Devonian fauna from middle part of the Naidaijin Formation. *Abstracts, the 104th Annual Meeting of the Geological Society of Japan*, p. 343. (in Japanese)
- Naumova, S. N., 1937: Spores and pollen of the coals of the U.S.S.R. Internat. Geol. Congr., 17th (U.S.S.R.), Report, vol. 1, p. 353-364.
- Naumova, S. N., 1939: Spores and pollen of the coals of the USSR. *Transactions of the 17th International Geological Congress, Moscow*, vol. 1, p. 353-364.
- Naumova, S. N., 1953: Spore-pollen complexes of the Upper Devonian of the Russian platform and their stratigraphic significance. *Transactions of the Institute of Geological Sciences*, *Academy of Science*, SSSR, vol. 143, p. 1-204.
- Neves, R. and Owens, B., 1966: Some Namurian camerate miospores from the English Pennines. *Pollen et Spores*, vol. 8, p. 337-360.
- Niko, S., 1989: A new Devonian cephalopod from the Nakazato Formation of the southern Kitakami Mountains. *Transactions and Proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan. New series*, p. 291-295.
- Niko, S., 1990: Early Devonian (Gedinnian) actinocerid cephalopods from the Fukuji formation, central Japan. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 64, p. 595-600.
- Niko, S., 1991: *Plicatoceras*, a new lamellorthoceratid cephalopod genus from the Gedinnian (Early Devonian) of central Japan. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 65, p. 917-919.
- Niko, S., 1993: Orthoceratid cephalopods from the Early Devonian Fukuji Formation of Gifu Prefecture, central Japan. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 67, p. 210-216.
- Niko, S., 1996: Pseudorthoceratid cephalopods from the Early Devonian Fukuji Formation of Gifu Prefecture, Central Japan. *Transactions and Proceedings of the Palaeontological Society of Japan, New Series*, vol. 181, p. 347-360.

- Niko, S., 2003: Devonian coenitid tabulate corals from the Fukuji Formation, Gifu Prefecture. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum, Series C*, vol. 29, p. 19-24.
- Niko, S., 2005: Devonian pachyporoidean tabulate corals from the Fukuji Formation, Gifu Prefecture. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum, Series C*, vol. 31, p. 13-29.
- Niko, S., 2006: Reexamination of Devonian favositid corals described from the Fukuji Formation, Gifu Prefecture. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum, Tokyo, Series C*, vol. 32, p 13-30.
- Niko, S., 2019: Middle Devonian tabulate corals from the Kamiarisu Formation, Iwate Prefecture, Japan. *Bulletin of the National Museum of Nature and Science, Series* C, vol. 45, p. 13-18.
- Okawa, H., Shimojo, M., Orihashi, Y., Yamamoto, K., Hirata, T., Sano, S. I., Ishizaki, Y., Kouchi, Y., Yanai, S. and Otoh, S., 2013: Detrital zircon geochronology of the Silurian-Lower Cretaceous continuous succession of the South Kitakami Belt, Northeast Japan. *Memoir of the Fukui Prefectural Dinosaur Museum*, vol. 12, p. 35-78.
- Okubo, M., 1950: On the Gotlandian and Devonian deposits of Hikoroichi, Kesen District. *Iwate Prefecture Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 56, p. 345-350. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Okubo, M., 1951: Trilobites from Japan. *Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku)*, vol. 4, p. 133-139. (in Japanese)
- Okubo, M., 1956: Some Devonian brachiopods and trilobites of the Southern Kitakami Mountainland. *Japanese Journal of Geology and Geography*, vol. 27, p. 37-45.
- Okura, M., and Masuda, K., 2002: New find of a placoderm fish from the middle Devonian Nakazato Formation in northeastern Japan. *Fossils (Palaeontological Society of Japan)*, vol. 72, p.17-20. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Onuki, Y. 1956: Geology of the Kitakami Massif. *In*, Iwate Prefecture (ed.), *Explanatory Text* of the Geology of Iwate Prefecture. Sasaki Shuppan, Sendai, 189 p. (in Japanese)
- Ozawa, K., Maekawa, H., Shibata, K., Asahara, Y. and Yoshikawa, M., 2015: Evolution processes of Ordovician–Devonian arc system in the South-Kitakami Massif and its relevance to the Ordovician ophiolite pulse. *Island Arc*, vol. 24, p. 73-118.
- Pan H.-Z. and Cook A. G., 2003: Early Devonian gastropods from Zhusilenghaierhan Region, western Inner Mongolia, China. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 77, p. 31-43.
- Pflug, H. D., 1953: Zur Entstehung und Entwicklung des angiospermiden Pollens in der Erdgeschichte. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 95, p. 60-171.

- Phillips, T. L. and DiMichele, W. A., 1992: Comparative ecology and life-history biology of arborescent lycopsids in Late Carboniferous swamps of Euramerica. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, vol. 79, p. 560-588.
- Phillips, T. L., Peppers, R. A., Avcin, M. J. and Laughnan, P. F., 1974: Fossil plants and coal: patterns of change in Pennsylvanian coal swamps of the Illinois Basin. *Science*, vol, 184, p. 1367-1369.
- Playford, G., 1983: The Devonian miospore genus Geminospora Balme, 1962: a reappraisal based upon topotypic G. lemurata (type species). Association of Australasian Palaeontologists, Memoir, vol. 1, p. 311-325.
- Playford, G., Dino, R. and Marques-Toigo, M., 2001: The upper Paleozoic miospore genus Spelaeotriletes Neves and Owens, 1966, and constituent Gondwana species. Journal of South American Earth Sciences, vol. 14, p. 593-608.
- Playford, G., Gonzalez, F., Moreno, C. and Al Ansari, A., 2008: Palynostratigraphy of the Sarhlef Series (Mississippian), Jebilet Massif, Morocco. *Micropaleontology*, vol. 54, p. 89-124.
- Potonié, R., 1956: Synopsis der Gattungen der Sporae dispersae. I. Teil: Sporites. *Beihefte zum Geologischen Jahrbuch*, vol. 23, p. 1-103.
- Potonié, R., 1958: Synopsis der Gattungen der Sporae dispersae. II. Teil: Sporites (Nachträge), Saccites, Aletes, Praecolpates, Polyplicates, Monocolpates. *Beihefte zum Geologischen Jahrbuch*, vol. 31, p. 1-114.
- Potonié, R., 1960: Synopsis der Gattungen der Sporae dispersae. III. Teil: Nachträge Sporites, Fortsetzung Pollenites mit Generalregister zu Teil I-III. *Beihefte zum Geologischen Jahrbuch*, vol. 39, p. 1-189.
- Potonié, R., 1966: Synopsis der Gattungen der Sporae dispersae. IV. Teil: Nachträge zu allen Gruppen (Turmae). *Beihefte zum Geologischen Jahrbuch*, vol. 72, p. 1-244.
- Potonié, R., 1970a: Synopsis der Gattungen der Sporae dispersae. V. Teil: Nachträge zu allen Gruppen (Turmae). *Beihefte zum Geologischen Jahrbuch*, vol. 87, p. 1-222.
- Potonié, R., 1970b: Synopsis der Gattungen der Sporae dispersae. VI. Teil: Nachträge zu allen Gruppen (Turmae). *Beihefte zum Geologischen Jahrbuch*, vol. 94, p. 1-176.
- Potonié, R., 1975: Synopsis der Gattungen der Sporae dispersae. VII. Teil: Nachträge zu allen Gruppen (Turmae). *Fortschritte in der Geologie von Rheinland und Westfalen*, vol. 25, p. 23-150.
- Potonié, R. and Kremp, G., 1954: Die Gattungen der paläozoischen Sporae dispersae und ihre Stratigraphie. *Geologisches Jahrbuch*, vol. 69, p. 111-194.

- Potonié, R. and Kremp, G., 1955: Die Sporae dispersae des Ruhrkarbons, ihre Morphographie und Stratigraphiemit Ausblicken auf Arten anderer Gebiete und Zeitabschnitte Teil I. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 98, p. 1-136.
- Pratt, L. M., Phillips, T. L. and Denisson, J. M., 1978: Evidence of non-vascular land plants from the early Silurian (Llandoverian) of Virginia, U.S.A. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 25, p. 121-149.
- Radforth, N. W. and McGregor, D. C., 1954: Some plant microfossils important to pre-Carboniferous stratigraphy and contributing to our knowledge of the early floras. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, vol. 32, p. 601-621.
- Richardson, J. B., 1965: Middle Old Red Sandstone spore assemblages from the Orcadian basin, northeast Scotland. *Paleontology*, vol. 7, p. 559-605.
- Richardson, J. B., 1967: Some British Lower Devonian spore assemblages and their stratigraphic significance. *Review of Paleobotany and Palynology*, vol. 1, p. 111-129.
- Richardson, J. B., 1988: Late Ordovician and Early Silurian cryptospores and miospores from Northeast Libya. *In*, EL-Arnauti, A., Owens, B. and Thusu, B. (eds.), *Subsurface Palynostratigraphy of northeast Libya*, p. 89-110. Garyounis University Publications, Benghazi, Libya.
- Richardson, J. B., 1992: Origin and evolution of the earliest land plants. *In*, Schopf, J. W. (ed.), *Major Events in the History of Life*, p. 95-118. Jones and Bartlett, Boston.
- Richardson, J. B., 1996: Lower and Middle Paleozoic records of terrestrial palynomorphs. *In*, Jansonius, J. and McGregor, D. C. (eds.), *Palynology: principles and applications, volume*2. American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists Foundation, p. 555-574.
- Richardson, J. B., 2007: Cryptospores and miospores, their distribution patterns in the Lower Old Red Sandstone of the Anglo-Welsh Basin, and the habitat of their parent plants. *Bulletin of Geosciences*, vol. 82, p. 355-364.
- Richardson, J. B., Ford, J. H. and Parker, F., 1984: Miospores, correlation and age of some Scottish Lower Old Red Sandstone sediments from the Strathmore region (Fife and Angus). *Journal of Micropaleontology*, vol. 3, p. 109-124.
- Richardson, J. B. and Lister, T. R., 1969: Upper Silurian and Lower Devonian spore assemblages from the Welsh Borderland and South Wales. *Paleontology*, vol. 12, p. 201-252.
- Richardson, J. B, and McGregor, D. C., 1986: Silurian and Devonian spore zones of the Old Red Sandstone continent and adjacent regions. *Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin*, vol. 364, p. 1-79.

- Saito, M., Miyazaki, K., Toshimitsu, S. and Hoshizumi, H., 2005: Quadrangle Series, 1:50,000. Geology of the Tomochi district. *Geological Survey of Japan*, AIST, 218. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Sakagami, S., 1962: Lower Carboniferous bryozoa from the Hikoroichi Series, Japan. *Transactions and proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan. New series*, vol, 46, p. 227-242.
- Sakagami, S., 1970: On the Paleozoic Bryozoa of Japan and Thai-Malayan districts. *Journal* of *Paleontology*, vol. 44, p. 680-692.
- Schopf, J. M., 1935: The paleobotanical significance of plant structure in coal. *Ill. Acad. Sci., Trans.*, vol. 28, p. 106-110.
- Schopf, J. M., 1938: Spores from the Herrin (No. 6) coal bed in Illinois: *Illinois Geol. Survey Rept. Inv.* No. 50, pp. 1-73.
- Schopf, J. M., Wilson, L. R. and Bentall, R., 1944: An annotated synopsis of Paleozoic fossil spores and the definition of generic groups. *Illinois State Geological Survey, Report of Investigation*, vol. 91, 66 p.
- Schweitzer, H.-J., 1999: Die Devonfloren Spitzbergens. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 252 *Lieferung*, vol. 1-4, p. 1-122.
- Scott, D. L. and Rouse, G. E., 1961: *Perforosporites*, a new genus of plant spores from the Lower Devonian of eastern Canada. *Journal of Paleontology*, vol. 35, p. 977-980.
- Shepeleva, E. D., 1963: Spore complexes from the deposits of the Bavlien Series in Volg-Ural region. *Tr. Yes. Nauchn. Issled. Geologorezved. Inst.*, vol. 37, p. 7-17.
- Shibuya, H., Sasajima, S. and Yoshikura, S., 1983: A paleomagnetic study on the Silurian acidic tuffs in the Yokokurayama lenticular body of the Kurosegawa tectonic zone, Kochi Prefecture, Japan. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 89, p. 307-309.
- Shimazu, M., Tanaka, K. and Yoshida, T., 1970: Geology of Taro District, with Geological Sheet Map at 1:50,000. *Geological Survey of Japan*, 54 p. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Smith, A. H. V., 1971: Microfossiles organiques du Paléozoique. 4. Les spores. 2. Le genre Verrucosisporites. Commission Internationale de Microflore du Paléozoique, *Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique*, p. 35-87.
- Smith, A. H. V. and Butterworth, M. A., 1967: Microspores in the coal seams of the Carboniferous of Great Britain. *Special Papers in Paleontology*, vol. 1, p. 1-324.
- Staplin, F. L. and Jansonius, J., 1964: Elucidation of some Paleozoic densospores. *Palaeontographica Abteilung*, B 114, p. 95-117.

- Steemans, P., 1989: Etude palynostratigraphique du Dévonien inférieur dans l'Ouest de l'Europe. *Memoirs of the Geological Survey of Belgium*, vol. 27, p. 1-453.
- Steemans, P., 2000: Miospore evolution from the Ordovician to the Silurian. *Review of Paleobotany and Palynology*, vol. 113, p. 189-196.
- Steemans, P., Hérissé, A. L., Melvin, J., Miller, M. A., Paris, F., Verniers, J. and Wellman, C. H., 2009: Origin and radiation of the earliest vascular land plants. *Science*, vol. 324, p. 353-353.
- Steemans, P. and Wellman, C. H., 2018: A key for the identification of cryptospores. *Palynology*, vol. 42, p. 492-503.
- Stocker, C., 2021: The palaeobiogeographical significance of the Silurian and Devonian trilobites of Japan. *Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Leicester*, p. 1-362.
- Stocker, C., Tanaka, G., Siveter, D. J., Lane, P., Tsutsumi, Y., Komatsu, T., Wallis, S., Oji, T., Siveter, D. J. and Williams, M., 2018: Biogeographical and biostratigraphical significance of a new Middle Devonian Phacopid Trilobite from the Naidaijin Formation, Kurosegawa Terrane, Kyushu, southwest Japan. *Paleontological Research*, vol. 22, p. 75-90.
- Streel, M., 1964: Une association de spores du Givétien inférieur de la Vesdre, à Goé (Belgique). Annales de la Société géologique de Belgique, vol. 7, p. 236-262.
- Streel, M., 1967: Association de spores du Dévonien inférieur belge et leur signification stratigraphique. *Annales de la Société géologique de Belgique*, vol. 90, p. 11-54.
- Streel, M., Higgs, K., Loboziak, S., Riegel, W. and Steemans, P., 1987: Spore stratigraphy and correlation with faunas and floras in the type marine Devonian of the Ardenne-Rhenish regions. *Review of paleobotany and Palynology*, vol. 50, p. 211-229.
- Strother, P. K. and Foster, C., 2021: A fossil record of land plant origins from charophyte algae. *Science*, vol. 373, p. 792-796.
- Sugiyama, T., 1940: Stratigraphical and palaeontological studies of the Gotlandian deposits of the Kitakami Mountainland. Science reports of the Tohoku Imperial University, 2nd series, Geology, vol. 21, p. 81-A42.
- Sugiyama, T., 1941: A new find of *Encrinurus* from Japan. *Proceedings of the Imperial Academy*, vol. 17, p. 106-109.
- Sugiyama, T., 1944: On the Japanese trilobites. *Scientific reports, Geology. Miner. Inst., Tokyo Bunrika-Daigaku*, vol. 1, p. 20-30.

- Sugiyama, T. and Okano, H., 1941: On the discovery of Phacops (ss) from the Nakazato series (Middle Devonian) of the Kitakami mountainland, Japan. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 48, p. 357-361.
- Suzuki, J. and Minato, M., 1958: Gotlandian and Devonian volcanic activities in the Kitakami Mountains. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy*, vol. 34, p. 284-286.
- Suzuki, K., Kurihara, T., Sato, T., Ueda, H., Takahashi, T., Wilde, S. A. and Satish-Kumar, M., 2023: Detrital zircon U–Pb ages and geochemistry of Devonian–Carboniferous sandstones and volcanic rocks of the Hida Gaien belt, Southwest Japan: Provenance reveals a Gondwanan lineage for the early Paleozoic tectonic evolution of proto-Japan. *Gondwana Research*, vol. 115, p. 224-255.
- Tachibana, K., 1950: Devonian plants first discovered in Japan. *Proceedings of the Japan academy*, vol. 26, p. 54-60.
- Tachibana, K., 1952: On the Tobigamori Group of the Nagasaka district, Kitakami Mountain land. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 58, p. 445-455. (in Japanese)
- Tachibana, K., 1959: Leptophloeum in the close of the Upper Devonian in eastern Asia. Bulletin of the Faculty of Liberal Arts, Nagasaki University, vol. 9, p. 31-34.
- Tachibana, K., 1976: Silurian brachiopods from the Kesen district of the Kitakami Mountainland, Northeast Japan. *Annual Report of the Faculty of Education, Iwate University*, vol. 36, p. 31-51.
- Tachibana, K., 1981: Silurian Brachiopods from the Kitakami Mountainland, North Japan. Annual Report of the Faculty of Education, Iwate University, vol. 40, p. 29–54.
- Taira, A., 2001: Tectonic evolution of the Japanese island arc system. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, vol. 29, p. 109-134.
- Takahashi, K. and Yao, A., 1969: Plant microfossils from the Permian sandstone in the southern marginal area of the Tanba Belt. *Transactions and Proceedings of The Paleontological Society of Japan. New Series*, vol. 73, p. 41-48.
- Tanaka, G., Ono, T. and Maeda, H., 2012: A New Early Devonian Leperditicopid Arthropod: Sinoleperditia hamadai sp. nov., from Fukuji District, Gifu Prefecture, central Japan. Paleontological Research, vol. 16, p. 260-263.
- Tanaka, G., Siveter, D. J. and Williams, M., 2013: A new bivalved arthropod from the Devonian of Japan. *Paleontological Research*, vol. 17, p. 236-240.
- Tanaka, G., Siveter, D. J. and Williams, M., 2018: Devonian shallow marine ostracods from central Japan. *Island Arc*, vol. 28, E12283.

- Taylor, T. N., 1978: The ultrastructure and reproductive significance of Monoletes (Pteridospermales) pollen. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, vol. 56, p. 3105-3118.
- Tazawa, J., 1976: The Permian of Kesennuma, Kitakami Mountains: A preliminary report. *Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku)*, vol. 30, p. 175-185. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Tazawa, J. 1984: Early Carboniferous (Visean) Brachiopods from the Hikoroichi Formation of the Kitakami Mountains, Northeast Japan. *Transactions and Proceedings of the Paleontological Society of Japan, New Series*, vol. 133, p. 300-312.
- Tazawa, J., 1988: Zdimir (Devonian Brachiopoda) from the Kitakami Mountains, northeast Japan and its paleobiogeographical significance. Journal of the Geological Society of Japan, vol. 94, p. 1013-1016. (in Japanese)
- Tazawa, J., 2002: Late Paleozoic brachiopod faunas of the South Kitakami Belt, Northeast Japan, and their paleobiogeographic and tectonic implications. *Island Arc*, vol. 11, p. 287-301.
- Tazawa, J., 2004: Palaeozoic and Mesozoic tectonics of the Hida Gaien Belt, central Japan: overview. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 110, p. 567-579. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Tazawa, J. and Chen, X., 2001: Middle Devonian brachiopods from the Nakazato Formation, South Kitakami Belt, Northeast Japan and their palaeobiogeographical affinity with those of western Inner Mongolia. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 107, p. 706-710.
- Tazawa, J. and Takaizumi, Y., 1987: Poikilosakos (Oldhaminidina, Brachiopoda) from the Permian of northeast Japan. *Transactions and proceedings of the Paleontological Society* of Japan, New series, vol. 145, p. 10-15.
- Tazawa, J., Yang, W.-P. and Miyake, Y., 2000: Cyrtospirifer and Leptophloeum from the Devonian Rosse Formation, Hida Gaien Belt, central Japan. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 106, p. 727. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Thomas, B. A., 1978: Carboniferous Lepidodendraceae and Lepidocarpaceae. *The Botanical Review*, vol. 44, p. 321-364.
- Thomson, P. W. and Pflug, H., 1953: Pollen und Sporen des mitteleuropäischen Tertiärs, *Palaeontographica*, B 94, p.1-138.
- Tian, J., Zhu, H., Huang, M. and Liu, F., 2011: Late Silurian to Early Devonian palynomorphs from Qujing, Yunnan, southwest China. *Acta Geologica Sinica* (English Edition), vol. 85, p. 559-568.
- Torsvik, T. H. and Cocks, L. R. M., 2016: *Earth history and paleogeography*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 317 p.
- Traverse, A., 2007: Paleopalynology. 2nd Edition. Springer, Berlin, 816 p.
- Tsukada, K., 2005: Tabulate corals from the Devonian Fukuji Formation, Hida Gaien belt, central Japan-Part 1. *Bulletin of Nagoya University Museum*, vol. 21, p. 57-125.
- Tsukada, K., Takeuchi, M. and Kojima, S., 2004: Redefinition of the Hida Gaien belt. *Journal* of the Geological Society of Japan, vol. 110, p. 640-658. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Ueda, F., 1963: The geologic structure of the Permian and Triassic System in the Toyoma and Maiya districts, Southern Kitakami Massif, Northeast Japan. *Journal of the Toyo University, General Education*, vol. 4, p. 1-78. (in Japanese with English abstract).
- Umeda, M., 1996a: Correlation among the Middle Paleozoic formations in the Kurosegawa, Hida-Gaien and South Kitakami belts, based on the radiolarian fossils. *Earth Monthly*, vol. 18, p. 718-723. (in Japanese)
- Umeda, M., 1996b: Radiolarian fossils from the Ono and Nakazato formations in the southern Kitakami Massif, Northeast Japan. *Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku)*, vol. 50, p. 331-336. (in Japanese)
- Umeda, M., 1998: The Siluro-Devonian Yokokurayama Group in the Yokokurayama area, Kochi, Southwest Japan. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 104, p. 365-376. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Umemura, H. and Hara, I., 1985: Tectonics in the Abukuma metamorphic belt. *Memoir of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 25, p. 127-136. (in Japanese with English abstract)
- Umnova, V. T., 1971: On the Devonian/Carboniferous boundary in the central regions of the Russian Platform by palynological data. Izvestiya Akademii Nauk SSSR, Seriya Geologicheskaya, vol. 4, p. 109-122. (in Russian).
- Uno, K., Furukawa, K. and Hada, S., 2011: Margin-parallel translation in the western Pacific: Paleomagnetic evidence from an allochthonous terrane in Japan. *Earth and Planetary Science*, vol. 303, p. 153-161.
- Utting, J. and Piasecki, S., 1995: Palynology of the Permian of northern continents: a review. In, Scholle, P. A., Peryt, T. M. and Ulmer-Scholle, D. S. (eds.), The Permian of Northern Pangea, Volume 1: Paleogeography, Paleoclimates, Stratigraphy, p. 236-261. Springer, Berlin.
- Uyeda, S. and Kanamori, H., 1979: Back arc opening and the mode of subduction. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, vol. 84, p. 1049-1061.

- van Hoof, T. B., Falcon-Lang, H. J., Hartkopf-Fröder, C. and Kerp, H., 2013: Coniferdominated palynofloras in the Middle Pennsylvanian strata of the De Lutte-6 borehole, The Netherlands: implications for evolution, palaeoecology and biostratigraphy. *Review* of Palaeobotany and Palynology, vol. 188, p. 18-37.
- Vandenbroucke, T. R., Hints, O., Williams, M., Wallis, S., Velleman, J., Kurihara, T., Tanaka, G., Komatsu, T., Mannik, P., Siveter, D. J. and de Backer, T., 2019: Chitinozoans and scolecodonts from the Silurian and Devonian of Japan. *Island Arc*, vol. 28, e12294.
- Vecoli, M. and Le Hérissé, A., 2004: Biostratigraphy, taxonomic diversity and patterns of morphological evolution of Ordovician acritarchs (organic-walled microphytoplankton) from the northern Gondwana margin in relation to palaeoclimatic and palaeogeographic changes. *Earth-Science Reviews*, vol. 67, p. 267-311.
- Vigran, J. O., 1964: Spores from Devonian deposits, Mimerdalen, Spitsbergen. Norsk Polarinstitutt, Oslo. Norsk PolarinstitutT Skrifter, vol. 132, p. 1-32.
- Wagner, N., Eble, C., Hower, J. and Falcon, R., 2019: Petrology and palynology of select coal samples from the Permian Waterberg Coalfield, South Africa. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, vol. 204, p. 85-101.
- Wakita, K., 2013: Geology and tectonics of Japanese islands: A review The key to understanding the geology of Asia. *Journal of Asian Earth Sciences*, vol. 72, p. 75-87.
- Wakita, K., 2019: Tectonic setting required for the preservation of sedimentary mélanges in Palaeozoic and Mesozoic accretionary complexes of southwest Japan. *Gondwana Research*, vol. 74, p. 90-100.
- Wakita, K., Nakagawa, T., Sakata, M., Tanaka, N. and Oyama, N., 2018: Phanerozoic accretionary history of Japan and the western pacific margin. *Geological Magazine*, vol. 158, p. 13-29.
- Wang, D. M., 2007: Two species of *Zosterophyllum* from South China and dating of the Xujiachong Formation with a biostratigraphical Method. *Acta Geologica Sinica*, vol. 81, p. 525-538.
- Wang, D. M. and Hao, S. G., 2001: A new species of vascular plants from the Xujiachong Formation (Lower Devonian) of Yunnan Province, China. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 114, p. 157-174.
- Wang, D. M., Hao, S. G. and Liu, Z. F., 2002: Researches on plants from the Lower Devonian Xujiachomg Formation in the Qujing district, eastern Yunnan. *Acta Geologica Sinica*, vol. 76, p. 393-407.

- Wellman, C. H., 2006: Spore assemblages from the Lower Devonian "Lower Old Red Sandstone" of the Rhynie outlier, Scotland. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh: Earth Sciences*, vol. 97, p. 167-211.
- Wellman, C. H., Edwards, D. and Axe, L., 1998a: Ultrastructure of laevigate hilate spores in sporangia and spore masses from the upper Silurian and Lower Devonian of the Welsh Borderland. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, Series B*, vol. 353, p. 1983-2004.
- Wellman, C. H., Edwards, D. and Axe, L., 1998b: Permanent dyads in sporangia and spore masses from the Lower Devonian of the Welsh Borderland. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, vol. 127, p. 117-147.
- Wellman, C. H. and Richardson, J. B., 1993: Terrestrial plant microfossils from Silurian iniliers of the Midland Valley of Scotland. *Palaeontology*, vol. 36, p. 155-193.
- Wellman, C. H., Steemans, P. and Lopes, G., 2023: Dispersed spore assemblages from the Lower Devonian Rañeces-La Vid groups of northern Spain: Palaeogeographical implications. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 310, 104825.
- Wellman, C. H., Zhu, H., Marshall, J. E., Wang, Y., Berry, C. M., and Xu, H., 2012: Spore assemblages from the Lower Devonian Xujiachong Formation from Qujing, Yunnan, China. *Palaeontology*, vol. 55, p. 583-611.
- Williams, M., Wallis, S., Oji, T. and Lane, P. D., 2014: Ambiguous biogeographical patterns mask a more complete understanding of the Ordovician to Devonian evolution of Japan. *Island Arc*, vol. 23, p. 76-101.
- Yabe, H., and Endo, S., 1920: Discovery of a stem of *Calamites* from the Paleozoic of Japan. *Journal of the Geological Society of Japan*, vol. 27, p. 65-69.
- Yabe, H. and Sugiyama, T., 1937: Preliminary report on the fossiliferous Gotlandian and Devonian deposits newly discovered in the Kitakami Mountainland. *Proceedings of the Imperial Academy*, vol. 13, p. 417-420.
- Yamamoto, S., 2010: Tectonic erosion: new perspectives on Pacific-type orogeny and continental growth models. *Journal of Geography-Chigaku Zasshi*, vol. 119, p. 963-998.
- Yanagida, Y., Tanimoto, Y. and Miyamoto, T., 1987: On Devonian New World's brachiopods from the "Yuzuruha" Formation in Yabe-cho, Kumamoto Prefecture, Japan. *Geological Society Western Japan Section Bulletin*, vol. 87, p. 15.
- Yanagisawa, I., 1967: Geology and paleontology of the Takakurayama-Yaguki area, Yotsukura-cho, Fukushima Prefecture. *Science reports of the Tohoku University*, *Geology*, vol. 39, p. 63-112.

- Yang, W. P. and Tazawa, J., 2000a: Spores and pollen from the Middle Permian Kanokura Formation in the Kamiyasse area, southern Kitakami Mountains, northeast Japan. *Scientific Report Niigata University, Series* E, vol. 15, p. 35-47.
- Yang, W. P. and Tazawa, J., 2000b: Early Carboniferous miospores from the southern Kitakami Mountains, northeast Japan. *Paleontological Research*, vol. 4, p. 57-67.
- Zhou, Y. X., 1994: Earliest pollen-dominated microfloras from the early Late Carboniferous of the Tian Shan Mountains, NW China: their significance for the origin of conifers and palaeophytogeography. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, vol. 81, p. 193-211.
- Zhou, Z. and Campbell, K. S. W., 1990: Devonian phacopacean trilobites from the Zhusilenghaierhan region, Ejin Qi, western Inner Mongolia, China. *Palaeontograhica Abteilung*, A 214, p. 57-77.
- Ziegler, A. M., 1990: Phytogeographic patterns and continental configurations during the Permian Period. *Geological Society, London, Memoirs*, vol. 12, p. 363-379.

List of Figures

- **Figure 1.** International Chronostratigraphic Chart (v 2023/09) (International Commission on Stratigraphy; https://stratigraphy.org/chart).
- **Figure 2.** Evolutionary scenario for the terrestrialization process of plants (Fürst-Jansen *et al.*, 2020).
- Figure 3. Tectonic evolution of Japan (modified from Cocks and Torsvik, 2013; Torsvik and Cocks, 2016).
- Figure 4. Late Permian terrestrial floras (Bernardi et al., 2017).
- Figure 5. The distribution of Paleozoic rocks in Japan (Isozaki, 2019).
- **Figure 6.** Map showing the geographical location of the three major fossil-bearing terranes of Ordovician, Silurian and Devonian rocks in Japan (Williams *et al.*, 2014).
- **Figure 7.** Stratigraphic summary of key fossil-bearing Ordovician, Silurian and Devonian formations in Japan (Williams *et al.*, 2014).
- **Figure 8.** Location of the Silurian to Devonian outcrops (in red) in the South Kitakami Belt of Iwate Prefecture, northeast Japan (Stocker, 2021).
- Figure 9. Location of the Silurian and Devonian outcrops (in red) in the Hida Gaien Belt in central Honshu (Stocker, 2021).
- Figure 10. Location of the Silurian and Devonian outcrops in the Kurosegawa Belt in southwestern Japan (Stocker, 2021).
- **Figure 11.** Topographical maps of sampled locality in the South Kitakami Belt (maps from Geographical Survey Institute; https://maps.gsi.go.jp).

- Figure 12. Topographical maps of sampled locality in the Hida-Gaien Belt (maps from Geographical Survey Institute; https://maps.gsi.go.jp).
- **Figure 13.** Generalized stratigraphic column of the Silurian Kawauchi Formation across various localities in the Hikoroichi area (modified from Hamada, 1959).
- **Figure 14.** Generalized stratigraphic column of the Nakazato Formation (modified from Okubo, 1950; Stocker, 2021).
- Figure 15. Route map (left) and columnar section (right) of the Higuchizawa locality in the Nakazato Formation. Loc. 1, trilobite-bearing layer; Loc. 2, tuffaceous sandstone (N20°E, 90°); Loc. 3, tuffaceous sandstone (N10°E, 90°); Loc. 4, trilobite-bearing layer; Loc. 5, muddy sandstone (N16°E, 90°).
- Figure 16. Pictures of the field (2021.12.11) in the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the South Kitakami Belt, Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan. A, B. Loc. 1. C. Loc. 3. D, E. Loc. 4. F. Loc. 5 (see Figure 15 for details on localities position).
- Figure 17. Generalised stratigraphic column of the Hikoroichi Formation (modified from Tazawa, 1984).
- Figure 18. Pictures of the field in the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation (2021.12.12) of the South Kitakami Belt, Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan. A. Examination of rocks around the sampling locality. B. Examination of rocks at horizon 2021.12.12-04. C, D. Collecting material on horizon 2021.12.12-00.
- Figure 19. Generalised stratigraphic column of the Kanokura Formation (modified from Misaki and Ehiro, 2004).
- Figure 20. Pictures of the field in the Permian Kanokura Formation of the South Kitakami Belt (2021.12.13), Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan. A, B. Collecting material at horizon 2021.12.13-04. C. Close-up picture of horizon 2021.12.13-04.

- Figure 21. Stratigraphic column of the Fukuji Formation (modified from Kuwano, 1987; Stocker, 2021).
- Figure 22. Pictures of the field in the Devonian Fukuji Formation of the Hida-Gaien Belt, Gifu Prefecture, central Japan. A, B. Fukuji Onsen locality (A. Fossil boardwalk outcrop. B. Mountain trail entrance outcrop). C, D. Hitoegane locality. E-G. Ichinotani locality (E. Collecting samples for Palynology. F. *Favosites* sp. G. Corals).
- Figure 23. Sketch (I) and pictures (II) of the palynological analysis method. II, A. Fragments of rock sample. B. Residue for study. C. Slides for LM observation. D. Acid treatments in the draft chamber. E. SEM investigation and observation of marker spore *Ambitisporites avitus* from the Devonian Nakazato Formation. F. Preparing samples for SEM. G. Microscopic investigation. H. Investigation of rock sample under light microscopy for microfossil isolation and plant fragment isolation. I. LM investigation.
- Figure 24. Examples of palynological facies from studied formations. A. Permian Kanokura Formation. B. Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation. C. Devonian Nakazato Formation. D. Silurian Kawauchi Formation. Scale bar, 50 μm.
- **Figure 25.** Stratigraphical range of taxa from the Nakazato Formation, with correlation with upper Silurian-Devonian standard spore zones of Laurussia, northwestern Gondwana and South China (left part), and previous reports in the Pragian-Emsian (lower part).
- **Figure 26.** World paleomap during the Early Devonian, with location of the Laurussia and northwestern Gondwana palynostratigraphical standards, Xujiachong Formation, and presumed location of the South Kitakami Belt (modified from Torsvik and Cocks, 2016).
- Figure 27. Palynostratigraphy established for the Paleozoic of Japan.

List of Tables

- Table 1. Previous paleobotanical studies in Japan, with results of this study (in bold).
- **Table 2.** Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation of the

 South Kitakami Belt.
- **Table 3.** Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the

 South Kitakami Belt.
- **Table 4.** Botanical affinities of microfossils from the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the

 South Kitakami Belt.
- **Table 5.** Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.
- **Table 6.** Botanical affinities of microfossils from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.
- **Table 7.** Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Permian Kanokura Formation of the

 South Kitakami Belt.
- **Table 8.** Botanical affinities of microfossils from the Permian Kanokura Formation of the

 South Kitakami Belt.
- **Table 9.** Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Devonian Fukuji Formation of the Hida-Gaien Belt.
- **Table 10.** Botanical affinities of microfossils from the Devonian Fukuji Formation of the Hida-Gaien Belt.

List of Plates

- Plate I. LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation. A, F. Triangular miospore? (A, 2021.12.1209; F, 2021.12.11.leg-2-4). B. Sheet tissue. C. Acritarch?, 2021.12.1202; EF R27. D. rounded palynomorph, 2021.12.11, leg-2-4. E, Fungus. G-I. *Laevitubulus tenuis* (G, 2021.12.1209; H, 2021.12.1202). J. Sheet tissue. Scale bar, 10 µm.
- Plate II. SEM pictures of palynomorphs from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation. A-B. Acritarch?, 2021.12.11.02. C. spherules, 2021.12.11.03. D. Triangular miospore?, 2021.12.11.06. E. *Laevitubulus tenuis*, 2021.12.11.08. F. Framboid pyrite.
- Plate III. Trilete spores (A–G), plant fragments (H–I) and scolecodont (J) from the Nakazato Formation photographed under the Differential Interference Contrast Microscope. A, B, cf. *Retusotriletes* spp. (A, 2021.12.10-20a, P57/3; B, 2021.12.10-21a, C42/2); C, *Ambitisporites avitus* (2021.12.10-22a, M53); D, *Dibolisporites* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, L39/2); E, *Dictyotriletes* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, O50/4); F, *Apiculiretusispora* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, O47/2); G, *Aneurospora* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, T59/3); H, Conducting tissue (2021.12.10-20a, F45/2); I, *Laevitubulus tenuis* (2021.12.10-21a, Y49); J, Scolecodont (2021.12.10-21a, W60/1). Scale bar, 10 μm.
- Plate IV. Cryptospores (A, B) and trilete spores (C–O) from the Nakazato Formation observed under the Scanning Electron Microscope. A, *Pseudodyadospora petasus* (2021.12.11-02); B, *Laevolancis* sp. in loosely attached dyad (2021.12.11-02); C, K, L, N, *Aneurospora* spp. (C, 2021.12.10-20; K, L, 2021.12.11-03; N, 2021.12.10-21); D, F, Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) priddyi (D, 2021.12.10-20; F, 2021.12.10-20); E, *Calamospora atava* (2021.12.11-03); G, *Apiculiretusispora* sp. (2021.12.10-20); H, *Granulatisporites* cf. *muninensis* (2021.12.10-20); I, *Verrucosisporites* cf. *polygonalis* (2021.12.10-21); J, *Retusotriletes* cf. *triangulatus* (2021.12.11-03); M, *Brochotriletes* cf. *foveolatus* (2021.12.11-03); O, P, *Dibolisporites* cf. *echinaceus* (2021.12.10-18). Scale bar, 10 μm (A–O), 1 μm (P).
- Plate V. Longitudinal view of vascular tissues from the Nakazato Formation observed under the Scanning Electron Microscope. A, tracheary element with uniseriate pitting

(2021.12.10-21); B, wall fragment of a water-conducting tube showing randomly distributed minute pores of various size (2021.12.11-03). Scale bar, 10 μm.

- Plate VI. LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation. A. *Retusotriletes* cf. *crassus*, 2021.12.122.06. B. *?Spelaeotriletes* cf. *owensii*, 2021.12.12.06. C. *?Calamospora* sp., 2021.12.12.01c, Ef: C22-4. D. *Densosporites* sp., 2021.12.12.05e, Ef: S44. E. *?Monoletes* cf. *ellipsoides*, 2021.12.12.01b, Ef: S40-2. F.? *Calamospora* sp., 2021.12.12, 01e, Ef: V30. G. *?Punctatisporites* sp., 2021.12.12.06. H. *Verrucosisporites* sp., 2021.12.12.01C, Ef: P54-4. I. *?Deltoidospora* sp., 2021.12.12.06e, Ef: T49-2. J. *?Punctatisporites* sp., 2021.12.12.01e. Scale bar, 10 µm.
- Plate VII. SEM pictures of palynomorphs from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation. A-B. ?Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii, 2021.12.12.02. C-D. ?Deltoidospora sp., 2021.12.12. E, rounded palynomorph. F. Cuticle fragment, 2021.12.1205.
- Plate VIII. LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Permian Kanokura Formation. A-D. *Punctatisporites* sp. (A. Nishikori Fm-5-1; B, 2021.12.13.011b, Ef: N53; D, 2021.12.13.-8G). E-F, I. *Verrucosisporites* sp. (E, 2021.12.13.03-d-3; F, 2021.12.13.03-a-2; I, 2021.12.13.03-d-3). G, L. *Granulatisporites* sp. (G, 2021.12.13.011g, Ef: V42-2, L, 2021.12.13.03-d-3). H, J-K. *Baculatisporites* sp. (H, 2021.12.13.02e, Ef: W44-1). Scale bar, 10 μm.
- **Plate IX.** SEM pictures of microfossils from the Permian Kanokura Formation. A-D. Coral fragments. E. Pyrite crystals. F. Plant fragment showing detailed biostructures.
- Plate X. SEM pictures of palynomorphs from the Permian Kanokura Formation. A-D. Fungi.E. Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii. F. Rounded striate palynomorph.
- Plate XI. LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Devonian Fukuji Formation. A, B. Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) sp. C. Framboid pyrite. D-G. Retusotriletes sp. H-J. Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus. K. Acritarch. Scale bar, 10 μm.
- Plate XII. SEM pictures of microfossils from the Devonian Fukuji Formation. A, *Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes)* sp. B. Framboid pyrite. C, D. Crystals of pyrite.

- Plate XIII. Example of macrofossils obtained from sampled horizons in the Devonian Nakazato Formation. A. Corals (Loc. 1). B. Bryozoan (Loc. 1). C. Trilobite (Loc. 1). D-F. Trilobites (Loc. 4). Scale bar, 1 cm.
- Plate XIV. Example of macrofossils obtained from sampled horizons of the Permian Kanokura Formation. A. *Leptodus* sp. B. Bryozoan. C. *Planatrypa japonica*. D. *Pectorhyncha obtusiplicata*. E. *Orthotetes* sp. F. *Callispirina ornate*. G, H. *Monodiexodina matsubaishi*.
 I. *Fenestella crassistereoma*. J. *Rhipidomella* sp. Scale bar, 1 cm.

List of Appendix

- Appendix 1. Poster for the 2nd Asian Palaeontological Congress, Tokyo (2023.08.03-07).
- Appendix 2. Proceeding for the 2nd Asian Palaeontological Congress, Tokyo (2023.08.03-07).
- **Appendix 3.** Abstract for the 2021 Annual Meeting of the Palaeontological Society of Japan (2021.07.02-04).
- **Appendix 4.** Abstract for the 173rd Regular Meeting of the Palaeontological Society of Japan (2024.01.26-28).
- Appendix 5. Accepted manuscript for *Paleontological Research*.



Figure 1. International Chronostratigraphic Chart (v 2023/09) (International Commission on Stratigraphy; <u>https://stratigraphy.org/chart</u>).



Figure 2. Evolutionary scenario for the terrestrialization process of plants (F rst-Jansen *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 3. Tectonic evolution of Japan (modified from Cocks and Torsvik, 2013; Torsvik and Cocks, 2016).



NC: North China SC: South China Figure 4. Late Permian terrestrial floras (Bernardi *et al.*, 2017).



AC, accretionary complex; AG, arc granitoid; BS, blueschist; AK, Akiyoshi; BTL, butsuzo tectonic line; Gs, Gosaisho; I-KTL, Ishigaki-Kuga tectonic line; Kk, Kamuikotan; M-T, Mino-Tanba; MTL, Median tectonic line; Nk-Os, North Kitakami-Oshima; Nm, Nemuro; Ry, Ryoke; Sb, Sanbagawa; Sn, Sangun; Tk, Tokoro; TTL, Tanakura tectonic line.

Figure 5. The distribution of Paleozoic rocks in Japan (Isozaki, 2019).



Figure 6. Map showing the geographical location of the three major fossil-bearing terranes of Ordovician, Silurian and Devonian rocks in Japan (Williams *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 7. Stratigraphic summary of key fossil-bearing Ordovician, Silurian and Devonian formations in Japan (Williams *et al.*, 2014).



MI. P: Miyagi Prefecture

Figure 8. Location of the Silurian to Devonian outcrops (in red) in the South Kitakami Belt of Iwate Prefecture, northeast Japan (Stocker, 2021).



Figure 9. Location of the Silurian and Devonian outcrops (in red) in the Hida Gaien Belt in central Honshu (Stocker, 2021).



Figure 10. Location of the Silurian and Devonian outcrops (in red) in the Kurosegawa Belt in southwestern Japan (Stocker, 2021).



Figure 11. Topographical maps of sampled locality in the South Kitakami Belt (maps from Geographical Survey Institute; <u>https://maps.gsi.go.jp</u>).



Figure 12. Topographical maps of sampled locality in the Hida-Gaien Belt (maps from Geographical Survey Institute; <u>https://maps.gsi.go.jp</u>).











Figure 15. Route map (left) and columnar section (right) of the Higuchizawa locality in the Nakazato Formation. Loc. 1, trilobite-bearing layer; Loc. 2, tuffaceous sandstone (N20°E, 90°); Loc. 3, tuffaceous sandstone (N10°E, 90°); Loc. 4, trilobite-bearing layer; Loc. 5, muddy sandstone (N16°E, 90°).



Figure 16. Pictures of the field (2021.12.11) in the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the South Kitakami Belt, Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan. A, B. Loc. 1. C. Loc. 3. D, E. Loc. 4. F. Loc. 5 (see Figure 15 for details on localities position).



Figure 17. Generalised stratigraphic column of the Hikoroichi Formation (modified from Tazawa, 1984).



Figure 18. Pictures of the field in the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation (2021.12.12) of the South Kitakami Belt, Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan. A. Examination of rocks around the sampling locality. B. Examination of rocks at horizon 2021.12.12-04. C, D. Collecting material on horizon 2021.12.12-00.



Figure 19. Generalised stratigraphic column of the Kanokura Formation (modified from Misaki and Ehiro, 2004).



Figure 20. Pictures of the field in the Permian Kanokura Formation of the South Kitakami Belt (2021.12.13), Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan. A, B. Collecting material at horizon 2021.12.13-04. C. Close-up picture of horizon 2021.12.13-04.



Figure 21. Stratigraphic column of the Fukuji Formation (modified from Kuwano, 1987; Stocker, 2021).



Figure 22. Pictures of the field in the Devonian Fukuji Formation of the Hida-Gaien Belt, Gifu Prefecture, central Japan. A, B. Fukuji Onsen locality (A. Fossil boardwalk outcrop. B. Mountain trail entrance outcrop). C, D. Hitoegane locality. E-G. Ichinotani locality (E. Collecting samples for Palynology. F. *Favosites* sp. G. Corals).



Figure 23. Sketch (I) and pictures (II) of the palynological analysis method. II, A. Fragments of rock sample. B. Residue for study. C. Slides for LM observation. D. Acid treatments in the draft chamber.
E. SEM investigation and observation of marker spore *Ambitisporites avitus* from the Devonian Nakazato Formation. F. Preparing samples for SEM. G. Microscopic investigation. H. Investigation of rock sample under light microscopy for microfossil isolation and plant fragment isolation. I. LM investigation.



Figure 24. Examples of palynological facies from studied formations. A. Permian Kanokura Formation. B. Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation. C. Devonian Nakazato Formation. D. Silurian Kawauchi Formation. Scale bar, 50 µm.


Figure 25. Stratigraphical range of taxa from the Nakazato Formation, with correlation with upper Silurian-Devonian standard spore zones of Laurussia, northwestern Gondwana and South China (left part), and previous reports in the Pragian-Emsian (lower part).



Figure 26. World paleomap during the Early Devonian, with location of the Laurussia and northwestern Gondwana palynostratigraphical standards, Xujiachong Formation, and presumed location of the South Kitakami Belt (modified from Torsvik and Cocks, 2016).

				Crypt	ospore	ore Spore										Pollen			Algae															
			Miospore?	Laevolancis	Pseudodyadospora	Retusotriletes	Deltoidospora (Leiotrilete	Apiculiretusispora	Dibolisporites	Dictyotriletes	Ambitisporites	Aneurospora	Brochotriletes	Calamospora	Granulatisporites	Verrucosisporites	Densosporites	Auroraspora	Crassispora	Schopfites	Cyclogranisporites	Spelaeotriletes	Microreticulatisporites	Punctatosporites	Apiculatisporis	Ahrensisporites	Gondispora	Baculatisporites	Grandispora	Monoletes	Cordaitina	Limitisporites	Alisporites	Crinalites
	Lopingian	Changhsingian Wuchiapingian																																
Permian	Guadalupian	Capitanian Wordian Roadian																																
	Cisuralian	Kungurian Artinskian Sakmarian Asselian																																
Carboniferous	Pennsylvanian	Gzhelian Kasimovian Moscovian Bashkirian																																
	Mississippian	Serpukhovian Visean Tournaisian																																
	Upper	Famennian Frasnian																																
Devonian	Middle	Givetian Eifelian																																
	Lower	Emsian Pragian Lochkovian									_			_																				
	Pridoli																																	
	Ludlow	Ludfordian Gorstian																																
Silurian	Wenlock	Homerian Sheinwoodian																																
	Llandovery	Telychian Aeronian Rhuddanian																																
																						Bold	Prese	nt stud	dy.			record	ed			extend	ded re	cord

Figure 27. Palynostratigraphy established for the Paleozoic of Japan.

Table 1. Previous palaeobotanical studies in Japan, with results of this study (in bold).

NORTHEAST JAPAN

Age		Formation	Plant fossil	Location	Reference
	upper	Kashiwadaira Fm	Gigantopteris nicotianaefolia, Bicoemplectopteris hallei, Taeniopteris sp., Pecopteris sp., Odontopteris subcrenulata, Psygmophyllum? sp., Cordaites? sp.	Iwaki City, Fukushima Pref.	Yanagisawa, 1967; Asama, 1974
	mi ddl e	Kanokura Fm (KNI Member) (Kamiyasse Fm)	Ahrensisporites cf. thorsteinssonii, Apiculatisporis sp., Baculatisporites sp., Cyclogranisporites sp., Gondispora cf. obstaculifera, and Granulatisporites sp., Leiotriletes ulutus, Punctatisporites sp., Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii, Verrucosisporites sp., Alisporites sp., Limitisporites sp., Cordaitina cf. vulgaris, Crinalites cf. sabiensis	Kamiyasse area, southern Kitakami	Yang and Tazawa, 2000b; this study
	lower	Sakamotozawa Fm	Taeniopteris setamaiensis, T. motoiwaensis	Sumita village, Iwate Pref.	Asama and Murata, 1974
Permian	lower	Nishikori Fm (Rodai Fm)	Sphenophyllum cf. oblongifolium, Sphenophyllum thonii var. minor, Pecopteris toyomaensis, P. yabei, Sphenopteris tenuis, S. sp., Callipteridium koraiense, Odontopteris subcrenulata, O. yongwolensis, Cyclopteris sp., Aphlebia sp., Cathaysiopteris (=Gigantopteris) whitei, Taeniopteris latecostata, Taeniopteris cf. schenkii, T. paradensissima, T. thailandica, T. latecostata, T. nystroemii, T. mayaensis, T. setamaiensis, T. laciniata, T. arakawae, T. oishii, T. linearifolia, T. sp., Cordaites japonicus, C. palmaeformis, C. principalis, C. (Noeggerathiopsis) aralcawae, Zamiopteris glossopteroides, Zamiopteris uedae, Psygmophyllum flabellatum, P. mayaensis, Parasphenophyllum thonii var. minor, Trizygia oblongifolia, Paratrizygia maiyaensis, P. uedae	Maiya Town, Tome-gun, Miyagi Pref.	Asama, 1956, 1967, 1970, 1981
	lower	Onimaru Series	Calamites sp.	Rikuzen-Takata City, Iwate Pref.	Endo and Mori, 1969
	lower	Hikoroichi Fm, HK3 member	Psedusporochnus sp., Rhodeopteridium sp.?, Sublepidodendron? wusihense, Lepidodendron sp., Archaeocalamites scrobiculatus	Ofunato City, Iwate Pref., Kitakami mountains	Asama <i>et al.</i> , 1989
Carboni ferous	lower	Hikoroichi Fm, HK2 member	Auroraspora cf. macra, Calamospora sp., ?Calamospora sp., Crassispora trychera, Cyclogranisporites sp., ?Deltoidospora sp., Densosporites sp., ?Densosporites sp., Grandispora cf. echinata, Leiotriletes cf. incomptus, Microreticulatisporites araneum, Punctatisporites irrasus, P. minus, P. planus, ?Punctatosporites sp., Schopfites sp., Spelaeotriletes crustatus, ?Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii, S. cf. pretiosus, Verrucosisporites sp., ?Verrucosisporites sp., ?Monoletes cf. ellipsoides	Ofunato City, Iwate Pref., Kitakami mountains	Yang and Tazawa, 2000a; this study
	Upper	Tobigamori Fm ("Nakakura Fm")	Leptophloeum cfr. australe, Cyclostigma sp.	Nagasaka-mura and Takozu-mura, Higashiiwai-gun, Iwate Pref.	Tachibana, 195 <mark>0</mark> , 1959
Devonian	Lower	Nakazato Fm	Laevolancis sp., Pseudodyadospora petasus, Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus, Apiculiretusispora cf. plicata, Apiculiretusispora sp., Dibolisporites cf. eifeliensis, Dibolisporites sp., Dictyotriletes sp., Ambitisporites avitus, Calamospora atava, Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) priddyi, Aneurospora spp., Brochotriletes cf. foveolatus, Granulatisporites cf. muninensis, Verrucosisporites cf. polygonalis, Laevitubulus tenuis, Plant fragments	Ofunato City, Iwate Pref., Kitakami mountains	This study
Silurian	upper	Kawauchi Fm	Miospore?, <i>Laevitubulus tenuis</i>	Ofunato City, Iwate Pref., Kitakami mountains	This study

CENTRAL JAPAN

Permian		Tanba Belt	?Araucariacites gloriosus, ?Florinites sp. (?Cordaitales), Reticulatasporites foraminulatus, Tasmanites tanbaensis (microplankton)	Kyoto Pref.	Takahashi and Yao, 1969
	Upper	Rosse Fm	Leptophloeum rhombicum	Gifu Pref.	Tazawa et al., 2000
Devonian	Lower	Fukuji Fm	Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) sp., Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus, Retusotriletes sp.	Gifu Pref.	This study
pal eozoi c (undetermi ned)		Chichibu Fm	stems of Calamites		Yabe and Endo, 1920

SOUTHWEST JAPAN

Devonian	Upper	Naidaijin Fm ("Yuzuriha Fm")	Cyclostigma sp., Leptophloeum rhombicum, Aphyllopteris? sp.	Naidaijin, Kumamoto Pref., Kyushu	Kimura <i>et al.</i> , 1986
----------	-------	---------------------------------	--	-----------------------------------	-----------------------------

Table 2. Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.



Table 3. Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.

					Crypto	ospore							Spore	с.						Tubular remain		
Normal Section					Laevolancis sp.	Pseudodyadospora petasus	Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus	Apiculiretusispora cf. plicata	Apiculiretusispora sp.	Dibolisporites cf. eifeliensis	Dibolisporites sp.	Dictyotriletes sp.	Ambitisporites avitus	Calamospora atava	Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) priddyi	Aneurospora spp.	Brochotriletes cf. foveolatus	Granulatisporites cf. muninensis	Verrucosisporites cf. polygonalis	Laevitubulus tenuis	Plant fragment	Scolecodont
Normalization Normalinteracionatinteraction Normalization		oza	lity	2021.12.14-01																		
Normalization Normalinstation Normalization Normal		lbor	oca	2021.12.13-13																		
Normalization Normalinstation Normalization Normal		nroi	Na	2021.12.13-12																		
$ \left V_{1} $		×	_	2021.12.13-11																		
Normal Sector 1 <				2021.12.10-22									•							•		
Hu 2021.12.10-20 Image: Constraint of the second s				2021.12.10-21	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Normal relation Normal rel				2021.12.10-20		•	•	•			•		•		•	•		•		•	•	•
Normal base			H	2021.12.10-19			•													•		
Normal Participant 2021.12.10-17 Image: Control Participant Image: Contrenter Participant Image: Control Pa			oc. 1	2021.12.10-18						•	•									•	•	
Normal relation Normal rel			1	2021.12.10-17	•						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									•		
Normalization Normalinstation Normalization Normal	c			2021.12.10-16																•	•	
Normalization Normalinstation Normalization Normal	E	>		2021.12.10-15												•				•		
Normalization Normalinstation Normalization Normal	izat	calit		2021.12.10-14	•			•														•
2 3 2021.12.11-09 0 0 0 0 3 2021.12.11-08 0 0 0 0 0 3 2021.12.11-06 0 0 0 0 0 4 2021.12.11-06 0 0 0 0 0 5 2021.12.11-06 0 0 0 0 0 4 2021.12.11-12 0 0 0 0 0 2021.12.11-11 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 2021.12.11-05 0 0 0 0 0 6 2021.12.11-03 0 0 0 0 0 2021.12.11-02 0 0 0 0 0 0	aka		N	2021.12.11-10																•	•	
Image: Section of the section of t	Z	awa	SC.	2021.12.11-09							•											•
Image: Sector of the sector		chiz	3 L	2021.12.11-08																		
1 2021.12.11-06 •		ligu	oc.	2021.12.11-07	-																•	•
ig 2021.12.11-12 image: constraint of the		-		2021.12.11-00				-												•		
V21.12.11-12 V21.12.11-11 V21.12.11-01 V21.12.11-01 V21.12.11-05 V21.12.11-05 V21.12.11-04 V21.12.11-04 V21.12.11-02 V			4	2021.12.10-13																		
2021.12.11-05 • <			Loc	2021.12.11-12																		
2021.12.11-03 0 <		1		2021.12.11-11																	-	•
ig 2021.12.11-03 ig				2021.12.11-03												•	•				•	
			C. 5	2021.12.11-04																-		
			Loc	2021.12.11-03			-				-			-		-	-					
				2021 12 11-02	-	-		-	-													

Table 4. Botanical affinities of microfossils from the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.

Phylum		Microflora
	onuntochoroc	<i>Laevolancis</i> sp.
Phynianhyta	cryptospores	Pseudodyadospora petasus
Nilyinopilyta		Ambitisporites avitus
		Granulatisporites cf. muninensis
		Calamospora atava
Rhyniophyta,		Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) priddyi
Zosterophyllophyta,		Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus
or Trimerophyta	sporos	cf. Retusotriletes spp.
	spores	Apiculiretusispora cf. plicata
Lucophyta		Verrucosisporites cf. polygonalis
		Aneurospora spp.
		Dibolisporites cf. eifeliensis
Cladoxylophyta		<i>Dibolisporites</i> sp.
		<i>Dictyotriletes</i> sp.
Unknown	tubular remain	Laevitubulus tenuis

Table 5. Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the CarboniferousHikoroichi Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.

			~	Sp	ore			Pollen	
		? <i>Calamospora</i> sp.	?Deltoidospora sp.	?Densosporites sp.	? Punctatosporites sp.	?Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii	? <i>Verrucosisporites</i> sp.	?Monoletes cf. ellipsoides	Plant fragment
	2021.12.12-06				•	•	•		٠
E	2021.12.12-05		•		•		•		
hi F	2021.12.12-04								
roic	2021.12.12-03		•		•				
likol	2021.12.12-02								
T	2021.12.12-01	•	•	•	•		٠	•	
	2021.12.12-00		•						۲

Table 6. Botanical affinities of microfossils from the CarboniferousHikoroichi Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.

Phylum	Order	Microflora	Macroflora
		Auroraspora cf. macra	<i>Lepidodendron</i> sp.
		Crassispora trychera	Sublepidodendron? wusihense
Lucenhute	Luconadialaa	? Verrucosisporites sp.	
Lycophyta	Lycopoulaies	<i>Verrucosisporites</i> sp.	
		<i>Densosporites</i> sp.	
		?Densosporites sp.	
Cladoxylophyta	Pseudosporochnales		Pseudosporochnus sp.
		? <i>Calamospora</i> sp.	Archaeocalamites scrobiculatus
	Fauisatalas	<i>Calamospora</i> sp.	
	Lyuisetales	Microreticulatisporites araneum	
		<i>Schopfites</i> sp	
Manilanhyta	Filicalos	? <i>Deltoidospora</i> sp.	
Νοιπορηγια	rincales	Leiotriletes cf. incomptus	
		?Punctatosporites sp.	
	Linknown	Punctatisporites irrasus	
	OIKIOWI	Punctatisporites minus	
		Punctatisporites planus	
		Cyclogranisporites sp.	
Lycophyta or Monilop	avta	?Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii	
	nyta	Spelaeotriletes crustatus	
		Spelaeotriletes cf. pretiosus	
Pteridospermatophyta		? Monoletes cf. ellipsoides	Rhodeopteridium sp.?
Progymnospermophyte	а	Grandispora cf. echinata	

Bold: species obtained in this study

Table 7. Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Permian Kanokura Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.

				Spore		
		Punctatisporites sp.	<i>Granulatisporites</i> sp.	<i>Verrucosisporites</i> sp.	Baculatisporites sp.	Spelaeotriletes cf. owensii
	2021.12.13-10	•			•	•
	2021.12.13-09					
	2021.12.13-04	•				
Fm	2021.12.13-05	•				
ura	2021.12.13-06					
nok	2021.12.13-07	•				
Kan	2021.12.13-08	•		•	•	
	2021.12.13-01	•				
	2021.12.13-02			•	•	
	2021.12.13-03	•	•			

Table 8. Botanical affinities of microfossils from the Permian Kanokura Formation of the South Kitakami Belt.

Phylum	Order	Microflora
Lycophyta	Lepidodendrales	Gondispora cf. obstaculifera
		<i>Apiculatisporis</i> sp.
		<i>Baculatisporites</i> sp.
Manilanhyta	Filiaglas	<i>Granulatisporites</i> sp.
	Filicales	Leiotriletes ulutus
		<i>Punctatosporites</i> sp.
		<i>Verrucosisporites</i> sp.
		Ahrensisporites cf. thorsteinssonii
Lycophyta or Monilophy	ta	<i>Cyclogranisporites</i> sp.
		<i>Spelaeotriletes</i> cf. <i>owensii</i>
Dtaridaanarmatanbuta	Corystospermales	Alianaritas an
Plendospermatophyta	or Peltaspermales	Ansporties sp.
Coniferophyta	Coniferales	Cordaitina cf. vulgaris
Pteridospermophyta or (Coniferophyta	<i>Limitisporites</i> sp.
Algae	Unknown	Crinalites cf. sabiensis

Bold: species obtained in this study

Table 9. Occurrence of microfossils obtained from the Devonian Fukuji Formation of the Hida-Gaien Belt.

					Spore			
				Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) sp.	Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus	<i>Retusotriletes</i> sp.	Acritarch	Framboid Pyrite
	Hitoegan	e locality	2022.11.25-02		•			
	lehinotar	ni locality	2022.11.25-01					
		niocanty	2022.11.25-00					
		Mountain	2022.11.24-11			•		
		trail	2022.11.24-10					
		entrance	2022.11.24-09					
ш		entiance	2022.11.24-08					
kuji	Fukuii		2022.11.24-07					
Ful	Onsen		2022.11.24-06					
	locality		2022.11.24-05	•		٠	٠	٠
	locality	Fossil	2022.11.24-04					
		boardwalk	2022.11.24-03					
			2022.11.24-02					
			2022.11.24-01					
			2022.11.24-00					

Table	10.	Botanical	affinities	of microfossils	from the	Devonian	Fukuji	Formation	of
				the Hida-Gai	en Belt.				

Rhyniophyta,	Spores	<i>Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes</i>) sp.
Zosterophyllophyta,		Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus
or Trimerophyta		<i>Retusotriletes</i> sp.

Plate I



LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation. A, F. Triangular miospore? (A, 2021.12.1209; F, 2021.12.11.leg-2-4). B. Sheet tissue. C. Acritarch?, 2021.12.1202; EF R27. D. rounded palynomorph, 2021.12.11, leg-2-4. E, Fungus. G-I. *Laevitubulus tenuis* (G, 2021.12.1209; H, 2021.12.1202). J. Sheet tissue. Scale bar, 10 μm.

Plate II



SEM pictures of palynomorphs from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation. A-B. Acritarch?, 2021.12.11.02.
 C. spherules, 2021.12.11.03. D. Triangular miospore?, 2021.12.11.06. E. *Laevitubulus tenuis*, 2021.12.11.08. F. Framboid pyrite.

Plate III



Trilete spores (A–G), plant fragments (H–I) and scolecodont (J) from the Nakazato Formation photographed under the Differential Interference Contrast Microscope. A, B, cf. *Retusotriletes* spp. (A, 2021.12.10-20a, P57/3; B, 2021.12.10-21a, C42/2); C, *Ambitisporites avitus* (2021.12.10-22a, M53); D, *Dibolisporites* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, L39/2); E, *Dictyotriletes* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, O50/4); F, *Apiculiretusispora* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, O47/2); G, *Aneurospora* sp. (2021.12.10-21a, T59/3); H, Conducting tissue (2021.12.10-20a, F45/2); I, *Laevitubulus tenuis* (2021.12.10-21a, Y49); J, Scolecodont (2021.12.10-21a, W60/1). Scale bar, 10 μm.

Plate IV



Cryptospores (A, B) and trilete spores (C–O) from the Nakazato Formation observed under the Scanning Electron Microscope. A, *Pseudodyadospora petasus* (2021.12.11-02); B, *Laevolancis* sp. in loosely attached dyad (2021.12.11-02); C, K, L, N, *Aneurospora* spp. (C, 2021.12.10-20; K, L, 2021.12.10-3; N, 2021.12.10-21); D, F, *Deltoidospora (Leiotriletes) priddyi* (D, 2021.12.10-20; F, 2021.12.10-20); E, *Calamospora atava* (2021.12.11-03); G, *Apiculiretusispora* sp. (2021.12.10-20); H, *Granulatisporites* cf. *muninensis* (2021.12.10-20); I, *Verrucosisporites* cf. *polygonalis* (2021.12.10-21); J, *Retusotriletes* cf. *triangulatus* (2021.12.11-03); M, *Brochotriletes* cf. *foveolatus* (2021.12.11-03); O, P, *Dibolisporites* cf. *echinaceus* (2021.12.10-18). Scale bar, 10 μm (A–O), 1 μm (P).

Plate V



Longitudinal view of vascular tissues from the Nakazato Formation observed under the Scanning Electron Microscope. A, tracheary element with uniseriate pitting (2021.12.10-21); B, wall fragment of a water-conducting tube showing randomly distributed minute pores of various size (2021.12.11-03). Scale bar, 10 µm.

Plate VI



LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation. A. *Retusotriletes* cf. *crassus*, 2021.12.122.06. B. ?*Spelaeotriletes* cf. *owensii*, 2021.12.12.06. C. ?*Calamospora* sp., 2021.12.12.01c, Ef: C22-4. D. *Densosporites* sp., 2021.12.12.05e, Ef: S44. E. ?*Monoletes* cf. *ellipsoides*, 2021.12.12.01b, Ef: S40-2. F.? *Calamospora* sp., 2021.12.12, 01e, Ef: V30. G. ?*Punctatisporites* sp., 2021.12.12.06. H. *Verrucosisporites* sp., 2021.12.12.01C, Ef: P54-4. I. ?*Deltoidospora* sp., 2021.12.12.06e, Ef: T49-2. J. ?*Punctatisporites* sp., 2021.12.12.01e. Scale bar, 10 μm.

Plate VII



SEM pictures of palynomorphs from the Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation. A-B. ?*Spelaeotriletes* cf. *owensii*, 2021.12.12.02. C-D. ?*Deltoidospora* sp., 2021.12.12. E, rounded palynomorph. F. Cuticle fragment, 2021.12.1205.

Plate VIII



10 µm



















LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Permian Kanokura Formation. A-D. *Punctatisporites* sp. (A. Nishikori Fm-5-1; B, 2021.12.13.011b, Ef: N53; D, 2021.12.13.-8G). E-F, I. *Verrucosisporites* sp. (E, 2021.12.13.03-d-3; F, 2021.12.13.03-a-2; I, 2021.12.13.03-d-3). G, L. *Granulatisporites* sp. (G, 2021.12.13.011g, Ef: V42-2, L, 2021.12.13.03-d-3). H, J-K. *Baculatisporites* sp. (H, 2021.12.13.02e, Ef: W44-1). Scale bar, 10 μm.

Plate IX



SEM pictures of microfossils from the Permian Kanokura Formation. A-D. Coral fragments. E. Pyrite crystals. F. Plant fragment showing detailed biostructures.

Plate X



SEM pictures of palynomorphs from the Permian Kanokura Formation. A-D. Fungi. E. *Spelaeotriletes* cf. *owensii*. F. Rounded striate palynomorph.

Plate XI







 $10\ \mu m$



LM pictures of palynomorphs from the Devonian Fukuji Formation. A, B. *Deltoidospora* (*Leiotriletes*) sp. C. Framboid pyrite. D-G. *Retusotriletes* sp. H-J. *Retusotriletes* cf. *triangulatus*. K. Acritarch. Scale bar, 10 µm.



SEM pictures of microfossils from the Devonian Fukuji Formation. A, *Deltoidospora* (*Leiotriletes*) sp. B. Framboid pyrite. C, D. Crystals of pyrite.

Plate XIII



Example of macrofossils obtained from sampled horizons in the Devonian Nakazato Formation. A. Corals (Loc. 1). B. Bryozoan (Loc. 1). C. Trilobite (Loc. 1). D-F. Trilobites (Loc. 4). Scale bar, 1 cm.

Plate XIV



Example of macrofossils obtained from sampled horizons of the Permian Kanokura Formation.
A. Leptodus sp. B. Bryozoan. C. Planatrypa japonica. D. Pectorhyncha obtusiplicata. E. Orthotetes sp. F. Callispirina ornate. G, H. Monodiexodina matsubaishi. I. Fenestella crassistereoma. J. Rhipidomella sp. Scale bar, 1 cm.

SHIZUOKA 静岡大学 <mark>創造科学技術大学院</mark> UNIVERSITY Graduate School of Science and Technology, Shizuoka University

OLDEST TERRESTRIAL FLORA OF JAPAN OBTAINED FROM THE DEVONIAN NAKAZATO FORMATION OF THE SOUTH KITAKAMI BELT, NORTHEAST JAPAN

Ahmed MAHER (Graduate School of Science and Technology, Shizuoka University, Japan; Department of Geology, Faculty of Science, Al-Azhar University, Egypt), Toshifumi KOMATSU (Faculty of Advanced Science and Technology, Kumamoto University, Japan), Toshihiro YAMADA (Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences, Faculty of Science, Hokkaido University, Japan), Julien LEGRAND (Department of Geosciences, Faculty of Science; Graduate School of Science and Technology, Shizuoka University, Japan).

Silurian-Devonian is a crucial period for understanding the process of terrestrialization and early diversification of embryophytes. We conduct a wide palynological study for first time on Japanese Paleozoic sediments, and report here a well-preserved spore assemblage recovered from the Nakazato Formation outcropping in the Hikoroichi area of the South Kitakami Belt, Iwate Prefecture, NE Japan. The assemblage, which represents the oldest flora of Japan, is consistent with an Emsian-Eifelian age. It composed of cryptospores, probably produced by hepatics, and spores with affinities to the rhyniophytes and zosterophyllophytes, associated with abundant plant fragments including woods, tabular remains and cuticles. Most elements are cosmopolitan or widely distributed, but a comparison with previously reported microfloras from adjacent areas agrees with a probable location of the South Kitakami Belt close to the South China block during the Devonian.

GEOLOGIC SETTING

In Japan, Silurian to Devonian fossil-bearing sediments are mainly distributed in three terranes: the South Kitakami Terrane in Northeast Japan, the Fukuji and Kuzuryu areas of the Hida Gaien Terrane in central Japan, and the Yokokurayama area of Shikoku and Gionyama area of Kyushu included in the Kurosegawa Terrane in Southwest Japan (Williams *et al.*, 2014; Isozaki, 2019). These sediments yield a rich fauna dominated by corals and including sponges, stromatoporoids, echinoderms, bryozoans, brachiopods, cephalopods, tentaculitids, bivalves, gastropods, trilobites, ostracods, conodonts, dendroid graptolites and

radiolarians (e.g., Kato et al., 1980). The South Kitakami Belt consists of early Paleozoic igneous and metamorphic basement rocks covered by shallow-marine sediments deposited from the late Ordovician to Lower Cretaceous (Isozaki et al., 2011).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

We collected 28 mudstone samples from the Nakazato Formation in the Hikoroichi area of the South Kitakami Belt, outcropping along the upper stream of the Higuchizawa river, around 5 km northwest of Ofunato City, Iwate Prefecture, Northeast Japan. Brachiopods and corals were observed on the field in many horizons when we collected the samples along with trilobites including *Rhinophacops* suggesting age of the Emsian/Eifelian boundary (Kaneko, 2007). Microfossils were extracted following the methods of Legrand *et al.* (2021).



D

RESULTS

We obtained well-preserved palynomorphs composed of two species of cryptospores and 15 species of trilete spores, associated with abundant plant fragments including mass of conducting cells, tabular remains and cuticles. Most palynomorphs are abundant and diversified, represented by retusoid, apiculate, verrucate and reticulate spores, were obtained from horizons 2021. 12. 10-20 and -21.





Teilete spores (A-G), plant fregmonts (H-D) and scolecodont (J) from the Nokozato Formation (2011;12:10-20 and -21) beorved and ref the Differential Interforence Contrast Microscope, A. Reasonridees simplics, B. Reusonridees sp.: C. Ambitagorites avitas: D. Diologonetic sp.: E. Diceyoriteise ensimistis: F. Ajeliaritensityora plicates. G. Amenrogore sujuchongensis; H. Conducting tissue; I. Laevitubulus tenuits; J. Scolecodont. Scale bar, 10 µm.

Cryptospores (A, B) and trilete spores (C-O) from the Nakazato Formation (2021.12.10-18, -20, -21; 2021.12.11-02, -03) observed under the Scanning Electron Microscope, A, Pendodyulaoppen petaus; B, Lacovanices șin incosol; attached dyać, C, Anhibiporties syn, JD, Amhitsporties avaius; E, Calamospora atava; F, Deliolalospor (Laioriteles) priday; G, Apicultrastispore placat; H, Granutatisporties minimensis; I errancosiporties obygoniles; J, Renaoriteles cf. raingulana; K, L, Aneurospora vajucchongensis; M, Brochoriteies foreolans; N, Geninopora vanibarduce, O, P. Diologoptice ajelfaensis. Scale ba, I JD m(-0, N), J µm (O).

2- Vegetational characteristics of the Nakazato palynoassemblage DISCUSSION 3- Paleophytogeographic significance of the Nakazato palynoassemblag DISCUSSION 1- Age of the Natzato Formation inferred from palynoflora. Spore zonations established in Gondwana and Laurussia indicate a late Progian age for the Natzato assemblage, white those in Laurussia suggest a Pragian-early Emsian age. The Natzato assemblage shares similarities with assemblages in China, which are considered to be Pragina (Tian *et al.*, 2011) or late Pragian-Emsian in age (Gau, 1981). On the other hand, based on trilobite and radiolarian assemblages, the N3 Member of the Natzazto Formation has been signed an Emsian to Givetian age (Kobaystali and Hamada, 1977). Trilobite biostratigraphy further narrows down the age of the N3 Member to the latest Emsian-cartiest Eifclain (Kancko, 2007). It is possible to hypothesize that there was a time lag in the appearances and disappearances of indices between the Nakazato area and other regions. The Nakazato palynoflora predominantly consists of cosmopolitan taxa but den closest similarities to those of South China. In particular, the palynoflora report Xujiachong Formation shows strong similarities in its composition cline Denotypewee Dependence and the second second second second second possibly lived in proximity to freshwater areas. The abundance of laveigate spores represented by Returnites suggests that the zosterophyllophytes constituted major vegetation in the backland of the Kakzato Formation. Their spores should have been easily transported by the rivers towards the Palaco-Tethys Ocean and trapped in shallow marine sediments of the South Kinkami Belt. The abundance of spores redulated framents found in the Nakzato assemblage could suggest that World paleomap during the Early Devonian, with lo palynostratigraphical standards, Xujiachong Format cation of the Laurussis ion, and presumed locs and plant fragments found in the Nakazato assemblage could suggest the entrapment site was located near the living habitats of these plants CONCLUSION REFERENCES ered from the N3 Member of the Nakazato Formation consists Review of Pala Gao, L., 1981. Devotina spore assemblages of China. Review of Phaleneboaray and Phyloadegr, vol. 3, pp. Storkal, Y., Aljinovi, D., and Kwavhat, H., 2010. The Guadaphuey Horminal Xearmur even in European Phaleneogrogeraphy. Fulaeocciduatology, vol. 308, pp. 12–21. Kando, A., 2007. Nakazaba Trishofte Famel Endyt vo Middle Devotina). Ababler Philolation in Commer Professor Hadas Kamei. Yabbi birthdyg, Commercuity Association of Professor Kamei Tadao's 80 Todaya. Dia Alexanda Trishofte Famel Endyt works. 2012. Starkar, 2012. Kalaya, 2012. Sing Chinaga Sharkara, 2013. Review Starkara, 2013. Review Starkara, 2013. Review Starkara, 2013. Review Starkara, 2014. Review Starkara, 2017. Review Starkara, 2014. Review In spore assuming, terroreter new new rown with the valuation of the same transmission of the spore spectra of the same spectra of the spectr defined stratigraphic standards of Laurussia and northwestern Gondwana, suggests a Pragian Emsian age slightly older than the latest Emsian to earliest Eifelian, as estimated by marin index fossils. This palynoassemblage closely resembles "contemporaneous" assemblages fron Kobyrain, T. and Humah, T. 1977. Outline of Devonism trilohities in Japan. Proceedings of the Japan Academy, vol. 35, p. 147–13. Legmid, J., Vamaha, T., Komitsu, T., Willins, M., Harvey, T., De Hucker, T., Vandesbroack, T. R., Nguyes, P. D., Legmid, J., Vamaha, T., Komitsu, T., Willins, M., Harvey, T. De Hucker, T. Vandesbroack, T. R., Nguyes, P. D., and K. J. K. Strandson, and S. K. Sandara, and K. S. Sandara, K. S. Kang, K. S. Sandara, K. S. K. Sandara, K. Sandara, K. Sandara, K. S. K. Sandara, K. Sandara index fossils. South China. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS to thank Professor. Akihisa KITAMURA, Shizuoka University, for his valuable advices at ions during the study. The authors thank Ofunato City for permitting the field research; and I and Environmental History, Shizuoka, Japan, for permitting the SIM observation. al range of taxa from the Nakazato Formation, with correlation with upper Silurian 1 and standard spore zones of Laurussia, northwestern Gondwana and South China.

Appendix 1. Poster for the 2nd Asian Palaeontological Congress, Tokyo (2023.08.03-07).

Oldest terrestrial flora of Japan obtained from the Devonian Nakazato Formation of the South Kitakami Belt, Northeast Japan

Ahmed Maher^{1,2}, Toshifumi Komatsu³, Toshihiro Yamada⁴, Julien Legrand^{1,5}

¹Graduate School of Science and Technology, Shizuoka University, Shizuoka, Japan

² Department of Geology, Faculty of Science, Al-Azhar University, Assiut, Egypt

³ Faculty of Advanced Science and Technology, Kumamoto University, Kumamoto, Japan

⁴ Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences, Faculty of Science, Hokkaido University,

Sapporo, Japan

⁵ Department of Geosciences, Faculty of Science, Shizuoka University, Shizuoka, Japan Corresponding author email: <u>ahmed.maher.21@shizuoka.ac.jp</u> (A. Maher)

Abstract

Silurian-Devonian is a crucial period for understanding the process of terrestrialization and early diversification of embryophytes. Paleozoic fossil-bearing sediments of Japan, mainly distributed in NE, central and SW Japan, yield a rich marine fauna together with algae, however, there exists only a few studies on terrestrial flora. Oldest land plant fossils are represented by two lycopsids and an uncertain plant from the Upper Devonian Tobigamori (South Kitakami Belt, NE Japan) and Naidaijin (Kurosegawa Belt, SW Japan) formations. Macro- and microfossil reports increase in the Carboniferous and Permian deposits, particularly from the Miyagi and Iwate prefectures of NE Japan.

We conduct a wide palynological study on Japanese Paleozoic sediments, and report here a well-preserved spore assemblage recovered from the Nakazato Formation outcropping in the Hikoroichi area of the South Kitakami Belt, Iwate Prefecture, NE Japan. Samples were collected from mudstones assigned to the latest Emsian (Lower Devonian) to earliest Eifelian (Middle Devonian) from their trilobite, gastropod and brachiopod assemblage. We obtained a palynoflora composed of cryptospores, probably produced by hepatics, and spores with affinities to the rhyniophytes and zosterophyllophytes, associated with abundant plant fragments including woods, tabular remains and cuticles. The assemblage, which represents the oldest flora of Japan, is consistent with an Emsian-Eifelian age. Most elements are cosmopolitan or widely distributed, but a comparison with previously reported microfloras from adjacent areas agrees with a probable location of the South Kitakami Belt close to the South China block during the Devonian.

KEYWORDS: Devonian, microflora, Nakazato Formation, NE Japan.

B18

上部白亜系蝦夷層群函淵層 ハドロサウルス産出層の古花粉学的研究¹ 馬場美邑・ルグラン ジュリアン(静岡大・理)²・ 西村智弘(穂別博)³・池田昌之(東大・理)⁴

北海道南部むかわ町穂別に分布する蝦夷層群函淵層からハドロサ ウルス類の全身骨格化石が国内で初めて報告され, Kamuysaurus japonicus と記載された(Kobayashi et al., 2019). 共産するアン モノイド Pachydiscus (Neodesmoceras) japonicus は、基底がカン パニアン/マーストリヒチアン(CM) 境界に対比されている Nostoceras hetonaiense 帯に属することから、ボーンベッドは下部 マーストリヒチアンと推定された.しかし、古地磁気層序と U-Pb 放射年代によると、CM境界の位置は N hetonaiense 帯の上下に対 比される可能性もある.

本研究では、K japonicus の地質年代を確認することと、周辺環 境を解明するため、 函濃層から採集した泥岩及び穂別博物館から提 供されたジャケット試料の花粉分析を試みた.その結果、80種以上 の胞子・花粉化石が得られ、その中に、18種の Triprojectate 花粉 (極軸に3つの突起を持つ花粉)が含まれた. Triprojectate 花粉

B19

 Palynostratigraphy of the Permo-Carboniferous succession in two wells from the Gulf of Suez, Egypt 1
 Ahmed Maher (Shizuoka Univ.; Osaka City Univ.)² • Toshihiro Yamada (Osaka City Univ.)³ • Julien Legrand (Shizuoka Univ.)⁴

The Gulf of Suez, located at the interface between the African and Arabian plates, is considered as one of the major grabens and oil-yield areas of the world, and results from the stretching and collapsing of the crust between these two provincial landmasses. A standard biozonation is well established for the Late Paleozoic of the Arabian plate (Oman, Iraq, Pakistan, Yemen), however, only a few palynological studies exist in areas of the Gulf of Suez; as a result, paleoenvironments and difficult correlations between regions of northern Gondwana.

Here, we conducted palynological analyses on 49 boring samples of the Nubia Formation consisting of black shale and sandstone, collected from two wells (OCT-K1 and OCT.G5) in the Gulf of Suez. We identified 34 genera and 86 species of spores (lycophytes and は白亜紀後期の北半球に広く分布し、生層序に利用されている.ジ ャケット試料からは、北米・カナダの年代が確定している種 (*Parviprojectus reticulatus, Reticorpus delicatus, Triprojectus turbitus*)に加えて日本またはアジアのみで報告され ている種 (*Pseudoaquilapollenites melior, T. elegans, T. normalis*)が確認され、それらの共通レンジは、K. japonicus 産出 層準がマーストリヒチアン下部であることを示唆する.

C/M 寒冷期における北米のハドロサウルス類の北上は降水量減少 に起因したと推定されている。今回函濃層から得られた胞子・花粉 群集では、湿潤環境を好むヘゴ目、ゼンマイ目などの多様なシダ植 物の胞子が主体であり、ハドロサウルス類の生息域において北米同 様に湿潤環境であることが重要であったと考えられる。尚、胞子・ 花粉群集の組成は、河口付近または海岸環境を示し、これまでハド ロサウルス類に推定された生息域に矛盾しない。

¹Palynomorph assemblage associated with a hadrosaur from the Maastrichtian Hakobuchi Formation, Yezo Group, Hokkaido, Japan ²Miyu Baba, Julien Legrand (Shizuoka Univ.), ³Tomohiro Nishimura (Hobetsu Mus.), ⁴Masayuki Ikeda (Tokyo Univ.)

diverse monilophytes: Marrattiidae, Equisetidae, Polypodiidae), gymnosperm pollen (Cordaitales, ginkgophytes, and rare bisaccate pollen of pteridosperms and conifers), along with a few acritarchs and fungal spores. Palynomorphs represent a "mixed palynoflora" with elements of both the Gondwanan and Laurasian provinces. Assemblages of well OCT.65 are particularly rich in terrestrial palynomorphs and allow defining four palynozones, that can be correlated with biozones of Europe and Oman, and assigned to the Visean (lower Carboniferous; Phase I) to Sakmarian (lower Permian; Phase IV) in age. They revealed changes from lycopod swamp forests reflecting temperate and humid conditions through the Carboniferous, to a vegetation dominated by cordaitaleans flourishing under a warm and dry climate from the Permian.

¹エジプト・スエズ湾のボーリング調査に基づくペルム紀〜石炭紀 の花粉層序

²マヘル アフメド (静大;大阪市大)・³山田敏弘(大阪市大・院)・ ⁴ルグラン ジュリアン (静大・理)

B20

初期陸上植物の微化石群集から解明する北部ベトナム Si Ka 層の地質年代と古環境¹

Julien Legrand (静大・理)²・山田敏弘(大阪市大・院)³・小松俊 文(熊大・院・先)⁴・Mark Williams・Tom Harvey (Univ. Leicester) ⁵・Tim De Backer・Thijs R. A. Vandenbroucke (Ghent Univ.)⁶・Phong Duc Nguyen (VIGMR)⁷・Hung Dinh Doan・Hung Ba Nguyen (VNMN)[®]

後期シルル紀~前期デボン紀に起きた維管束植物の適応放散は、 地球の生態系を激変させた大事変である.ところが、南中国・イン ドシナブロックでは、この時期の非海成・浅海成堆積物の年代を正 確に把握できておらず、年代値が確実な古植物学データが極めて少 ない、そこで本研究では、この時期の堆積物を含む北部ベトナムの Song Cau 層群 Si Ka 層で植物微化石の分析を行い、その年代を推定 した.Si Ka 層は、タイグエン省からカオバン省、ハーザン省にか けて東西 100 km以上にわたって分布し、南中国の雲南省や広西省(= Lianhushan Fm)にも連続する、また、Si Ka 層からは、浅海性~汽 水性の魚類、巻貝、貝形虫や初期維管束植物が報告されている.

本研究では、ハーザン省ドンヴァン地域に分布するSi Ka層最上部 から、胞子を含む植物微化石群集を得た、この群集は18種からなり、 原始的なコケ植物の隠胞子(二集粒のDyadospora murusattenuata, Pseudodyadospora petasus, 四集粒のCheilotetras caledonica) に 加え、リニア植物(Ambitisporites avitus, Apiculiretusispora sp., Synorisporites verrucatus) 及びゾステロフィルム植物 (Retusotriletes cf. triangulatus, R. warringtonii)の三溝型 胞子、ネマトファイト植物の運導組織とクチクラを含む.

Si Ka層の植物微化石群集を、イギリスやリビアなどの模式的な花 粉層序や、南中国の群集と比較した結果、Si Ka層の最上部は上部シ ルル系(ラドローープリドリ)の堆積物であり、従来の解釈(下部 デボン系)よりも古いことがわかった.これは、ベトナムを含む東 南アジアで最古の植物微化石群集である.

-24 -

Appendix 3. Abstract for the 2021 Annual Meeting of the Palaeontological Society of Japan (2021.07.02-04).

¹ Implications of an early land plant microfossil assemblage for the age and paleoenvironment of the Si Ka Fm, northern Vietnam. ²Julien Legrand (Shizuoka Univ.), ³Toshihiro Yamada (Osaka City Univ.), ⁴Toshifumi Komatsu (Kumamoto Univ.), ⁶Mark Williams, Tom Harvey (Univ. Leicester), ⁶Tim De Backer, Thijs R. A. Vandenbroucke (Ghent University), ⁷Phong Duc Nguyen (VIGMR), ⁸Hung Dinh Doan, Hung Ba Nguyen (VNMN)

Reconstruction of Paleozoic paleovegetation of Japan based on microfossils¹

Ahmed Maher (Shizuoka Univ./Al-Azhar Univ.)² • Julien Legrand (Shizuoka Univ.)³ • Toshihiro Yamada (Hokkaido Univ.)⁴ • Toshifumi Komatsu (Kumamoto Univ.)⁵

The <u>paleovegetational</u> history of Japan during the Paleozoic era remains insufficiently understood. In this study, we conducted palynological analyses on the Silurian to Permian sediments in the Tohoku district to give some insights on the paleovegetation.

The palynoassemblage from the Silurian Kawauchi Formation includes tabular remains and sporomorph types, providing the first evidence of terrestrialization in Japan. In the Devonian Nakazato Formation, cryptospores, diverse spores, tabular remains, and fragments of vascular tissues indicate the expansion of herbaceous rhyniophytes, zosterophyllophytes, lycophytes, and trimerophytes into the hinterland of Japan. This palynoassemblage is similar to the Pragian to early Emsian palynoassemblages reported from South China in the composition and representation of palynomorphs.

The Carboniferous Hikoroichi Formation contains highly carbonized spores and various plant fragments of lycophytes and monilophytes, along with the first representatives of pteridosperms and progymnosperms. The composition of the palynoassemblage suggests a Visean age. In the Permian Kanokura Formation, the palynoassemblage obtained is predominantly composed of monilophyte spores and pteridosperm pollen, with occasional conifer pollen. This assemblage aligns with the Cathaysian microflora, as supported by previous palaeobotanical studies.

Although the obtained data is still limited, these results highlight the vegetational change from <u>paleophytic</u> to <u>mesophytic</u> ones.

1微化石からみた日本古生代の古植生

²マヘル アフメド (静大; Al-Azhar 大)・³ルグラン ジュリアン (静 大・院・理)・⁴山田敏弘(北大・理)・⁵小松俊文(熊大・院・先)

Appendix 4. Abstract for the 173th Regular Meeting of the Palaeontological Society of Japan (2024.01.26-28).

Appendix 5. Accepted manuscript for *Paleontological Research*.